
 

 
 

P L A N N I N G  S U B -
C O M M I T T E E  

Wednesday 2 February 2022 
at 6.30 pm Council Chamber, Hackney 

Town Hall 
 

The live stream can be viewed here: 
 https://youtu.be/kSP9ia-3Vek 

 
In case any technical issues arise with the main livestream please use this 

alternative link: https://youtu.be/JE9qUhOM_5w 
 

Members of the Committee: 
Councillor Brian Bell 
Councillor Ajay Chauhan 
Councillor Humaira Garasia 
Councillor Katie Hanson (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Clare Joseph 
Councillor Michael Levy 
Councillor Steve Race 
Councillor Vincent Stops (Chair) 
Councillor Sarah Young 
Substitute Planning Sub-Committee Members: 
Councillor Anna Lynch, Councillor M Can Ozsen, Councillor Benzion Papier, 
Councillor Clare Potter and two majority group vacancies  
 
Mark Carroll – Chief Executive 

Published: 25 January 2022 
 
Gareth Sykes , Governance Services 
Email: Gareth.Sykes@hackney.gov.uk 
Hackney Council website: www.hackney.gov.uk 

https://youtu.be/JE9qUhOM_5w
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/


 

Planning Sub-Committee 
Wednesday 2 February 2022 

Agenda 
 
1 Apologies for Absence   
 
2 Declarations of Interest   
 
3 To  consider any proposal/questions referred to the Sub-Committee by 

the Council's Monitoring Officer   
 
4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 9 - 18) 
 
5 2021/2491 and 2021/2495: Haggerston Baths, Whiston Road E2 8BN 

(Pages 19 - 82) 
 
6 2021/3009: 1-10 Purcell Street, Hackney, London, N1 6RD (Pages 83 - 94) 
 
7 Delegated decisions (Pages 95 - 104) 
 
8 Any other business the Chair considers urgent   
 
9 Dates of next meetings:   
 

3 March, 6 April, 27 April 
 
Addendum 



 

 
 
Public Attendance  
 
The Town Hall is not presently open to the general public, and there is limited 
capacity within the meeting rooms. However, the High Court has ruled that where 
meetings are required to be ‘open to the public’ or ‘held in public’ then members of 
the public are entitled to have access by way of physical attendance at the meeting. 
The Council will need to ensure that access by the public is in line with any Covid-19 
restrictions that may be in force from time to time and also in line with public health 
advice. 
 
Those members of the public who wish to observe a meeting are still encouraged to 
make use of the live-stream facility in the first instance. You can find the link on the 
agenda front sheet.  
 
Members of the public who would ordinarily attend a meeting to ask a question, 
make a deputation or present a petition will be able to attend if they wish. They may 
also let the relevant committee support officer know that they would like the Chair of 
the meeting to ask the question, make the deputation or present the petition on their 
behalf (in line with current Constitutional arrangements). 
 
In the case of the Planning Sub-Committee, those wishing to make representations 
at the meeting should attend in person where possible. 
 
Regardless of why a member of the public wishes to attend a meeting, they will 
need to advise the relevant committee support officer of their intention in 
advance of the meeting date. You can find contact details for the committee 
support officer on the agenda front page. This is to support track and trace. The 
committee support officer will be able to confirm whether the proposed attendance 
can be accommodated with the room capacities that exist to ensure that the meeting 
is covid-secure. 
 
As there will be a maximum capacity in each meeting room, priority will be 
given to those who are attending to participate in a meeting rather than 
observe. 
 
Members of the public who are attending a meeting for a specific purpose, rather 
than general observation, are encouraged to leave the meeting at the end of the item 
for which they are present. This is particularly important in the case of the Planning 
Sub-Committee, as it may have a number of items on the agenda involving public 
representation. 
 

Before attending the meeting 
 
The public, staff and councillors are asked to review the information below as this is 
important in minimising the risk for everyone. 
 



 

If you are experiencing covid symptoms, you should follow government guidance. 
Under no circumstances should you attend a meeting if you are experiencing covid 
symptoms. 
 
Anyone experiencing symptoms of Coronavirus is eligible to book a swab test to find 
out if they have the virus. You can register for a test after checking your symptoms 
through the NHS website.  If you do not have access to the internet, or have difficulty 
with the digital portals, you are able to call the 119 service to book a test. 
 
If you’re an essential worker and you are experiencing Coronavirus symptoms, you 
can apply for priority testing through GOV.UK by following the guidance for essential 
workers. You can also get tested through this route if you have symptoms of 
coronavirus and live with an essential worker. 
 
Availability of home testing in the case of people with symptoms is limited, so please 
use testing centres where you can.  
 
Even if you are not experiencing covid symptoms, you are requested to take an 
asymptomatic test (lateral flow test) in the 24 hours before attending the meeting.  
 
You can do so by visiting any lateral flow test centre; details of the rapid testing sites 
in Hackney can be found here. Alternatively, you can obtain home testing kits from 
pharmacies or order them here.  
 
You must not attend a lateral flow test site if you have Coronavirus symptoms; rather 
you must book a test appointment at your nearest walk-through or drive-through 
centre.  
 
Lateral flow tests take around 30 minutes to deliver a result, so please factor the time 
it will take to administer the test and then wait for the result when deciding when to 
take the test.  
 
If your lateral flow test returns a positive result then you must follow Government 
guidance; self-isolate and make arrangements for a PCR test. Under no 
circumstances should you attend the meeting.   
 

Attending the Town Hall for meetings 
 
To make our buildings Covid-safe, it is very important that you observe the rules and 
guidance on social distancing, one-way systems, hand washing, and the wearing of 
masks (unless you are exempt from doing so). You must follow all the signage and 
measures that have been put in place. They are there to keep you and others safe. 
 
To minimise risk, we ask that Councillors arrive fifteen minutes before the meeting 
starts and leave the meeting room immediately after the meeting has concluded. The 
public will be invited into the room five minutes before the meeting starts. 
 
Members of the public will be permitted to enter the building via the front entrance of 
the Town Hall no earlier than ten minutes before the meeting is scheduled to start. 
They will be required to sign in and have their temperature checked as they enter the 
building. Security will direct them to the Chamber or Committee Room as 
appropriate. 



 

 
Seats will be allocated, and people must remain in the seat that has been allocated 
to them. 
 
Refreshments will not be provided, so it is recommended that you bring a bottle of 
water with you. 
 

RIGHTS OF PRESS AND PUBLIC TO REPORT ON 
MEETINGS   
 
Where a meeting of the Council and its committees are open to the public, the press 
and  public are welcome to report on meetings of the Council and its committees, 
through any  audio, visual or written methods and may use digital and social media 
providing they do  not disturb the conduct of the meeting and providing that the 
person reporting or  providing the commentary is present at the meeting.  
 
Those wishing to film, photograph or audio record a meeting are asked to notify the  
Council’s Monitoring Officer by noon on the day of the meeting, if possible, or any 
time  prior to the start of the meeting or notify the Chair at the start of the meeting.  
 
The Monitoring Officer, or the Chair of the meeting, may designate a set area from 
which  all recording must take place at a meeting.  
 
The Council will endeavour to provide reasonable space and seating to view, hear 
and  record the meeting. If those intending to record a meeting require any other 
reasonable  facilities, notice should be given to the Monitoring Officer in advance of 
the meeting and  will only be provided if practicable to do so.  
 
The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all those present 
recording  a meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting. Anyone 
acting in a disruptive manner may be required by the Chair to cease recording or 
may be excluded  from the meeting.  
 
Disruptive behaviour may include: moving from any designated  recording area; 
causing excessive noise; intrusive lighting; interrupting the meeting; or  filming 
members of the public who have asked not to be filmed.  
 
All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on recording  
councillors, officers and the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the  
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they  
have objections to being visually recorded. Those visually recording a meeting are  
asked to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed.  
Failure by someone recording a meeting to respect the wishes of those who do not 
wish  to be filmed and photographed may result in the Chair instructing them to 
cease  recording or in their exclusion from the meeting.  
 
If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public then in order to 
consider  confidential or exempt information, all recording must cease and all 
recording equipment  must be removed from the meeting. The press and public are 
not permitted to use any  means which might enable them to see or hear the 



 

proceedings whilst they are excluded  from a meeting and confidential or exempt 
information is under consideration.  
 
Providing oral commentary during a meeting is not permitted. 
 

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS  
 
Hackney Council’s Code of Conduct applies to all Members of the Council, the 
Mayor and co-opted Members.  
  
This note is intended to provide general guidance for Members on declaring 
interests.  However, you may need to obtain specific advice on whether you have an 
interest in a  particular matter. If you need advice, you can contact:  
 
● Director of Legal and Governance Services  
● the Legal Adviser to the committee; or  
● Governance Services.  
 
If at all possible, you should try to identify any potential interest you may have before 
the  meeting so that you and the person you ask for advice can fully consider all the 
circumstances  before reaching a conclusion on what action you should take.   
 
You will have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter if it:   
 
i. relates to an interest that you have already registered in Parts A and C of the 
Register of  Pecuniary Interests of you or your spouse/civil partner, or anyone living 
with you as if they  were your spouse/civil partner;  
 
ii. relates to an interest that should be registered in Parts A and C of the Register of  
Pecuniary Interests of your spouse/civil partner, or anyone living with you as if they 
were  your spouse/civil partner, but you have not yet done so; or  
 
iii. affects your well-being or financial position or that of your spouse/civil partner, or 
anyone  living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner.   
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in an item on the  agenda you must:  
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant agenda 
item)  as soon as it becomes apparent to you (subject to the rules regarding 
sensitive interests).   
 
ii. You must leave the meeting when the item in which you have an interest is being  
discussed. You cannot stay in the meeting whilst discussion of the item takes place 
and  you cannot vote on the matter. In addition, you must not seek to improperly 
influence the  decision.  
 
iii. If you have, however, obtained dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or 
Standards  Committee you may remain in the meeting and participate in the meeting. 
If dispensation  has been granted it will stipulate the extent of your involvement, such 
as whether you can  only be present to make representations, provide evidence or 
whether you are able to  fully participate and vote on the matter in which you have a 
pecuniary interest.  



 

 
Do you have any other non-pecuniary interest on any matter on  the agenda which is 
being considered at the meeting?  
 
You will have ‘other non-pecuniary interest’ in a matter if:  
 
i. It relates to an external body that you have been appointed to as a Member or in 
another  capacity; or   
 
ii. It relates to an organisation or individual which you have actively engaged in 
supporting.  
 
If you have other non-pecuniary interest in an item on the  agenda you must:  
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant agenda 
item)  as soon as it becomes apparent to you.   
 
ii. You may remain in the meeting, participate in any discussion or vote provided that  
contractual, financial, consent, permission or licence matters are not under 
consideration  relating to the item in which you have an interest.   
 
iii. If you have an interest in a contractual, financial, consent, permission or licence 
matter  under consideration, you must leave the meeting unless you have obtained a  
dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee. You cannot stay 
in the  meeting whilst discussion of the item takes place and you cannot vote on the 
matter. In  addition, you must not seek to improperly influence the decision. Where 
members of the  public are allowed to make representations, or to give evidence or 
answer questions  about the matter you may, with the permission of the meeting, 
speak on a matter then  leave the meeting. Once you have finished making your 
representation, you must leave  the meeting whilst the matter is being discussed.   
 
iv. If you have been granted dispensation, in accordance with the Council’s 
dispensation  procedure you may remain in the meeting. If dispensation has been 
granted it will  stipulate the extent of your involvement, such as whether you can only 
be present to make  representations, provide evidence or whether you are able to 
fully participate and vote on  the matter in which you have a non pecuniary interest.   
 
Further Information  
 
Advice can be obtained from Dawn Carter-McDonald, Director for Legal & 
Governance  Services via email dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk


 

Introduction 
 
The majority of planning applications for extensions to a home, new shop fronts, 
advertisements and similar minor developments are decided by Planning Officers. 
 
The Planning Sub-Committee generally makes the decisions on larger planning 
applications that: 
 
may have a significant impact on the local community; and 
are recommended for approval by the Planning Officer. 
 
Planning Sub-Committee members use these meetings to make sure they have all 
the information they need and hear both sides before making a decision. 
 

The Planning Sub-Committee  
 
The Planning Sub-Committee is made up of Councillors from all political parties. One 
of the Councillors is the Planning Sub-Committee Chair. When making decisions the 
Planning Sub-Committee will always be: 
 
open about how they came to a decision, 
fair when making a decision, and 
impartial by not favouring one side over another. 
 
All Planning Sub-Committee members will keep an open mind regarding planning 
applications. The meetings are necessarily formal because the Chair and members 
want to listen to everyone and have the chance to ask questions so that they can 
fully understand the issues. 
 
Those speaking, either for or against a planning application, are generally given five 
minutes to explain their concerns/why they believe the application has merit. If there 
is more than one person for or against a planning application the five minutes is to 
be divided between all the persons wishing to speak or a spokesperson is to be 
nominated to speak on behalf of those persons. The Chair will help groups speaking 
on the same item to coordinate their presentations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

How the Meeting Works  
 
The Planning Sub-Committee will normally consider agenda items in turn. If there 
are a lot of people for an item the Chair might change the order of the agenda items 
to consider an item earlier. 
 
At the beginning of each meeting the Chair will explain how the meeting works and 
what can and cannot be taken into account by Planning Sub-committee members 
when making decisions. The procedure followed at each meeting is set out below: 
 

 The Chair welcomes attendees to the meeting and explains the procedure the 
meeting will follow, 

 

 Apologies received, 
 

 Members declare any interests in an item on the agenda, 
 

 Minutes of previous Planning Sub-committees are considered/approved, 
 

 The Planning Sub-committee will consider any proposal/questions referred to 
the Sub-committee by the Council’s monitoring officer, 

 

 The Chair asks the Planning Officer to introduce their report/recommendation 
to the Planning Sub-Committee.  The Planning Officer will also inform 
Planning Sub-committee members of any relevant additional information 
received after the report was published, 

 

 Registered objectors are given the opportunity to speak for up to five minutes, 
 

 Registered supporters and the applicant are given the opportunity to speak for 
up to five minutes, 

 

 Councillors who have registered to speak to object or in support are given the 
opportunity to speak for up to five minutes.  The registered objectors or 
supporters, as the case may be, will be given the opportunity to speak for a 
further five minutes in such circumstances to ensure equal time is given to all 
parties, 

 

 Where the applicant is a Councillor they must leave the meeting after the 
Planning Sub-committee members have asked them any questions of 
clarification/discussions regarding an agenda item have been completed so 
that members can consider and vote on the recommendation relating to the 
Councillor’s planning application. 

 

 Planning Sub-committee members can ask questions of objectors and 

 supporters or their agents and ask Council officers for further clarification 

 before considering a Planning Officer’s recommendation, 
 



 

Where Planning Sub-committee members have concerns regarding a planning 
application that cannot be addressed to their satisfaction when considering the 
application, the members can resolve to defer determining the planning application 
until such time as their concerns can be addressed, 
 
The recommendation, including any supplementary planning conditions/obligations 
or recommendations proposed during the consideration of an item by the Planning 
Sub-Committee members, is put to a vote.  Where an equal number of votes is cast 
for and against a recommendation, the Chair has a casting vote. 
 

Decisions  
 
Decisions of the Planning Sub-Committee relating to planning applications shall be 
based on: 
 

 National planning policies set out by Government, 

 Regional strategy, the London Plan, set out by the Greater London Authority, 

 Development plan documents, such as the Core Strategy, Development 
Management Local Plan etc., and 

 Other ‘material planning considerations’ such as the planning history of a site. 
 
Non-planning considerations are not relevant to the Planning Sub-committee’s 
decision making and should be disregarded by the Sub-Committee. 
 

Speaking at the Meeting  
 
If you have submitted a written representation to the Council in respect of a planning 
application you, your nominated agent or any local Councillor can register to speak 
at the meeting at which the application is considered by the Planning Sub-
Committee. 
 
Any person registering to speak should contact governance@hackney.gov.uk by 
4.00pm on the working day before the meeting. 
 
Speakers can seek to introduce a maximum of two photographs or other illustrative 
material that depicts a fair impression of the relevant site at the meeting if this will aid 
them in making their representations. However, such material will only be allowed if it 
has been submitted to governance@hackney.gov.uk  by 4.00 pm on the working 
day before the meeting and its inclusion is agreed to by all parties attending the 
meeting on this particular matter. In all cases, the Chair of the Sub-Committee will 
retain their discretion to refuse the use of such illustrative material. 



DRAFT MINUTES OF THE PLANNING SUB- COMMITTEE
HELD ON

WEDNESDAY, 28 July  2021

THIS MEETING WAS LIVE STREAMED AND CAN BE VIEWED HERE:
https://youtu.be/8GPBaSKfz2I

Chair: Councillor Vincent Stops  in the Chair

Councillors in Attendance: Councillor Brian Bell, Councillor Ajay Chauhan,
Councillor Humaira Garasia, Councillor Clare
Joseph, Councillor Steve Race  and Councillor
Sarah Young

Apologies: Councillor Katie Hanson (vice-chair) and
Councillor Michael Levy

Officers in Attendance: Nick Bovaird, Senior Planner, Major Projects
Robert Brew, Major Applications Manager
Natalie Broughton, Head of Planning and Building
Control
Graham Callam, Growth Manager
Barry Coughlan, Deputy Team Leader - Major
Projects
Joe Croft, Senior Transport Planner
Adam Dyer, Conservation and Design Officer
Steve Fraser-Lim, Planner, Major Applications
Growth Team
Luciana Graves, Conservation, Urban Design and
Sustainability Officer
Mario Kahraman, ICT Support
Leif Mortensen, Landscape and Tree Officer
Andrew Spragg, Governance Services Team Leader
Gareth Sykes, Governance Service Officer
John Tsang, DM & E Manager
Sam Woodhead, Planning Lawyer

1Page 11

Agenda Item 4

https://youtu.be/8GPBaSKfz2I


1 Apologies for Absence

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Katie Hanson
Michael Levy.

2 Declarations of Interest - Members to declare as appropriate

2.1 Councillors Race declared an interest in relation to the planning application
under discussion at agenda item 7; Councillor Race sat on the Shoreditch
Park Development Board. He would therefore recuse himself from the
meeting when this application was discussed.

3. Proposals/questions referred to the Sub-Committee by the Council's
Monitoring Officer

3.1 There were no proposals/questions referred by the Council’s Monitoring
Officer to the Sub-Committee.

4.      Minutes of the Previous Meetings held on 2 June 2021

4.1 There were no minutes for consideration at the meeting.

5 Former Hackney Police Station, 2 Lower Clapton Road and 32 St
John's Church Road and adjacent land within St Johns Churchyard
London E5 0PD

5.1 PROPOSAL: Variation of condition 30 (pupil number restriction) attached to
planning permission 2019/4559 in order to allow the school to be occupied
at full capacity (630 pupils).

POST SUBMISSION REVISIONS: Non-applicable (N/A)

5.2 The Planning Services’s Deputy Team Leader - Major Projects introduced
the planning application, as set out in the published meeting papers. During
the course of their presentation reference was made to the published
addendum and number of additions and amendments to the application
under discussion. These additions and amendments included two
additional objections having been received, the text of paragraph 6.4.9 of
being amended and recommendation A would be amended and conditions
attached to planning permission 2019/4559 were to be added to the Section
73 application for clarity and completeness.

2Page 12



There were no persons registered to speak in objection to the application.

5.3 The Planning Sub-Committee heard from a transport consultant and the
principal for the school speaking in support of the application. They spoke
about the challenge of running the school across three sites and that the
school’s travel plan would not have a detrimental effect on the surrounding
travel networks. It was stated that the number of car journeys by parents
would be reduced if the application was approved. With the pupils all
located at one site the need for parents to travel to multiple sites would be
removed and the need to travel to multiple sites by car. There would also no
longer be a need for the use of school buses currently used between the
three sites. The mitigation measures in place would help to alleviate the
impact of the school on the neighbouring area. The principal for the school
reiterated the benefits of all the pupils being located at one school site
including pupils no longer losing time travelling to multiple sites, lessons
taking place in cramped and inadequate spaces and key school leadership
being spread thinly across multiple sites. Since operating from the single
site the school had been a good neighbour towards the local residents. The
school principal concluded that the school’s progress would be seriously
hindered if it was to continue to operate over multiple sites.

5.4 During the discussion phase of the meeting a number of points were raised
including the following:

● The transport statement, submitted with the published
application report, detailed the pupil postcode plots for pupils
at both the application site and the temporary sites. Most
pupils lived within 2 kilometres of the proposed site. With the
expected pupils in September they were living closer to the
proposed site within a 1 kilometre radius. For those pupils
outside the 2km area the transport statement demonstrated
that there were adequate bus routes to connect those pupils
to the school. The applicants’ survey had shown that where
pupils lived was not a major factor in the choice of their travel
either

● Hackney Council’s Senior Transport Planner explained that in
terms of travel planning over the last year, the council had
undertaken various site visits and a number of complaints had
been received by local residents to flag up with officers a level
of concern. The transport officer concurred with the transport
statement but there remained concerns about the reliability of
the projections made in the statement and this was why the
council, in talks with the applicant, had concluded that
contributions had been needed to mitigate against the
continued private high car use in the area. A representative
from the School Streets programme had also confirmed with
the council’s transport team that private car use was the
highest they had seen in the borough (36% for the application

3Page 13



site). The officer did commend the applicant for the work that
they had done over the year leading to a reduction in the
catchment area to 1- 2 kilometres which could lead to greater
use of sustainable transport modes. Currently there was not
definitive proof that there was going to be a reduction car
dependency and because of this the council had moved to
getting robust measures in place to expand the School
Streets programme bolstered with travel plan monitoring
process

● The officer acknowledged that with programmes like School
Streets there would be some level of displacement, this was
why the council was looking to research and determine which
streets were most appropriate to expand the School Streets
zone on to. Similar measures, introduced in the past, had
shown that over time there would be some evaporation of car
use rather than displacement

● Regarding condition 8.2.1, currently St Johns Church Road
was an operational School Streets zone but it did not have a
tangible method of enforcement. The idea was to install an
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) camera as soon
as possible, ideally in September 2021.

● The expansion of the school streets programme to other
areas, such as Clapton Square and Sutton Place, would be
subject to traffic surveys and research. The Council would
begin this work as soon as possible in the coming academic
year

● The School Streets programme was so integral to the
council’s policies that they would seek to consult on them
taking into account objections from the local residents but it
was understood that School Streets was very much
supported. If the programme was not to be expanded to
Clapton Street for example, instead it would be extended to a
street with heavy traffic

● The existing Management Plan and Travel Plan required
marshals to be on the streets to enforce the measures
included in the Travel Plan. It would be technically possible to
extend those measures if the applicant agreed to those
measures

● The school would have staggered times for the pupils entering
the building - 630 children would not enter the site all at all at
the same time. There would also be four staggered exit times

● The Chair of the committee would write to Hackney Council’s
Cabinet Member for highways to act on the School Streets
programme.

Vote:

4Page 14



For: Councillors Stops, Bell, Chauhan, Garasia, Joseph, Race and
Young

Against: None
Abstention:    None

RESOLVED, that planning permission was GRANTED subject to
conditions and completion of a Legal Agreement.

6 Former St Michael and All Angels Church, Mark Street, London,
EC2A 4QX

6.1 PROPOSAL:
Erection of five storey (plus basement) building (Use Class E(g)) on land to
north of the former church; works to former church including removal of
existing internal structures and erection of new partial mezzanine floor and
new entrances.

POST SUBMISSION REVISIONS:
● More single tier cycle parking provided;
● Improved quality of Affordable Workspace.

6.2 The planning service’s Senior Planner, Major Projects introduced the
published application report. During the course of the officer’s presentation
reference was made to the addendum and a number of amendments to the
report including the following:

● Paragraphs 4.7.2 and 6.5.9 would also be amended
● A new condition was to be inserted - 8.1.28 Waste Management for

Former Church
● An additional condition has been agreed - Public Access to the

Former Church Building
● Paragraph 6.3.18 to be amended
● Correction of typographical error at  Paragraph 6.5.4
● Conditions were amended to reflect phasing of the development -

8.1.16 - Cycle Parking, 8.1.24 Bird and Bat Bricks, 8.3.5 Details to
be approved and 8.3.7 Structural Survey.

There were no persons registered to speak in objection to the application.

6.3 The representatives for the applicant did not formally speak at the meeting
but would answer any questions put to them by the Planning
Sub-Committee members.

6.4 During the discussion phase of the meeting a number of points were raised
about the application including the following:

● There were a number of conditions attributed to listed building
consent including removing everything that was inside the

5Page 15



premises, assessing what was there and repairing what was
necessary. The first phase of the development would be high
to medium risk. At the next stage there would be further
details provided on where the contents of the interior would go
and it was acknowledged that there was a lot inside that could
not be seen because of all the partition walls

● The site was in a priority office area and the planning service
had identified in the Local Plan the need for office space. With
the proposals the question was also raised about what the
Church site could best be used for bearing in mind that it was
a grade 1 listed building. The proposals would provide high
quality office space and would bring a vacant building back
into use

● The conservation work that was to be undertaken as part of
the proposals would feed into the public benefit of the site

● Any grade 1 listed building being vacant was of a concern to
the planning service. Having an occupier of that building
would ensure its long term maintenance. The proposals would
allow the building to function

● The public would be able to access the building four times a
year

● The harmful interventions to the site included the mezzanine
and the demolition of the late-victorian lean to building. These
would not impact on the grade 1 listed status of the building.

● The mezzanine would be introduced with pits and fins to
distribute its weight evenly

● It was highlighted that the glazed area and the lift would also
cause some harm to the structure. The former would be able
to open the church and also add showers and toilets. The lift
meanwhile would be fully conditioned to ensure it fitted into
the building and allow the mezzanine to function for the
occupants. The lift was a platform lift sitting as a standalone
structure and would be braced by the mezzanine above. The
lift was inside the building and would be for disabled use only

● A small amount of structural work had taken place to
determine whether or not the spirelet could be reinstated but
further works needed to be done. Some ground work had
been undertaken to see if it was quantifiable for to be
examined at a later stage. The applicant concurred that some
work had been done but further investigation was required.
The details of that work had been submitted but it was not
part of the application before the sub-committee

● The phasing of the development was the applicant’s
prerogative. The viability work that the planning service had
undertaken had determined that the church phase of the work
was entirely viable on its own

6Page 16



● Addressing Hackney Society’s criticisms about the height of
the proposals, the planning service had looked at buildings in
the Shoreditch area and a lot of Victorian warehouses with a
strong vertical emphasis. The proposals were largely a
modern reinterpretation of the same details but in a modern
way

● Anyone who was in the building would want to look after it and
the building was quite robust. A lot would depend on how the
building was used by the occupants and the council had done
what it could in terms of the planning process

● Any future proposed increase in office space on site would
require a separate new planning application

● The Chair of the committee reminded sub-committee
members that they had to taken the application before them at
face value and compare them to the council’s policy

● Regarding paragraph 6.6.2 in the report and the impact on
daylight and sunlight at 75 Leonard Street, it was
acknowledged there was an issue but there was not many
residential properties in the immediate area, therefore the
planning service considered the loss of light to be acceptable

● The location of the site was in an office priority area and
therefore retail was not considered an option. Policies did not
encourage active frontage but office space

● The management plan would contain details of how the public
would access the site but arrangements would ultimately be
determined by the occupant. An informative would was
agreed to that effect

● The mezzanine had been included to encourage office use
and also enhance the views inside the church

● The planning service could make the proposals step free. A
ramp would be included as part of the next stage

● Cycle parking would be placed on the carriageway
● The affordable work space element would be approximately

51% above ground level and approximately 49% at basement
level in the new building

Vote
For: Councillors Stops, Bell, Chauhan, Young and Race
Against: Councillor Joseph
Absentation:   None

Councillor Humara Garasia left the meeting before the vote took place and
therefore was unable to participate in the vote for item 6.

RESOLVED, that planning permission was GRANTED subject to conditions
and completion of a Legal Agreement.

7Page 17



Councillors Humara Garasia and Steve Race left the meeting at the conclusion of
agenda item 6.

7 Shoreditch Park, Bridport Place, Hackney, London, N1 5DX

7.1 PROPOSAL:
Works of enhancement and improvement to Shoreditch Park including new
sports facilities, ball courts, children's play area, ecological improvements
and hard/soft landscaping; Demolition of existing play hut building and
construction of new play hut building to the west of the existing hut. New
play hut building to include office, welfare facilities, cycle storage and
multi-faith facilities.

POST SUBMISSION REVISIONS:
No revisions have been submitted.

7.2 The Planning Service’s Planner, Major Applications Growth Team introduced the
report as published in the meeting papers. During the course of their presentation
reference was made to the published addendum and a number of amendments to
the application report including the 8.1.11 Landscaping condition being reworded
and a proposed new condition 8.1.13 Painting of adventure playground building.

There were no persons registered to speak in objection to the application.

The representatives for the applicant decided not to give a formal presentation but
were available to answer any questions from the sub-committee.

7.4 During the discussion phase of the meeting a number of points were raised
about the application including the following:

● Toilets were available to Britannia Leisure centre and sand
play would also be available to children

● Lots of timber would be used in the park which did not
overheat in the summer. The timber would be off the ground

● The park would be open to the public at all times but there
would be some arrangements with local schools for the use of
the adventure playground

● There were no plans to lease the Multi Use Games Area
(MUGA) it would be open to the public

● The adventure play hut would be a universal and flexible play
setting and would be managed by Young Hackney, a council
service for all young people aged 6-19 and up to 25 with
additional needs. Currently 500 young people were registered
to use the playground and several of the features on site were
a result of feedback from young people in the borough

● The Chair of the committee suggested that the planning
service consider using plane trees on site

8Page 18



● The application was seeking to create a central meeting point
with seated areas, planting (shrubs and trees) and logging

Vote
For: Councillors Stops, Bell, Chauhan, Joseph and Young
Against: None
Abstention: None

RESOLVED, that conditional planning permission was GRANTED.

8. Delegated Decisions

8.1 The Planning Sub-Committee noted the document.

RESOLVED, the Planning Sub-Committee noted the delegated decisions
document.

Duration of the meeting: 18:30 - 21:00 hours

Chairperson for the meeting: Councillor Vincent Stops

Contact:
Gareth Sykes, Governance Services Officer
gareth.sykes@hackney.gov.uk

9Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

ADDRESS: Haggerston Baths, Whiston Road, London, E2 8BN

WARD: Haggerston REPORT AUTHOR:
Nick Bovaird

APPLICATION NUMBERS: 2021/2491 and 2021/2495
(Listed Building Consent)

DRAWING NUMBERS:
18099-SQP-XX-B1-DR-A-00001, 00-DR-A-00002,
M0-DR-A-00003, 01-DR-A-00004, 02-DR-A-00005,
RF-DR-A-00006, ZZ-DR-A-00007, ZZ-DR-A-00008,
ZZ-DR-A-00009, ZZ-DR-A-00010, ZZ-DR-A-00011,
ZZ-DR-A-00012, ZZ-DR-A-00013,

18099-SQP-XX-00-DR-A-PL001, 00-DR-A-PL002 Rev
B, B1-DR-A-PL003 Rev A, 00-DR-A-PL004 Rev A,
01-DR-A-PL005 Rev A, 02-DR-A-PL006 Rev A,
03-DR-A-PL007, 04-DR-A-PL008 Rev A,
05-DR-A-PL009 Rev A, RF-DR-A-PL010 Rev A,
ZZ-DR-A-PL011, ZZ-DR-A-PL012, ZZ-DR-A-PL013,
ZZ-DR-A-PL014, ZZ-DR-A-PL015 Rev A,
ZZ-DR-A-PL016 Rev B, ZZ-DR-A-PL017,
ZZ-DR-A-PL018, ZZ-DR-A-PL019 Rev A,
ZZ-DR-A-PL020 Rev C, ZZ-DR-A-PL021,
ZZ-DR-A-PL022, ZZ-DR-A-PL023,

Demolition drawings: 18099-SQP-XX-B1-DR-A-01001
Rev A, 00-DR-A-01002 Rev B,
M0-DR-A-01003,01-DR-A-01004, 02-DR-A-01005,
RF-DR-A-01006, ZZ-DR-A-01007, ZZ-DR-A-01008,
ZZ-DR-A-01009, ZZ-DR-A-01010, ZZ-DR-A-01011 Rev
B, ZZ-DR-A-01012 Rev B, ZZ-DR-A-01013,

Schedule of works drawings:
18099-SQP-XX-B1-DR-A-20001 Rev A, 00-DR-A-20002
Rev A, 01-DR-A-20003 Rev A, 02-DR-A-20004 Rev B,
03-DR-A-20005 Rev B, 04-DR-A-20006 Rev B,
05-DR-A-20007 Rev B, RF-DR-A-20008 Rev B,
ZZ-DR-A-20009 Rev A, ZZ-DR-A-20010 Rev A,
ZZ-DR-A-20011 Rev A, ZZ-DR-A-20012 Rev A,

Planning Statement September 2021, Design and
Access Statement Rev A dated June 2021, Historic
Building Report August 2021 by Donald Insall
Associates, Daylight Sunlight Report 07/01/2022,

VALID DATE: 12-10-2021

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Transport Statement July 2021, Framework Travel Plan
July 2021, Draft Delivery & Servicing Plan July 2021,
Energy Statement Rev D December 2019, BREEAM
Pre-Assessment Rev B, Noise Impact Assessment
VA2496.210728.NIA2.1 dated28 July 2021,
Archaeological Desk-based Assessment Rev 5
13/08/2021, Air Quality Assessment 22144-AQA-20-204
REV B July 2021, Urban Greening Factor
18099-SQP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-PL027 Rev A, Urban Greening
Factor 21st September 2021 by Squire and Partners,
Pool Hall Roof Light, Statement of Community
Involvement July 2021, BREEAM Pre-Assessment Rev
B, Condition Survey January 2019 by Donald Insall
Associates, Flood Risk Assessment & SuDS Strategy
Report by Heyne Tillett Steel.

Additional post submission:
Flood Risk Assessment for BREEAM Assessment from
Create Consulting Engineers, Draft Operational
Management Plan August 2021, Fire Statement Policy
D12 dated 9th December 2021 by Squire and Partners,
Design and Access Statement Addendum January 2022,
Outline Discounted Workspace Strategy January 2022
DP9 Ltd.Castleforge Amended Development Appraisals
and Explanatory Note dated 11 January 2022

APPLICANT:
Haggerston Baths Ltd, C/O Agent.

AGENT:
DP9, 100 Pall Mall, London,
SW1Y 5NQ

PROPOSAL:
Part demolition of the western extension and erection of part three, five and six storey
(plus basement and lightwell) extension; demolition of external stair and two-storey
side/rear element on eastern elevation and erection of two storey (plus basement)
extension and external alterations and refurbishment to provide office floorspace (Use
Class E(g)), flexible events space in the former pool hall (Sui Generis), standalone
community hall (Use Class F2(b)), gym (Use Class E(d)) and retail (Use Class E(a)).

POST SUBMISSION REVISIONS:
● Finalisation of viability information;
● Submission of draft Operational Management Plan, draft Fire Strategy, Flood

Risk Assessment, amended BREEAM pre-assessment, amended Daylight and
Sunlight Report, a new East/West Section drawing and Design and Access
Statement Addendum.

A fourteen day reconsultation has taken place with neighbours subsequent to the receipt
of these revisions.

Page 22



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

RECOMMENDATION SUMMARY:

Grant planning permission subject to conditions and completion of a legal agreement in
relation to S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE:

Major application Yes

Substantial level of objections received Yes

Other (in accordance with the Planning Sub-Committee Terms of Reference)

ANALYSIS INFORMATION
ZONING DESIGNATION:                        (Yes) (No)
CPZ Yes (Hoxton)
Conservation Area No

(Adjacent to Regents
Canal CA. Within setting
of Hackney Road CA)

Listed Building (Statutory) Yes (Grade II) No

Listed Building (Local) No
Priority Employment Area No

PARKING DETAILS: Parking Spaces
(General)

Parking Spaces
(Disabled)

Bicycle storage

Existing 0 0 0
Proposed 0 0 86 Long Stay

36 Visitor

LAND USE DETAILS: Use Class Use Description Floorspace
Sqm

Existing F2(d) Swimming Pool 4437
Proposed Sui Generis

E(g)
F2(b)
E(d)
E(a)

Flexible Community
Office
Community Hall
Gym
Cafe

1031
5500
96
267
44

Page 23



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

CASE OFFICER’S REPORT

1. SITE CONTEXT

1.1 The application site is bounded to the north by Laburnum Road and to the south by Whiston
Road, and lies to the west of the junction with Queensbridge Road. The site is occupied by
the statutory listed Haggerston Baths (Grade II) which has lain vacant since 2000. The site
is located within the City Fringe Opportunity Area (OA) as identified by the London Plan.

1.2 The surrounding area is characterised by low to mid rise buildings particularly to the north
and south of the site with maximum heights of five storeys. There are limited numbers of
taller buildings, to the east along Whiston Road and west along Queensbridge, with heights
of around ten storeys.

1.3 The application site has a PTAL (Public Transport Accessibility Level) of 5, in a range of 1
(low) and 6 (high). Frequent bus transit to other parts of the borough, as well as the City, the
South Bank and the West End operate from Kingsland Road to the west and Queensbridge
Road to the east. The application site is equidistant from Haggerston and Hoxton stations
on the London Overground (approximately 500 metres).

2 CONSERVATION IMPLICATIONS

2.1      The application site is statutorily listed at Grade II. No other statutorily listed or locally listed
buildings are affected by the application.

2.2      The site is adjacent to the Regent’s Canal Conservation Area to the north and is within the
setting of the Hackney Road Conservation area, located across Queensbridge Road to the
east.

2.3      The site is within an Area of Archaeological Priority.

3 HISTORY

3.1       There is no relevant planning or enforcement history.

4 CONSULTATIONS

4.1 Date Statutory Consultation Period started: 15/11/2021. A 14 day reconsultation began on
11/01/2022.

4.2       Date Statutory Consultation Period ended: 08/12/2021. The 14 day reconsultation period
ends on 25/01/2022.

4.3       Site Notice: Yes (full planning and LBC). The 14 day reconsultation involved neighbour
letters only.

4.4       Press Advert: Yes (full planning and LBC).

Page 24



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

4.5       Neighbours

4.5.1 Letters were sent to 200 neighbouring occupiers for the full planning application. In total 33
letters of objection have been received to date (21st January 2022). Since the latest
re-consultation, no letters of objection have been received.

4.5.2 Responses to these objections are addressed in the assessment section of the report.
The objections were on the following grounds:

● The daylight/sunlight report does not consider the private gardens to the front of
Swimmers Lane residential properties;

● Swimmers Lane residential properties facing the development (Basin Mill
apartments and London Mill apartments) are single aspect;

● Impact on character of listed building;
● Impact of light pollution from proposed offices;
● Little benefit to the local community. There are already 3 community facilities in the

neighbouring streets who provide such space for hire for classes and events (151
Centre, Kingsland Road and Thurtle Road);

● Any terraces provided for the offices should be used only at defined times;
● Main hall would be used for private functions;
● Impact on local traffic and parking;
● Castleforge’s community involvement process involved leading questions and a

non-functioning website;
● New Swimmers Lane office entrance is too close to existing housing;
● Swimmers Lane will become a default smoking area for office workers;
● Swimmers Lane is currently used as a community space;
● The estimated noise levels are so unrealistically low. For example 40 decibels is the

noise level considered to be the equivalent of ‘a quiet library' and yet the noise
report’s highest estimated level is 36 decibels on Swimmers Lane where the main
entrance will be;

● The plans remove the existing 2 cycle spaces on Swimmers Lane and replace them
with 28 only adding an additional 8 cycle parking spaces for public users of the
building, office visitors and short stay parking for the offices.

● Instead of bike racks on Swimmers Lane, the Council should widen Whiston Road
and put the bike racks there;

● Deliveries to Swimmers Lane will cause pedestrian conflicts and noise to adjacent
residents;

● Impact of the construction phase on local residents;
● This is not a suitable area for office development;
● There is no need for office development following the Covid outbreak and no need

for  office development in this location;
● Impact on local air quality;
● Danger to local residents from asbestos in the demolition process;

Page 25



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

● The submitted plan is higher than was shown in the original public consultation,
prior to the first planning application;

● Large vehicles cannot exit onto Kingsland Road due to the train bridge. These large
vehicles will be required to do a 3-point turn outside the school and Basin Mill
Apartments. The tracking plan has not included this;

● The proposal does not meet BREEAM Excellent standard and therefore does not
comply with Hackney Policy DM38.

● No disabled parking is proposed;
● The energy statement says there is going to be solar / pv panels on the existing

roof, but these are not shown on the drawings;
● The details of the application, such as replacement doors should be established;
● The swimming pool should remain a swimming pool. A sauna and steam room

should be added;
● Noise from external plant should be kept to a minimum;
● There should be a curfew on all noise from people outside the building at 7pm on

weekdays and 10pm on the weekend.

4.6      Statutory Consultees

4.6.1 Thames Water:
No objection. The proposed development is located within 15 metres of underground
Thames Water infrastructure. Standard conditions should be recommended in respect of
foul water and surface water drainage and standard informatives should also be added.
Officer’s Note: The proposed conditions and informatives have been recommended below.

4.6.2 Historic England:
No objection. We commented on the previous submission of these proposals in April 2020
(application references 2020/0357 and 0379) and note that the proposals have been
revised since that original submission in order to address most of the comments made in
our letter.

In summary, we welcome the repurposing and reuse of this building, which is on our
Heritage At Risk Register for London.

4.6.3 Historic England GLAAS:
No objection. The planning application lies in an area of archaeological interest. The
proposals include a significant basement extension in the north west. Remains of the early
settlement of Haggerston and remains contemporary with the projected line of the Roman
road nearby may be affected by the scheme. A condition is therefore recommended to
require a stage 1 written scheme of investigation (WSI), along with an informative on the
same basis.
Officer’s Note: The proposed condition and informative have been recommended below.

4.6.5 Natural England:
No comment.

4.6.6 Health and Safety Executive:

Page 26



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

No objection.

4.7 Local Groups/Consultees

4.7.1 Metropolitan Police (Secured by Design Officer):
No objection in principle, subject to a standard condition and informative, requiring secure
by design accreditation.
Officer’s Note: The proposed condition and informative have been recommended below.

4.7.2 The Hackney Society:
Objection. The design of the application has not evolved sufficiently since it was first
submitted, prior to the cyber attack. We have concerns over the massive roof element and
the presence of that new element on Laburnum Street in particular. The tall proportions of
the windows appear to counter the attempt to be recessive. It is disappointing that further
work hasn't been done to demonstrate this is the optimal massing given the significant
concerns expressed over the dominance of the roof elements.

The proportions of the new elevations are curious and the ratio of window to wall might be
considered refreshing but only if the applicant gets the choice of brick right, and we don't
think they have. The highly varied/textured brick is similar to every other new residential
development in the area and fights with the existing building. A muted brick might ensure
the addition sits apart and is very much second in command; as it needs to be understated
and modest. But in any event this needs to be demonstrated through the exploration of
design options.

In any event the proportions lead to uncomfortable indoor spaces - for instance the cill
levels internally seem too high. We had hoped to see further exploration of the options in
this regard as the result seems sub-optimal.

Although the main hall is designated as being available for a variety of uses its flexibility is
limited by the serviceability and accessibility of the space through the narrow heritage
frontage.

4.7.3 Viability (Council Appointed Viability Consultants):
Having reviewed the applicants’ submission (and following clarifications, additional
submissions and discussions with the applicant), we agree with the main findings of the
report, that the scheme is marginal in relation to viability and that the removal of a storey to
the western extension would leave the scheme unviable in its current form. Where
differences in the costs and revenues of the scheme have been identified between
ourselves and the applicants’ viability consultants, these are not significant in their effect on
the overall scheme viability.

4.7.4 Hackney Swifts Society:
No objection. We request appropriate measures for biodiversity including swift nesting
boxes, in accordance with the recommendations of an ecologist.

Page 27



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

4.8 Council Departments

4.8.1 Transportation: No objection. A CPZ exclusion to restrict parking permits being issued is
recommended for all users of the proposed site (except those with a blue badge). This
should be done in the shape of a condition, secured via a legal agreement. 2 Blue Badge
parking bays must be provided as part of the application and a Parking Design and
Management Plan should be submitted prior to occupation and approved by the Council
indicating how the car parking will be designed and managed, with reference to Transport
for London guidance on parking management and parking design. A policy compliant cycle
parking plan is required which shows details of layout, foundation, stand type and spacing.
A full Travel Plan will be required to be produced and implemented on occupation of the
development. Conditions are also required in relation to a Construction Management and
Logistics Plan and a Delivery/Servicing Plan.

4.8.2 Streetscene: The proposal is to reconstruct the footway on Laburnum Street, between
Swimmers Lane and Queensbridge Road, using concrete paving slabs and new concrete
kerbs. The vehicle crossover in front of the garages will be reconstructed using block
paving. Four trees will be planted on the footway near the development. The estimated cost
of the s278 agreement for these works is £46,681.59.

4.8.3 Pollution Noise:
No objection, subject to a number of conditions in respect of noise breakout from the event
use, plant noise, hours of use and an operational management plan in respect of the event
use.

4.8.4 Pollution Land:
Associated with a site of potential concern. Three conditions should be added, in respect of
land contamination.

4.8.5 Pollution Air:
No objection, the Air Quality assessment is satisfactory.

4.8.6 Waste:
No objection. The direct access to the bin store from Laburnum Street is accepted, along
with waste and recycling being collected daily (or up to daily).

4.8.7 Drainage:
Following clarifications by the applicant, we have no objection, subject to conditions in
respect of 1) flood resilience and prevention and 2) Sustainable Urban Drainage measures.

Page 28



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

5.0 POLICIES

5.1 Hackney Local Plan 2033 (2020)

PP1 Public Realm
LP1 Design Quality and Local Character
LP2 Development and Amenity
LP3 Designated Heritage Assets
LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets
LP6 Archaeology
LP7 Advertisements
LP8 Social and Community Infrastructure
LP9 Health and Wellbeing
LP10 Arts, culture and Entertainment Facilities
LP11 Utilities and Digital Connectivity Infrastructure
LP26 New Employment Floorspace
LP27 Protecting and Promoting Office Floorspace in the Borough
LP29 Affordable Workspace and Low Cost Employment Floorspace
LP31 Local Jobs, Skills and Training
LP38 Evening and Night Time Economy
LP41 Liveable Neighbourhoods
LP42 Walking and Cycling
LP43 Transport and Development
LP44 Public Transport and Infrastructure
LP45 Parking and Car Free Development
LP47 Biodiversity and Sites of Importance of Nature Conservation
LP48 New Open Space
LP51 Tree Management and Landscaping
LP53 Water and Flooding
LP54 Overheating
LP55 Mitigating Climate Change
LP57 Waste
LP58 Improving the Environment - Pollution

5.2 London Plan (2021)

GG1 Building strong and inclusive communities
D1 London’s form, character and capacity for growth
D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities
D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
D4 Delivering good design
D5 Inclusive design
D8 Public realm
D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency
D12 Fire safety
D14 Noise
S1 Developing London’s social infrastructure
E1 Offices
E2 Providing suitable business space

Page 29



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

E3 Affordable Workspace
E11 Skills and opportunities for all
HC1 Heritage conservation and growth
HC5 Supporting London’s culture and creative industries
HC6 Supporting the night-time economy
G5 Urban greening
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
G7 Trees and woodlands
SI 1 Improving air quality
SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
SI 4 Managing heat risk
SI 6 Digital connectivity infrastructure
SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy
SI 12 Flood risk management
SI 13 Sustainable drainage
T1 Strategic approach to transport
T2 Healthy Streets
T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts
T5 Cycling
T6 Car parking
T6.2 Office Parking
T6.5 Non-residential disabled persons parking
T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction
DF1 Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations
M1 Monitoring

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents (SPG):

City Fringe Opportunity Area Planning Framework (2015)
Regents Canal Conservation Area Appraisal
Hackney Road Conservation Area Appraisal
Kingsland Conservation Area Appraisal
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2014)
Hackney Planning Contributions SPD (2020)

5.4 National Planning Policies

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance (PPG)
National Technical Housing Standards

5.5 Legislation

Sections 66 and 72 of 1990 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990

Page 30



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.0 COMMENT

6.1 Background

6.1.1 The application follows a consultation process to find a new use for a disused Grade II
listed building that was last used in 2000, as a swimming baths, which ended with
Castleforge selected as the preferred bidder in 2017. The building is included in the Historic
England Heritage at Risk Register 2021 and has been on the register since at least 2014.

6.1.2 The application seeks to demolish part of the later western extension to the building and
parts of the basement. The western wing of the building would be extended upwards to a
six storey height of which the top two storeys would be set back. Along with the excavation
of a basement and numerous works of refurbishment, this would allow the provision of
office floorspace in the west wing (Use Class E(g)), a flexible events space in the former
pool hall (Sui Generis), a standalone community hall (Use Class F2(b)), a gym (Use Class
E(d)) and a cafe (Use Class E(a))

6.1.3 The proposal raises the following planning considerations:

● Principle of Development
● Quality of Accommodation
● Conservation and Design
● Impact to Amenity
● Transportation
● Sustainability
● Waste Storage and Collection
● Biodiversity/ Landscaping
● Fire Strategy
● Consultee Responses
● Community Infrastructure Levy

6.2 Principle of Development

6.2.1 Loss of Swimming Baths (Use Class F2(d))

6.2.2 Local Plan policy LP8(Dii) allows the loss of social and community infrastructure such as
the former swimming baths where “it has been demonstrated, as evidenced by at least a
year of active marketing, that the facility is no longer required in its current use and it has
been demonstrated that it is not suitable and viable for any other forms of social
infrastructure for which there is a defined need in the locality, or for which there is a current
or future need identified in the Infrastructure Needs Assessment and Delivery Plan”. The
building, having been empty since 2000, was subject of a competitive bidding process to
find an occupier that could take on the costs of refurbishment and reuse. The Council’s
preferred bidder following that process, Castleforge, has put forward the current proposals,
which include re-use of the main hall as a public space, while also including other elements
(predominantly office floorspace) to help finance the required refurbishment works.
Castleforge and LB.Hackney have organised public consultation prior to the submission, as
evidenced in the submitted Statement of Community Involvement. We also note that, since

Page 31



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

the time the baths were shuttered in 2000, the Britannia Leisure Centre swimming pools
have opened nearby, reducing the need for this building in its former use. The process
undertaken to this point is considered to meet the requirements of LP8 and the loss of the
swimming baths use is considered acceptable in principle, subject to the detailed
consideration that follows of the merits of the scheme.

6.2.3 Provision of Employment (B1) uses

6.2.4 In this location, outside of a town centre or Priority Office/Industrial Area, Local Plan policy
LP12 is clear that self-contained residential units are the land use for which there is the
greatest need. Nevertheless, the constraints of the listed building, including its large internal
volumes and deep plan, are such that residential units could not be designed with an
adequate standard of accommodation for residential users. Local Plan policy LP25 is clear
that office uses can be found acceptable when they are small in scale and would contribute
to placemaking, so long as it does not impact significantly on residential amenity. The
proposed employment use is designed to be of a sufficient scale to allow the re-use of the
listed building and this has been the subject of viability work that has been agreed with
officers and the Councils’ independent viability consultants. As such, an employment led
mixed use scheme is considered acceptable in principle, subject to detailed consideration
of the amenity impacts and other considerations.

6.2.5 Provision of Sui Generis Event Space in the Main Pool Hall

6.2.6 The principle of providing a community event space in the main pool hall is considered
acceptable, subject to detailed consideration of the impacts of the use, including the
specifics of how the use would operate and how it would relate to this main volume of the
heritage building.

6.2.7 It is recognised that the success of the main hall as a multi-purpose venue is likely to hinge
on how it draws the local community in to experience a range of activities within a shared
and inclusive space. As such, there is a tension between leaving the use of the space
flexible, in order to accommodate the full range of potential uses, while also retaining
controls that ensure that the uses found are not those that are simply the most financially
rewarding for the operator. The applicant has submitted a draft Operational Management
Plan that proposes a number of uses, alongside the public access to the space. This
document is useful in that it provides some clarity as to what might be expected to occur
but since it does not, for example, give any indication as to the frequency of private events
versus access for the general public, the recommended condition requires a full
Operational Management Plan at the next stage that would guarantee public access on at
least five days per week for at least the hours between 09:00 to 18:00. This would not
prevent events from taking place at the same time as that public access but such events
and exhibitions, performances and displays would need to be inclusive and take up only a
portion of the hall.

6.2.8 For these reasons and subject to the recommended conditions, the sui generis use of the
main hall as a multi-use community and event space is concluded to be a considerable
benefit of the scheme.

Page 32



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.2.9 Provision of Community hall (Use Class F2(b)), Gym (Use Class E(d)) an cafe (Use Class
E(a)

6.2.10 These uses are ancillary to the main proposed uses and are considered acceptable in
principle as part of the proposed mix within the building.

6.2.11 Employment Training and Affordable Workspace

6.2.12 Local Plan policy LP29 states the Council will seek 10% of the new floorspace within major
commercial and mixed use schemes in the borough to be affordable workspace, subject to
scheme viability.

6.2.13 The applicant has entered into discussions over scheme viability with the Borough and it is
accepted that the costs of restoring the listed building are high. The proposal under the
application lost to the cyber attack (2020/0357), is replicated in this application, being the
provision of 10% discounted workspace (233sqm), which would be leased at 80% market
rate and captured within the s106 legal agreement.  This would have met the relevant
Affordable Workspace policy target prior to the adoption of the recent Local Plan 2033
policies and it is also accepted that the site is located in an area that is not likely to see
such high rental rates as in other areas of the Borough, such as Town Centres or the
designated Priority Office Areas. The majority of the office space will not be leased by
floorspace but by desk within shared areas, following the ‘WeWork’ type arrangement. As
such, a condition has been recommended requiring a detailed Discounted Workspace
Statement prior to occupation, as is envisaged by the draft statement the applicants have
provided .

6.2.14 For these reasons, it is considered that the discounted rate of 20%, while not technically
‘Affordable Workspace’ as defined by policy LP29, represents a reasonable offer in the
circumstances of the case and should be found acceptable.

6.2.15 In addition to affordable workspace provision, Ways into Work s106 contributions of
£35,138.25  towards Construction and Demolition and £251,086.44 towards End Use have
been secured which will provide employment support to residents, through job brokerage,
work placements, local labour programmes, supply chain management and programmes
aimed at assisting SMEs.

6.2.16 The proposed development provides significant employment enabling and generation
public benefit and is consequently deemed to accord with Local Plan Policy LP29 and the
Hackney Planning Contributions SPD

6.3 Standard of Accommodation:

6.3.1 Office Floorspace and Layout

6.3.2    In accordance with Local Plan Policy LP27, the Council requires the provision of well
designed, high quality buildings and floorspace that is flexible / adaptable to accommodate
a range of unit sizes and types with good natural light, suitable for sub-division and
configuration for new uses and activities, including for occupation by small or independent

Page 33



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

commercial enterprises. The design and layout of the proposed floorspace is of a high
quality, is flexible and meets the needs of likely end users, with an appropriate floor to
ceiling height and admission of natural light. It is considered acceptable.

6.3.3 Community and Event Floorspace in the former Pool Hall

6.3.4    The floorspace within the main hall of the building has been configured to allow the full
experience of an exceptional space. It is considered to be a considerable benefit of the
scheme.

6.3.5 Ancillary (Community, Gym and Cafe) Uses

6.3.6    Within the smaller rooms of the large listed building, spaces have been found for multiple
additional uses. The proposal is considered to be imaginative in the multiple uses
proposed, which make use of original features and existing spaces to create a mix of uses
that will help support each other and bring new users into the refurbished building for a
range of activities. The provided floorspace is considered appropriate for the new uses.

6.3.7 External Amenity Areas

6.3.8 Local Plan Policy 48 requires 4m2 of amenity space per employee. As such, on this tight
site which is unable to provide amenity space, there is a shortfall of 1696m2 of amenity
space. This equates to a payment in lieu to be put towards the provision of new or
improved space elsewhere of £194,633. This requirement has been added as a clause in
the legal agreement.

6.3.9 Conclusion

6.3.10 The proposed development is deemed to provide a high standard of accommodation for
future occupiers, in line with the aforementioned local and regional planning policies.

6.4       Urban Design, Conservation and Heritage Impacts

6.4.1 Policies D1-D4 of The London Plan 2021 require architecture to make a positive
contribution to a coherent public realm, streetscape and wider cityscape, incorporating the
highest quality materials and design appropriate to the surrounding context. LP33 Policy
LP1 states that all new development must be of the highest architectural and urban design
quality. Development must respond to local character and context having regard to the
boroughwide Characterisation Study, and be compatible with the existing townscape and
local views.

6.4.2 Policy HC1 of The London Plan 2021 requires development proposals affecting heritage
assets, and their settings, to conserve their significance, by being sympathetic to the
assets’ significance and appreciation within their surroundings. LP33 Policies LP3
Designated heritage assets, LP4 Non designated heritage assets, LP5 Strategic and local
views and LP6 Archaeology require the Council to conserve designated and
non-designated heritage assets (including their settings), protect the London View
Management Framework (LVMF) and identified local views and make appropriate

Page 34



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

arrangements for archaeology.

6.4.3 Section of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
development which affects a listed building or its setting to have “special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses.” NPPF Paragraph 202 states that, where a
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal.

6.4.4 Conservation

6.4.5 Significance of Area and Buildings

6.4.6 The building was erected in 1904 by A.W.S. Cross for Shoreditch Borough Council in an
Edwardian Baroque style of soft red brick in English Bond, with Portland stone dressings,
slate roofs. As originally constructed the building was complex and multi-function, with
stratification by both gender and class. The main functions were swimming, going to public
events, taking a bath and doing laundry.

6.4.7 There have been four main phases of change over the years. Between 1921 and 1922
changes were made to enable large events to take place in the pool hall in the winter
months (boxing and dance bands were popular); this resulted in the replacement of two
windows on the south elevation with entrance doors and steps. When built, the building
was hemmed in by terraced housing to the immediate east and west on both the north and
south elevations. In 1953, following war damage, these buildings were demolished, leaving
some scars and poor repairs to the south west and south east elevations. At the north west
corner of the site a new public laundry was provided in a red brick single storey extension
with a saw tooth roof: this functioned like a public launderette, with modern machinery (as
well as providing a plant room and delivery bay). More radical changes were made
between 1961 and 1964 and the years following. The Men’s First Class Baths on the
ground floor were removed and the space converted into a new entrance sequence, with a
flight of steps beneath a canopy on the west elevation leading to a ticket hall in the south of
the building. The original public laundry on the ground floor was converted into a mixed
swimming changing area. The pool was altered, with new entrances to the pool deck,
which was raised to deepen the pool. Foot baths and privacy screens were added, the gala
seating removed and the balcony remodelled with a new railing. It is likely that the original
coal fired basement plant was abandoned at about this time. Between 1985 and 1988 the
building was modernised again, with new heating and air handling plant in part of the 1953
public laundry building and the replacement of the Second Class Men’s Baths with a gym,
solarium and changing rooms. The pool was divided by a concrete boom to provide a
separate children’s pool, with a new pool floor in that part.

6.4.8 The listing description outlines the historical significance of the building and the significance
of the beautiful and elaborate exterior of the building very clearly. The interior of the
building is now more mixed, with some areas of high significance, and others damaged by
alteration. The pool hall still features the original pool and is a stunning volume with its
striking coffered ceiling. The first floor Second Class Women’s Baths appears to have
stayed in use until about 1985 and features a complete set of circa 1930s slipper baths and

Page 35



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

cubicles, complete with benches and even some mirrors: this is an unusual survival. The
first floor Board Room has been damaged but is capable of restoration to its original state.
The ground floor entrance hall has been damaged but is also capable of being returned to
its original elegant form. Another survivor is the complete set of 1904 water and air heating
plant in the basement. This consists of a coal store, a stokery, three 28 foot long and 7 foot
diameter Lancashire boilers with chain grate overfeed stokers, two Green’s New Patent
Improved Economisers (a type of heat exchanger which pre-heated the water), two water
heaters and a workshop, with various smaller tools and loose plant items of various dates.

6.4.9 The building’s significance is well understood. The Council provided its own Assessment of
Significance (LBH, September 2015), (reviewed in draft and approved by Historic England)
as part of the bidding process for the proposed lease disposal. This considered that the
most significant elements were those relating to the building as designed in 1902 and
opened in 1904; the alterations of 1922-3, 1953, 1961-4 and 1985-8 were considered to
generally detract from significance. The applicants have made reference to this document
and conducted more detailed archival research as part of their own heritage statement
(Historic Building Report, Donald Insall Associates, August 2021). There is a high level of
consensus over significance, except in relation to the basement plant area and its contents.
The Council regards this as of high significance, the applicants as of only moderate
significance.

6.4.10 Demolition

6.4.11 The demolition of the 1953 public laundry to the north west of the site is considered
acceptable, since this part of the building is of no significance and detracts from the host
historic building.

6.4.12 The demolition of the small area of the original building to the north east corner is
considered acceptable. This was a weaker part of the original design and these elements
were always secondary and of lower significance. This part of the building is in particularly
poor condition, with structural issues and stands in the way of the provision of new
elements which are fundamental to the success of the proposed scheme and which are
best located here.

6.4.13 Other minor areas of demolition shown on the submitted plans are also considered to be
acceptable. These changes are to areas of low significance and/or are justified by the
needs of the proposed scheme.

6.4.14 The proposed demolition of the ground floor of the west side of the building (originally the
public laundry and waiting room) and the first floor above (originally the Second Class
Men’s Baths) and the roof structure above (including the original water tank) is harmful
since it involves the loss of surviving original fabric, including the building structure, the four
rooflights and the rooftop water tank. However, these areas were always of lower status
and have been repeatedly altered in 1961-4 and 1985-8, leaving little of their original
character other than the features noted. It is also relevant that the first floor area and roof
are in particularly poor condition, with serious structural issues. There is a small element of
mitigation since a sample of panels from the roof top water tank will be displayed in the new
office entrance foyer.  This harm is considered to be less than substantial.

Page 36



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.4.15 The proposed demolition of the basement plant room involves areas that are contaminated
with loose asbestos dust and the plant, particularly the Lancashire boilers, may also contain
asbestos as part of their fabric. Following extensive negotiations with the applicant and the
submission of expert advice, officers consider that the retention of the basement and its
plant in situ is neither practical or viable. As such, by way of mitigation, following an initial
loose asbestos clean, the basement space and its plant will be subject to a high standard of
historic building recording. During demolition the plant will be dismantled and the parts to
be retained will be cleaned. Three elements of the plant, namely a portion of the front of
one Lancashire boiler, a portion of the front of one water heater, the main pipework from
one Green’s Economiser and a sample of panels from the rooftop water tank would be
retained and later relocated to the foyer of the new office building, where they will be
permanently displayed together with historical interpretive panels. This matter is subject to
a detailed proposed condition. Nine cast iron columns from the basement structure are
also to be retained and reused within the new office building as further mitigation.

6.4.16 We note to members that there are unknowns and risks with this plan. The nature and
extent of asbestos contamination cannot be known until a safe working environment is
established and dismantling has begun. The physical condition of the plant elements is
also poorly understood, since they have been in a dark, wet basement for many years. The
process of dismantling, cleaning and reassembly may not be without issues which have the
potential to frustrate the compromise proposed as mitigation. These unknowns are
reflected in the submitted proposed drawings, which show the intended locations
schematically.

6.4.17 Restoration of the retained parts of the listed building

6.4.18 One aim of the scheme is to sympathetically repair and restore the retained parts of the
listed building. These works are welcomed, particularly the reinstatement of the roof
lantern to the pool hall and the restoration of the gilded ship weathervane.

6.4.19 Access to some parts of the building is currently not possible (for example the roof). A
Condition Survey has been submitted and though this is helpful, it is highly likely that more
and different issues will be found with the condition of the building once thorough and safe
access is available (for example, a full exterior scaffold with roof access and an interior
scaffold of the pool hall) and a more detailed examination can be made. Conditions are
therefore proposed allowing flexibility and requiring further details of the proposed works.

6.4.20 The First Floor Slipper Baths would be almost entirely retained without substantial changes.
Two of the 19 cubicles and baths will be removed to provide a fire escape stair. The
remaining cubicles and baths will be reused as flexible office working cubicles with fully
reversible changes. This is an interesting and imaginative arrangement which is
considered acceptable, subject to details of works in this area would be managed by the
recommended condition.

6.4.21 Various works are proposed to the two main front staircases, the basement areas to provide
a gym and yoga studio, the ground floor entrance hall and cafe to the front, the first floor
Board Room, the second floor caretaker’s flat and the roof. These works have been
assessed by officers and it is considered that they are acceptable in conservation and
design terms, subject to details to be managed by the proposed conditions.

Page 37



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.4.22 The restoration of the retained parts of the building is a heritage benefit which weighs
heavily in favour of the scheme as a public benefit. To ensure that this benefit is secured,
further conditions are proposed relating to delivery of the benefit prior to occupation, a
contract for the whole scheme, phasing, a conditions meeting, heritage supervision and
retention of the architectural team.

6.4.23 Urban Design

6.4.24 New Western Wing: Architecture, Height and Massing

6.4.25 The proposed new office building within the western wing consists of a basement level,
three above-ground storeys faced in brick, two further set-back storeys clad in pressed
metal panels and a one storey roof extension also clad in pressed metal panels. The
building therefore has six above ground storeys. This would provide space for co-working
and private offices. This building would also include a new accessible entrance, stair/lift
core and external terraces. The double height workspace entrance foyer would contain
salvaged elements of the building’s original plant.

6.4.26 The new office building has been designed with a contemporary aesthetic so it can be
clearly read as a later addition, but with detailing and materials carefully considered to
complement the design of the original facades. Red brick was selected for the basement to
third floor, with a simple composition consisting of an accessible entrance at ground floor
(inserted here to avoid substantial changes to the principal listed building elevation) and
narrow groups of windows to light the offices, which would ensure that the secondary
character of this elevation would be preserved. The parapet line of the third floor would run
through with the retained bay at the south end of Swimmers Lane. The pressed metal
cladding of the contemporary roof extension references the original slate roof of the host
building and the historic water tank. This also helps to facilitate a legible contrast between
the contemporary extension and the existing chimney. The new opening on the west
elevation is considered to be well designed, with brick relief given to the entrance threshold,
referencing the civic nature of the building and forming a high quality entrance to the office
building.

6.4.27 The Hackney Society have made a number of criticisms of the proposed new western wing.
They stated:

● “We have concerns over the massive roof element and the presence of that new element
on Laburnum Street in particular. The tall proportions of the windows appear to counter the
attempt to be recessive. It is disappointing that further work hasn't been done to
demonstrate this is the optimal massing given the significant concerns expressed over the
dominance of the roof elements.” Officers do not agree and consider the two storey metal
clad element to the top of the building to be sufficiently recessive in material and scale and
the windows in the element to be appropriate.

● “The proportions of the new elevations are curious and the ratio of window to wall might be
considered refreshing but only if the applicant gets the choice of brick right, and we don't
think they have. The highly varied/textured brick is similar to every other new residential
development in the area and fights with the existing building. A muted brick might ensure
the addition sits apart and is very much second in command; as it needs to be understated
and modest. But in any event this needs to be demonstrated through the exploration of

Page 38



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

design options.” Officers consider that a red brick is appropriate in relation to the host
historic building.  The brick choice will be subject to condition.

● “In any event the proportions lead to uncomfortable indoor spaces - for instance the cill
levels internally seem too high. We had hoped to see further exploration of the options in
this regard as the result seems sub-optimal.” Officers consider the cill heights to be
appropriate, since this is an office use and a higher cill prevents viewing users’ legs and
office clutter through the lower parts of windows.

● “Although the main hall is designated as being available for a variety of uses its flexibility is
limited by the serviceability and accessibility of the space through the narrow heritage
frontage.” Officers do not agree: the new building provides an ample and accessible
entrance which flows through into the pool hall. The historic south entrances will be
brought back into use and are capable of being used; it is not possible to move the building
to the north (it was accidentally built slightly too far south in 1904, hence the narrow
pavement).

6.4.28 The height and massing of the new western wing is considered to cause less than
substantial harm to the significance of the listed building.

6.4.29 We consider that the greatly recessed 6th floor would not be visible in relevant local views
(see pages 51, 53, 54 and 55 of the Design and Access Statement) and is visible but not
obtrusive in views from further away (see pages 56, 63 and 64 (Views 01 to 08). Officers
consider that these views do not show any visual harm to the setting of the listed building or
the Regent’s Canal Conservation Area, the Hackney Road Conservation Area and the
Kingsland Conservation Area.

6.4.30 Despite the low level of visibility of the sixth floor, officers consider that the new building is
slightly too tall for its context. It is insufficiently subsidiary to the host historic building since
it slightly challenges the building in its visual relationship with the retained chimney and the
ridge line of the pool hall and front block. This is in line with the objection expressed by the
Victorian Society in their consultation response letter of 23rd November 2021.

6.4.31 However, officers consider the harm caused to be less than substantial and able to be
justified by the public benefits of the scheme, including the restoration of the retained parts
of the listed building. It is notable that the submitted Financial Viability Assessment
demonstrates that the scheme is not viable without the additional sixth floor.

6.4.32 It is considered that the proposed western wing provides a positive new element with its
own contemporary identity and yet relates sensitively to the unusual context. The
applicants were encouraged to pursue a “one building” approach so that the new building is
fully integrated in terms of access and flow into the listed building. The result is a simple
building which is muted in manner while responding to the context. The proposed new
double height entrance in Swimmers Lane provides a positive and striking feature to the
west elevation. The choice of red brick responds to the host building and the use of grey
metal to upper floors is a reference to the historic water tank. The rhythm of fenestration is
calm and provides a muted foil to the retained chimney. Junctions with the listed building
are inset to provide a shadow gap, distinguishing old and new work.

Page 39



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.4.33 For these reasons, the new western wing is considered overall to be of a high quality
design, subject to the proposed conditions to address detailed matters such as the external
material choices, the junctions with the listed building, the roof plant and signage.

6.4.34 Pool pavilion

6.4.35 A two storey insertion into the original swimming pool is proposed. This consists of a metal
frame clad in mirror glass, with walkways to the retained pool balcony at mezzanine level.
This element will be accessed by new timber auditorium seating/steps which go down into
the shallow end of the pool. The intention is that this element, which provides a flexible
meeting space at lower level and a restaurant at upper level, would sit on expanded foam
formers within the historic pool and is, at least in theory, reversible. Retained pool edges
would require glazed screens to prevent falling. As such, any harm to the historic fabric
(subject to further detail to be provided by condition) appears to be limited. The 1985-8
boom separating the main and learner pools and the learner pool raised floor would be
demolished, which is an enhancement, and users would have an experience of climbing
down into a historic pool, albeit without water. Nevertheless, less than substantial harm is
caused by the addition of a substantial built volume within the pool hall, which takes up
about two thirds of the length of the pool.

6.4.36 Urban Design Summary

6.4.37 The new additions to the building are considered to cause less than significant harm to the
listed building and this is considered to be outweighed by the public benefit of the repair
and bringing into use of this building on the Heritage at Risk register.

Landscaping

6.3.38 The existing and proposed building takes up most of the plot within the red line boundary
and so the landscaping proposed is limited to the western side of the building along
Swimmers Lane. It would involve construction of a lightwell bordered by planting, the
replacement of asphalt with natural stone paving and the provision of short stay cycle
parking. The proposal is considered acceptable in this regard and details of landscaping
materials and planting will be provided at the next stage, by way of the recommended
condition.

6.4.39 For these reasons, subject to the future submission and approval of suitable details, it is
considered that the architecture of the proposal would achieve an acceptable standard of
design and would achieve the design aspirations of policies 7.4, 7.6, 7.8 of the London
Plan, policies 24 and 25 of the Hackney Core Strategy and policy DM1 of the Hackney
Development Management Local Plan.

6.4.41 Landscaping

6.4.42 The general layout of the landscaping is considered acceptable, functioning as shared
space for the commercial and residential elements of the scheme within a central courtyard.
It would also provide planting and defensible space in front of the proposed residential
windows. The details of the design, including the proposed lighting scheme, have not been
submitted and so conditions have been recommended in this regard.

Page 40



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.4.43 Signage and External Lighting

6.4.44 The signage proposed, including to the chimney, is not fully detailed but is considered
acceptable in principle. This aspect, along with proposals for the external lighting of the
public realm would be subject to the recommended conditions requiring further details.

6.4.45 Urban Design, Conservation and Heritage Impacts Conclusions

6.4.46 Subject to the recommended details, it is considered that the proposal would achieve an
acceptable standard of design that would enhance the townscape and the setting of
neighbouring conservation areas and thereby achieve the design aspirations of local and
regional policy. Less than substantial harm is caused to the listed building and this is
considered to be balanced acceptably against the public benefit of its reuse and restoration,
in line with Section 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990.

6.5 Impact to Amenity

6.5.1 London Plan policy D3 states that development should have regard to the form, character
and function of an area and the scale, mass and orientation of surrounding buildings.  Local
plan policy LP2 states that all new development must be appropriate to its location and
should be designed to ensure there are no significant adverse impacts on the amenity of
occupiers and neighbours. Local Plan policy LP25 states that new employment space
outside of the Priority Office/Industrial Areas or Town Centre locations will be permitted
where it does not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity.

6.5.2 Daylight/Sunlight impacts.

6.5.3 With regards to daylight, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method has been used to
measure the amount of skylight reaching windows of neighbouring properties. BRE
guidelines in their “Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight” document of 2011 state
that impacts upon daylight of an existing building will be noticeable if the VSC measured at
the centre of an existing main window is less than 27% and less than 0.8 times its former
value. % reductions in VSC of 30% or more can be considered to result in significant
noticeable impacts, whereas reductions in daylight marginally above the 20% threshold will
be more minor.

6.5.4 VSC is the most suitable method of assessment to understand the degree of change to
windows of neighbouring properties resulting from the development. The daylight sunlight
assessment also refers to two further methods of assessment. The No Sky Line (NSL)
method involves plotting the NSL in affected rooms (when layout of affected properties is
known), to understand the proportion of the room, where views of the sky would be visible.

6.5.5 A third method of assessing daylight is the Average Daylight Factor (ADF), which involves a
detailed calculation of the amount of sky visible at each of the windows serving the room,
taking into account a range of factors including window and room sizes. ADF is most
appropriately used to assess the levels of daylight within proposed buildings, although ADF

Page 41



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

can on occasion be used to assess impacts on adjacent developments where these are
consented but not yet occupied.

6.5.6 With regards to sunlight, the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) method has been
used to assess the amount of sunlight available within a room. BRE guidelines are for
rooms to receive 25% of Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) in total, including 5% in
winter.

6.5.7 It should be noted that BRE guidance is applied with regard to the site context. Factors
such as the layout and orientation of adjacent buildings, and the amount of existing
development upon an application site can all have significant impacts upon the daylight
sunlight assessment. As such in dense inner urban locations, it may not be possible to
achieve BRE target criteria if development is to take place at a similar scale as others in the
surrounding area.

6.5.8 The impact to the daylight and sunlight of the properties to the north of the site, including
Columbia Wharf, Brunswick Wharf and 61-82 Kent Wharf is considered acceptable. Of
these properties, Columbia Wharf and Brunswick Wharf only have commercial windows
directly facing the site. 61-82 Kent Wharf is in residential use but is set away from the main
increases proposed to the massing and would not be significantly affected by the
development.

6.5.9 To the south and east the windows of Mansfield Court and Queensbridge Court respectively
are sufficiently distant that only a marginal impact to VSC, NSL or APSH would occur.
Centre 151 and its gardens, adjacent to the east of the proposal, are in use as a community
centre and so have not been tested by the submitted Daylight/Sunlight study. The impact to
the centre and gardens is considered to be acceptable, given the scale and positioning of
the proposed development.

6.5.10 London Mill Apartments and Basin Mill apartments directly face the proposed 6 storey office
accommodation across Swimmers Lane and are single aspect. The submitted
daylight/sunlight report shows that both the VSC and NSL of windows and rooms within
these blocks would be significantly affected. However, the submitted figures also show that
much of the impact of the proposed development is caused by the balconies of those
properties. In line with BRE guidelines a separate set of data has been produced to show
the impact of the proposal without the existing balcony obstructions. In each case, the
retained absolute level of VSC would be no lower than the mid-teens, even at ground floor
level. Impacts to NSL, though significant, would still allow good levels of daylight,
appropriate to the wider urban grain of this inner London location.

6.5.11 Facing residential windows to London Mill Apartments and Basin Mill apartments are not
within 90 degrees of south and so would not experience an unacceptable impact to their
levels of sunlight.

6.5.12 In addition, it is noted that the proposed office element generally mirrors the height of the
five storey blocks of London Mill apartments and Basin Mill apartments, in a manner
considered to be acceptable by BRE guidance. The proposal would be marginally taller to
its 5th storey (1.0m taller) but is also set back by 2.0m at the 4th and 5th storeys. The

Page 42



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

proposed 6th storey is so set back from the main Swimmers Lane elevation (by 7.4m) that it
would have only a marginal impact on the daylight and sunlight experienced at either
apartment block. It is noted that these existing apartment blocks have defensible space in
front of their ground floor windows that marginally exceeds the setback from the red line
boundary at the proposal site. Nevertheless, it is considered that the general purpose of this
‘mirroring’ test is still met, since it shows the proposal sits well within the existing urban
grain and has a daylight/sunlight impact that is to be expected of development in this
location.

6.5.13 Overshadowing of Amenity Spaces

6.5.14 The report shows an overshadowing analysis of the neighbouring amenity spaces at ground
floor level of Basin Mill and London Mill Apartments. The results show that the existing
spaces are heavily overshadowed in the existing condition and none receive the BRE
recommended two hours of sunlight over half their area at midday on the 21st March (the
equinox). The report assesses the additional overshadowing caused by the development on
the equinox and shows it to be marginal.

6.5.15 In line with the assessment above, the scale of the proposed development is considered to
be similar to that of surrounding development. At times of year when the sun is higher in the
sky it may be that the additional storeys of the extension have more of an impact on
overshadowing. Nevertheless, the north-south orientation of the street ensures the spaces
will receive sunlight for a period of each day and it is noted that the overshadowing of the
spaces in the evening will be as a result of the similarly-sized existing bulk of the apartment
buildings, rather than the proposed development.

6.5.16 There is a second floor roof terrace at Hoxton Docks (55 Laburnum Street), which is
sufficiently elevated and distant from the proposal that any overshadowing would not be
significant. The impact of overshadowing of the elevated balconies of London Mill and
Basin Mill Apartments are considered to be within acceptable bounds, in line with the above
assessment of the ground floor amenity space.

Summary

6.5.17  The impacts to the daylight and sunlight of surrounding properties and amenity spaces are
considered to be acceptable. The most affected buildings are those of Basin Mill
apartments and London Mill apartments and in both these cases, the impacts are
exacerbated by their existing balconies. Windows that are not under balconies retain good
levels of daylighting even at ground floor level. The ‘mirror test’ shows the development is
of a similar height and massing to London Mill and Basin Mill apartments opposite, showing
that it fits well within the existing urban grain. The proposed development is deemed
acceptable with regard to its daylight sunlight impact and is deemed to meet the
requirements of London Plan policy D3 and Local plan policies LP2 and LP25.

6.5.18 Outlook / Sense of Enclosure

6.5.19 The Council has no specific policy guidance on acceptable separation distances for
outlook. This is due to the differing established grain and density of the borough, the
potential to limit the variety of urban space and unnecessarily restrict density.

Page 43



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.5.20 Owing to the scale and positioning of the proposed extensions to the existing building, the
impact of the development on the outlook and sense of enclosure experienced by
neighbouring residents is considered to be acceptable. As above, the closest residential
properties are those of London Mill and Basin Mill apartment blocks. Here, in comparison to
the existing development, the extensions would be experienced as two storeys set back
from the existing wall by 1.9m, with a third storey so set back as to have only a marginal
effect (7m). Given the scale of the existing building and the 15m-17m distance between the
existing properties and the extensions, the impact of the proposal on the outlook and sense
of enclosure of these properties is considered to be acceptable.

6.5.21 It is noted that the existing wall at the north west corner of the Haggerston Baths building
has a sawtooth roof, which means that the proposal would also build up this wall to a
consistent height with the rest of the proposed west elevation. However this is also the part
of the building at the greatest distance from the residences across Swimmers Lane. The
impact here is also considered to be acceptable.

6.5.22 As such, the proposed development is deemed acceptable in terms of its impact on
prospective outlook and sense of enclosure and to meet the expectations of London Plan
policy  D3 and Local Plan policies LP2 and LP25.

6.5.23 Privacy and Overlooking

6.5.24 A number of objections have been received in relation to overlooking from the proposal to
neighbouring residential properties, particularly those to the west of the site.

6.5.25 The distance between proposed windows and the London Mill and Basin Mill apartment
buildings across Swimmers Lane varies from just over 13m to 15m. It is noted that there
are existing window spaces in the Swimmers Lane elevation of the baths but that these are
boarded up. It is considered that a 13m distance, over an existing publicly accessible road
is sufficient to ensure that any impact from overlooking would not be so significant as to
warrant refusal of the application. The proposed windows serve the office spaces and so
would typically be expected to be used at somewhat different times from the residential
units opposite, though it is noted that the increase in home working currently anticipated
renders this consideration less significant.

6.5.26 Distances between proposed windows and other neighbouring residential buildings are
greater. As such, the proposed development is deemed acceptable in terms of prospective
outlook, privacy and overlooking and to meet the expectations of London Plan policy  D3
and Local Plan policies LP2 and LP25.

6.5.27 Construction Impacts

6.5.28 In terms of the construction activity, the short-term nature of the proposed works and ambit
of temporary impacts are rarely so significant that planning permission should be refused.
In addition, the working hours of construction activity are controlled by separate legislation
to which the applicant’s contractors would need to comply. In addition to the considerate

Page 44



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

constructors’ code of conduct required by the legal agreement, a construction management
and logistics plan would be required by condition to ensure that the construction
programme does not have an unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers or on the highway network.

6.5.29 Noise

6.5.30 The existing, albeit, discontinued pool hall use would be associated with a number of
impacts in relation to noise and while the building has been silent for many years, it is
recognised that this is a public building that would have been well used for the majority of
its life.

6.5.31 Nevertheless, the envisaged use of the main hall as a multi-use community hall and event
space has the potential to cause noise nuisance to neighbours. As such, Hackney’s
Environmental Protection Team have recommended a number of conditions in relation to
the use of the main hall and the other uses of the site. These include restricted hours of
use, acoustic shielding to plant, details of external lighting and the stipulation that doors and
windows are not left open.

6.5.32 An operational management plan has been recommended, to involve sound limiters on
amplified noise and external measures such as patron dispersal at the end of events.
Conditions are included requiring that noise spillage from events within the main hall is kept
below background noise levels at the neighbouring premises. A similar condition is
recommended in relation to plant noise.

6.5.33 These conditions are recommended below and an additional condition has been
recommended to limit the hours of use of the external terrace for the office use to
08:00-18:00 on Monday to Friday.

6.5.34 Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable in this
regard.

6.5.35 Conclusion on Amenity Impacts

6.5.36 On balance, the proposal is not anticipated to detract unduly from the amenity of
neighbouring occupiers and would thereby comply with the relevant local and regional
policies in respect of neighbouring amenity.

6.6 Transportation

6.6.1 Site Context

6.6.2 The site previously functioned as a public baths complex and is currently disused. It fronts
Whiston Road to the south, Laburnum Street to the north, a community centre and
residential properties to the east and Swimmers Lane to the west. Whiston Road and
Laburnum Road are two way streets. Swimmers lane forms a pedestrian/cyclist route along
the western boundary of the site and access for vehicles is restricted by the presence of
bollards. The roads surrounding the site are within a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). A

Page 45



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

number of car clubs operate close to the site.

6.6.3 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 5. A Healthy Streets
Assessment has been carried out and concludes that the proposed development would be
beneficial to the pedestrian environment. Bus stops are located within 50/65 metres from
the site. Overall 8 bus routes operate in the vicinity of the site. TfL`s Local Cycle Guide 14
indicates that there is a good network of cycle ways in the local area. Haggerston Station is
600 metres from the site and Hoxton Station is approximately 700 metres from the site.

6.6.4 Traffic Impact / Trip Generation

6.6.5 The submitted trip generation assessment predicts that the site will see a significant
increase in the quantum of the development and net increase in two-way trips.  As such,
the proposal could have a significant impact on the local transport network and public
highway and mitigation measures are required to reduce the impact on the transport
network and ensure that the great majority of trips are made by active and sustainable
transport modes.

6.6.6 Servicing

6.6.7 Objections to the scheme state that pedestrian use of Swimmers Lane may be impeded by
delivery drivers taking a shortcut past the bollards to the office entrance on Swimmers
Lane. However, this is not the entrance that would be used. A Delivery and Servicing Plan
has been produced, which shows delivery, servicing and refuse collection would be carried
out from the servicing will be undertaken from Laburnum Street, onto which a
Back-of-House (BoH) goods entrance is provided, which allows service / delivery personnel
direct access to the Development.

6.6.8 12 trips (one way) are predicted per day, for all the uses excluding the community use, for
which insufficient information has been made available. This is likely to have a negative
impact on the public highway. Deliveries are likely to be carried out in light goods vehicles
and smaller rigid lorries with a weight no greater than 7.5T but it is predicted that larger
delivery vehicles may sometimes be required for some of the events in the main hall. The
height of the rail bridge (4.3m) located to the west of the site on Laburnum Street is
sufficient for the majority of larger delivery vehicles (a standard 10m rigid vehicle measures
3.65m in height). However, in the event a vehicle is too tall to navigate the bridge, a swept
path analysis has been provided to show that a 3-point turn at Haggerston Road is feasible.

6.6.9 As presented, the details are considered acceptable. However, given that there is not yet
any data available for the delivery and servicing requirements of the community use,  a full
delivery and servicing Plan (DSP) is recommended to be conditioned. Details of any larger
lorry deliveries will be required by the condition. Deliveries that can be managed would be
avoided during the peak morning and afternoon hours of 0800-1000 and 1600 to 1800 on
weekdays, as part of the DSP.

6.6.10 Car Parking

6.6.11 The scheme is proposed to be car-free which is supported by the London Plan. LP33 policy
LP45 requires that, to reduce car usage and promote active travel, all new developments in

Page 46



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

the borough must be car-free.

6.6.12 A clause in the proposed legal agreement therefore provides a CPZ exclusion to restrict
parking permits for all users of the proposed site (except those with a blue badge).

6.6.13 The submitted Transport Statement proposes that 2 Blue Badge parking bays will be
provided on the public highway within 50 metres of the site, prior to occupation. This is a
recommended clause within the legal agreement and is considered acceptable.

6.6.14 Cycle Parking

6.6.15 Hackney Policies LP41, LP42 and LP43 in LP33 highlight the importance of new
developments making sufficient provisions to facilitate and encourage movements by
sustainable transport means.

6.6.16 The current cycle parking proposal provides 114 cycle parking spaces. These consist of 86
long-stay spaces and 28 short-stay spaces. The long-stay cycle parking includes: 8 x
Sheffield stands (16 spaces) 1 x accessible stand (2 spaces) 22 x two-tier stands (44
spaces) and 24 x foldable bike lockers. For the visitor cycle parking, 14 x Sheffield stands
are proposed to provide 28 spaces.

6.6.17 The cycle parking proposal provides 114 cycle parking spaces. These consist of 86
long-stay spaces and 28 short-stay spaces. The long-stay cycle parking includes: 8 x
Sheffield stands (16 spaces) 1 x accessible stand (2 spaces) 22 x two-tier stands (44
spaces) and 24 x foldable bike lockers. For the visitor cycle parking, 17 x Sheffield stands
are proposed to provide 36 spaces.

6.6.18 The proposed cycle parking is 21 spaces below Hackney’s cycle parking standards and the
proposal includes a relatively high number of folding cycle lockers. Nevertheless, the
Council acknowledges the constraints of the listed building and it has not been possible to
increase the quantum of cycle parking within the internal cycle store. Six additional
Sheffield stand spaces have been agreed within the red line boundary on Swimmers Lane
during the course of the application. In addition, to offset the level of underprovision, an
additional 30 cycle parking spaces have been agreed and will be provided externally in
converted parking bays on Laburnum Street and Whiston Road at an estimated cost of
£13,500, contained within the proposed legal agreement. These spaces will be provided as
Sheffield stands. This increases the overall number of cycle parking spaces to 150 in total
across the development. This is above the required number of spaces outlined in
Hackney’s standards.

6.6.19 A full Travel Plan will be required on occupation of the development (see below). This is
particularly important owing to the relatively high number of folding cycle lockers. The
occupier would ensure that the travel plan facilitates the uptake and ownership of folding
cycles where possible and this would be evidenced within the Travel Plan. The Cycle
Parking facilities would also thereby be regularly monitored to ensure that they are suitable
for all users and a range of cycles.

6.6.20 Since the space available for cycle parking is considered acceptable for this mix of uses,

Page 47



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

and further details are recommended by way of condition and the Travel Plan within the
proposed legal agreement, the proposal is considered acceptable with regard to cycle
parking.

6.6.21 Travel Plan

6.6.22 A travel plan aims to promote sustainable travel choices (for example, cycling) as an
alternative to single occupancy car journeys that may impact negatively on the
environment, congestion and road safety. A Framework Travel Plan (FTP) has been
submitted as part of the application. A full Travel Plan will be required to be produced and
implemented on occupation of the development. This would be secured through the legal
agreement, inclusive of a £5,000 contribution towards the monitoring of the Travel Plan.

6.6.23 Urban Realm & S278

6.6.24 The NPPF Paragraph 61 highlights the importance of connections between people and
places and the integration of new development into the built environment. In accordance
with Local Plan policies PP6 (Public Realm), LP41 (Liveable Neighbourhoods),
LP42(Walking and Cycling), LP43 (Transport and Development) and LP44 (Public
Transport and Infrastructure) all developments are expected to integrate the proposed
development into the public realm and or provide contributions to urban realm
improvements in the vicinity of the site.

6.6.25 As such, S278 highway works have been secured via the proposed legal agreement, to
reconstruct the footway on Laburnum Street, between Swimmers Lane and Queensbridge
Road, using concrete paving slabs and new concrete kerbs. The vehicle crossover in front
of the garages will be reconstructed using block paving. Four trees will be planted on the
footway near the development. The estimated cost of these works is £46,681.59 and the
scope of the works is considered acceptable.

6.6.26 Demolition and Construction Management

6.6.27 Given the nature of the proposed development, which is adjacent to residential buildings
and involves sensitive works to the listed building, a demolition and construction plan is
recommended via condition to mitigate negative impact on neighbours and the surrounding
highway network.

6.6.28 Conclusions

6.6.29 The proposal is considered acceptable, subject to the provision of conditions in relation to a
Delivery and Servicing Plan, cycle parking spaces, a Construction Management Plan, along
with legal agreement Heads of Terms in relation to the removal of parking permits, a Travel
Plan,two on-street blue badge spaces and the charge for the relevant highways works.

6.7 Sustainability

6.7.1 London Plan policy SI 2 (Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy) and LP33
policy LP55 (Mitigating Climate Change) state major development proposals should be net

Page 48



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

zero-carbon. The constraints of the listed building, which includes a large hall with heritage
roof, are noted. Nevertheless, the western wing of the building, which would be largely
replaced, offers an opportunity to increase the sustainability of the building and the
applicant has aspired to a ‘Very Good’ BREEAM rating.

6.7.2 The reuse and repair of this existing building is in line with policy SI 7 (Reducing waste and
supporting the circular economy) of the London Plan. Nevertheless, a pre-commencement
condition has been recommended requiring details to demonstrate that the specifics of the
development involve resource efficiency and reuse, as required by the circular economy
hierarchy.

6.7.3 The applicant has set out within the energy assessment how the development will aim to
achieve the BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating. The applicant is proposing a range of energy
efficiency measures, including Air Source Heat Pumps to achieve a 37% reduction in
baseline carbon emissions. A range of conditions relating to air quality neutral assessment,
green roof details and a post completion BREEAM ‘Very Good’ certificate are proposed. A
further condition recommends that any insulation and refrigerant materials must have a low
or zero Global Warming Potential (GWP) and Zero Ozone Depleting Potential (ODP). The
shortfall in carbon reductions would require a carbon offset payment of £350,550.00, based
on £95 per tonne, which would be sought through the legal agreement.

6.7.4 The application is therefore considered to be acceptable on sustainability grounds, subject
to the aforementioned conditions and legal agreement.

6.8 Waste Storage and Collection

6.8.1 The constraints of the Listed Building in respect of the space available for waste/recycling
storage areas are noted. The Council’s Waste Officer has reviewed the proposal and raises
no objection to the location or capacity of waste storage provided, given that the
submission allows for daily collections. As such, the proposal is considered to provide
suitable waste and collection servicing arrangements.

6.9 Biodiversity

6.9.1 London Plan Policy G7 (Biodiversity and access to nature), along with Local Plan 2033
policy LP47 (Biodiversity and Sites of Importance of Nature Conservation) state proposals
should contribute to urban greening and increase biodiversity. Given the nature of the
existing building, which fills its entire plot, the opportunities for greening the development
are limited and an Urban Greening Factor of 0.09 is proposed. Nevertheless, an extensive
green roof is proposed above the extended western wing of the building, with specific
details to be secured by condition. A further condition is recommended in relation to the
inclusion of bird and bat boxes or bricks on the extension. The proposal would not have any
impact on neighbouring trees.

6.9.2 The development is therefore deemed to meet London Plan policy G7 and Local Plan 2033
policy LP47.

6.10 Fire Strategy

Page 49



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

6.10.1 The drawings in the submitted Fire strategy are not technical drawings to the standard
expected, so a full assessment can not be made.  The applicants are reworking the fire
strategy and expect to have this available for review prior to the addendum to the
Committee Report, at which point an additional condition would be necessary to require
compliance with the submission and to require any further details that are appropriate for
post-decision submissions. We note in advance that Listed Buildings do create constraints
in this regard and the Heritage Officer will also be involved in this discussion, prior to the
committee date. In advance of these further submissions, the principle of the development
in respect of fire safety, is considered acceptable, since there do not appear to be any
aspects that cannot be worked through satisfactorily if the correct approach is taken.

6.11 Consultee Responses

The following consultee responses raise issues that have not been covered in the report
above:

● Impact of light pollution from proposed offices;
Officer’s Response: There is no reason to think that offices are likely to be lighter at night
than residential dwellings and nor is the distance between the proposal site and
neighbouring residential buildings so close as to suggest light spillage into neighbouring
residential windows would be untypical for this urban setting.

● Little benefit to the local community. There are already 3 community facilities in the
neighbouring streets who provide such space for hire for classes and events (151 Centre,
Kingsland Road and Thurtle Road);
Officer’s Response: It is considered that there would not be an oversupply of community
space as a result of this application, given the large local population in the surrounds.

● Main hall would be used for private functions;
Officer’s Response: An Operational Management Plan has been required by condition,
outlining a requirement for a good level of public access to the pool hall, notwithstanding
that some ticketed events will also take place. This arrangement is considered acceptable,
subject to the condition, which requires further details of the proposals in this regard.

● Castleforge’s community involvement process involved leading questions and a
non-functioning website;
Officer’s Response: While there is no planning requirement for pre-consultation
involvement with the local community, a main aim of the process is to gather local
knowledge so that an application will stand a better chance of success. As such, any
deficiencies in the process would be to the detriment of the applicants but would not be a
reason to refuse the application, which involves an entirely separate consultation.

● New Swimmers Lane office entrance is too close to existing housing, which also utilises the
lane as a community space enjoyed by children;

Page 50



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Officer’s Response: When the existing western wing to the baths was redeveloped
post-war, the main entrance to the building was located on Swimmers Lane and this
remains the entrance that would be used if the building was simply repaired and reused.
Indeed, though Swimmers Lane was subsequently identified as a landscaped amenity
space when London Mill and Basin Mill Apartments were approved (Planning Permission
Ref: 2009/0186), it was amended via a Non-Material Amendment Application (Ref:
2011/1150) when the Planning Officer’s Delegated Report to that NMA outlined that “The
original approved drawings indicated that this would be a landscaped area to include
pedestrian/cycle connection between Whiston Road (to the south) and Laburnum Street (to
the north), access to residential units to the west of Block G and soft and hard landscaping.
Subsequently discussions have progressed regarding the redevelopment of Haggerston
Baths and for this to potentially include an access route from the same area of the site. To
allow this to be potentially facilitated the treatment and landscaping of this area has been
revised...The east side of the area is proposed to be treated in macadam and so as not to
prevent the provision of future access to Haggerston Baths.” As such, the use of Swimmers
Lane in the manner proposed is in line with the approval of the residential dwellings and
their existence would not give a reason to refuse the application.

● Swimmers Lane will become a default smoking area for office workers;
Officer’s Response: While it is correct that, as a public street, smokers could use Swimmers
Lane, it is considered likely that standard office management arrangements would ensure
that door staff on Swimmers Lane asked smokers to move to the wider streets to south and
or north, away from the office entrance. It is considered unnecessary to add any planning
controls in this regard.

● The estimated noise levels are unrealistically low. For example 40 decibels is the noise
level considered to be the equivalent of ‘a quiet library' and yet the noise report’s highest
estimated level is 36 decibels on Swimmers Lane where the main entrance will be;
Officer’s Response: The findings of the noise report are not questioned but the proposed
conditions, which require events and plant noise to be 10dB below background noise levels
at neighbouring residential premises, do not rely on the testing of the report, except that the
proposed conditions have been found reasonable by the Borough’s Environmental
Protection team. The relatively quiet location and the surrounding residential premises are
recognised in the assessment made prior to the wording of the conditions.

● The plans remove the existing 20 cycle spaces on Swimmers Lane and replace them with
28 only adding an additional 8 cycle parking spaces for public users of the building, office
visitors and short stay parking for the offices. Instead of bike racks on Swimmers Lane, the
Council should widen Whiston Road and put the bike racks there

Officer’s Response: Following negotiations with the Borough, a payment towards Highways
Works to provide cycle parking within two existing parking bays (Whiston Road and
Laburnum Street) has been agreed with the applicant. This is in addition to the sheffield
stands proposed within the red line boundary, on Swimmers Lane.

Page 51



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

● Impact of the construction phase on local residents;
Officer’s Response: Controls outside of the planning system exist to ensure that
disturbance from construction work is minimised. It is not considered that there are any
constraints at or surrounding the site which would make the area particularly sensitive to
disturbance from construction work and therefore justify further consideration. As such it is
not considered that disturbance from construction work would justify the refusal of the
application. Similarly, the proposed Construction Management Plan condition is designed to
ensure that the impact of construction traffic is mitigated throughout that temporary period.

● There is no need for office development following the Covid outbreak and no need for
office development in this location;
Officer’s Response: The need for office development in Hackney is accepted in the recent
Local Plan 2033, which is the relevant document for decision making. Nevertheless, it is
accepted that the impact of Covid on future office developments remains unpredictable and
that developers will cease coming forward with proposals if they do not feel they would find
tenants.

● Danger to local residents from asbestos in the demolition process;
Officer’s Response: Any asbestos removal will be carried out by specialist contractors
bound by separate legislation to ensure the removal is carried out safely.

● The submitted plan is higher than was shown in the original public consultation, prior to the
first planning application;
Officer’s Response: The planning application must be considered on its own merits. Any
pre-planning consultation, competition or public engagement processes carried out by the
Council and Castleforge are a matter for their own discretion, rather than forming a reason
for refusal of this application.

● The energy statement says there is going to be PV panels on the roof, but these are not
shown on the drawings;
Officer’s Response: The submitted energy statement actually clarifies that PV panels are
not proposed at this time but may be proposed later when the feasibility of their installation
on the roof is fully considered. As such, the agreed carbon offset figure does not suppose
the installation of PV panels and nor is it considered that they should be required, given the
proposed biodiverse roof and the constraints of the listed building.

● The swimming pool should remain a swimming pool. A sauna and steam room should be
added;
Officer’s Response: The building is both listed and at risk from further deterioration in its
condition. No funding has become available for the refurbishment of the building as a
swimming pool and nor have any companies come forward that wish to refurbish and run
the building as a swimming pool. As such, a Mayoral decision was taken, as part of the

Page 52



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

bidding process, that swimming cannot viably be reprovided. This application has been
considered on its own merits, as per the assessment above.

● There should be a curfew on all noise from people outside the building at 7pm on weekdays
and 10pm on the weekend.
Officer’s Response: A condition has been added in respect of the hours of use of the
external terraces to the office development. In respect of the users of the main hall and
ancillary spaces, an Operational Management Plan has been required by condition, which
would contain details of patron dispersal after events.

6.12 Community Infrastructure Levy

6.12.1 The development would be liable for Mayoral CIL 2 (£60 per sqm of all floorspace) and
Hackney Zone A CIL (nil charge for the proposed uses). The existing floorspace at the site
has not been occupied for any of the last thirty six months and so is not discounted from the
calculations.

6.12.2 Mayoral CIL 2: 7215m2 x £60 = £432,900

6.12.3 This total of £432,900.00 is subject to indexation and may be revised at the point of
implementation.

7. CONCLUSION

7.1 The proposal, on balance, is considered to successfully optimise the use of the site and
bring back into repair an at risk Listed Building whilst taking into account the character and
appearance of the surrounding area, the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and
residents, and taking into account all other relevant considerations. The scheme is
considered to represent a high quality development that delivers an uplift in employment
space and a vibrant mix of uses.

7.2 The proposal, on balance, is deemed to comply with pertinent policies in the Hackney Local
Plan (2020), London Plan (2021) and NPPF for the reasons set out above. Accordingly, the
granting of full planning permission is recommended, subject to conditions and the
completion of a legal agreement.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation A (Full Planning application 2021/2491)

Page 53



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

8.1 That planning permission be GRANTED, subject to the following conditions:

8.1.1 SCB0 – Development in accordance with plans

The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out and completed strictly in
accordance with the submitted plans hereby approved and any subsequent approval of
details.

REASON: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is carried out in full
accordance with the plans hereby approved.

8.1.2 SCB1 – Commencement within three years

The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than three years after the date
of this permission.

REASON: In order to comply with the provisions of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended.

8.1.3 Phasing: contract for the whole scheme
No works of alteration by way of substantial partial demolition shall begin before evidence
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, of a
binding contract or a set of clearly inter-linked binding contracts for the full implementation
of the comprehensive scheme of development (and the associated planning permission for
which the contract(s) provides).

REASON:  To ensure that premature demolition does not take place and that an unsightly
gap or derelict site does not detract from the character and appearance of the retained
parts of the listed building and in accordance with Section 17 (3) (a) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.1.4 Phasing: demolition as part of single phase for whole development

The demolition works hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than as part of the
completion of development for which planning permission 2021/2491 was resolved to be
granted on 2nd February 2022 and such demolition and development shall be carried out
without interruption and in complete accordance with the plans referred to in this consent
and any subsequent approval of details.

REASON:  To ensure that premature demolition does not take place without securing the
public benefits and that an unsightly gap or derelict site does not detract from the character
and appearance of the area and in accordance with Section 17 (3) (a) of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage

Page 54



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Assets.

8.1.5 Phasing: listed building works first

Following completion of the works of repair and refurbishment to the retained parts of the
listed building at Haggerston Baths, a formal application shall be made, in writing to the
Local Planning Authority, to discharge this condition, demonstrating that the works have
been completed in accordance with the approved plans and documents (works resolved to
be granted Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent as part of applications
2021/2491 PP and 2021/2495 LBC on 2nd February 2022).  The hereby approved new
build office and workspace development shall not be occupied until this condition has been
discharged.

REASON: To ensure that the public benefits of the repair and refurbishment of the listed
building are secured and in accordance with Section 17 (3) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.1.6 Details of materials

Full details, including physical samples, of all the materials to be used on the external
surfaces of the proposed buildings, including the following:

A. The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the new buildings to the west
and to the north east of the retained listed building (including, but not limited to the
pressed metal cladding panels, brick, stone coping, metal window sills, metal railing
set back from parapet edge and the metal railing on the lightwell wall);

B. The new materials to be used on the external surfaces of the retained parts of the
listed building, (including, but not limited to, the bricks for the west facade repair and
any repair bricks).

The details shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing,
before the relevant part of the work commences on site. The development shall not be
carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus approved.

REASON: To ensure good design and to ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the
special architectural and historic interest and integrity of the building in conformity with
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and
National Planning Policy Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan
2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies
LP1 Design Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non
Designated Heritage Assets.

8.1.7 Design details to be approved

Detailed drawings and full particulars of the following for the proposed new buildings to the
west and to the north east of the retained listed building shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the relevant part of the development
commences.  The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with

Page 55



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

the details thus approved:
A. Details of window reveals in the form of 1:20 vertical and horizontal section

drawings;
B. Details of the brickwork bonds;
C. Details of windows, the glazed entrance screen, entrance and other doors, the

basement UKPN substation louvred doors and architectural metalwork (including
the high level railings and the front area railings to Swimmers’ Lane) in the form of
suitably scaled drawings showing the materials, design and dimensions;

D. Details of the proposed rooftop plant in the form of a plan and elevations, together
with manufacturer’s images (with dimensions) of the plant;

E. Details of the proposed signage to the retained listed building, the new development
and the chimney;

F. Details of the proposed recycling, waste and cycle storage areas.

REASON: To ensure good design and to ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the
special architectural and historic interest and integrity of the building in conformity with
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and
National Planning Policy Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan
2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies
LP1 Design Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non
Designated Heritage Assets.

8.1.8 Punctuations in walls and roofs

No additional punctuations in the external walls and roofs shall be permitted other than as
shown on the drawings hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.1.9 No extraneous pipework or equipment

No soil stacks, soil vent pipes, plumbing, pipes, kitchen or other flues, kitchen or other
vents or ductwork shall be fixed on the external faces of the building other than those
shown on the drawings hereby approved.  No new grilles, satellite dishes, aerials, meter
boxes, security alarms, lighting, security or other cameras or other fixtures or plant shall be
mounted on the external faces or roof of the building other than those shown on the
drawings hereby approved.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local

Page 56



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.1.10 Landscaping and Public Realm Design

Prior to commencement of the landscaping works, a detailed hard and soft landscaping
scheme illustrated on detailed drawings, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. All landscaping in accordance with the scheme, when
approved, shall be carried out within a period of twelve months from the date on which the
development of the site commences or shall be carried out in the first planting (and
seeding) season following completion of the development, and shall be maintained to the
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a period of ten years, such maintenance to
include the replacement of any plants that die, or are severely damaged, seriously
diseased, or removed.

REASON: To enhance the character, appearance and ecology of the development and
contribution to green infrastructure.

8.1.11 Use as offices only

The units shown as office units (shown as ‘WS’ or ‘MR’) on the drawings hereby approved
shall be used only as offices (Use Class E, subsection g) and for no other use which for the
avoidance of doubt shall include other uses within Class E of the Town and Country
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 or such relevant provision as from time to time may be
in force.

REASON: To protect against an unacceptable loss of office space from the site, in line with
the aims of local and regional planning policy.

8.1.12 Sustainability- BREEAM

Within 12 weeks of occupation of the development hereby approved, BREEAM
post-construction assessments  (or any assessment scheme that may replace it) for the
commercial buildings hereby approved confirming that ‘Very Good’ ratings (or another
scheme target of equivalent or better environmental performance) have been achieved
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

REASON: To ensure that the as built development achieves the reduction in baseline
regulated carbon emissions proposed within the original application.

8.1.13  Air Source Heat Pumps
Full details of location of the condenser units from the Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) (or
any other related fixed plant adopted), shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority, in writing, before any above ground development commences. The
ASHP thereby approved shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development.

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and reducing greenhouse gases.

8.1.14  Air Permeability Testing

Page 57



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a full air permeability test report
confirming the office units (Class E(g)) have achieved an air permeability of 5
m3/h/m2@50pa shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

REASON: To ensure the development meets the sustainability requirements of local and
regional policy.

8.1.15  Circular Economy Statement
Prior to the commencement of development a Circular Economy Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which will
demonstrate that the design of the development proposals is in line with the circular
economy hierarchy. The recommendations of the statement thereby approved shall be
carried out in full.

REASON: To ensure the development meets the sustainability requirements of the London
Plan.

8.1.16  Insulation and Refrigerant Materials
Prior to commencement of the relevant phase of construction, the selection of insulation
and refrigerant materials to have, wherever feasible, a low or zero Global Warming
Potential (GWP) and Zero Ozone Depleting Potential (ODP), shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and reducing greenhouse gases.

8.1.17  Demolition and Construction Management Plan
No development shall take place until a detailed Demolition and Construction Management
Plan covering the matters set out below has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be implemented in accordance
with the details and measures approved as part of the demolition and construction
management plan, which shall be maintained throughout the entire construction period.

a) A demolition and construction method statement. It will cover all phases of the
development to include details of all noise and vibration (including noise from
ancillary or temporary power supplies, details and locations of noisy activities
including mobile plant machinery) and details of the best practicable means of
mitigation employed against noise and vibration in accordance with British Standard
Code of Practice BS5228 and measures to control dust and preserve air quality
(including a risk assessment of the demolition and construction phase);

b) A detailed demolition and construction logistics plan to include the following: the
construction programme/ timescales; the number/ frequency and size of
construction vehicles; construction traffic route; location of deliveries; pedestrian and
vehicular access arrangements; any temporary road/ footway closures during the
construction period;

c) A demolition and construction waste management plan setting out how resources
will be managed and waste controlled at all stages during the construction project;

Page 58



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

d) Procedures for maintaining good public relations including complaint management,
public consultation and liaison. Arrangements for liaison with the Council’s
Community Safety Team.

REASON: To avoid hazard and obstruction being caused to users of the public highway, in
the interests of sustainability and in the interest of public safety and amenity.

8.1.18  Non-Road Mobile Machinery
All Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to and including
560kW used during the course of the demolition, site preparation and construction phases
shall comply with the emission standards set out in chapter 7 of the GLA’s supplementary
planning guidance “Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and
Demolition”dated July 2014 (SPG), or subsequent guidance. Unless it complies with the
standards set out in the SPG, no NRMM shall be on site, at any time, whether in use or not,
without the prior written consent of the local planning authority. The developer shall keep an
up to date list of all NRMM used during the demolition, site preparation and construction
phases of the development on the online register at https://nrmm.london/.

REASON: To ensure that emissions from the site during the construction phase are
acceptable with regard to public health and amenity.

8.1.19 Flood Resilience and Resistance
No development shall commence, other than works of asbestos removal and demolition,
until a report (including intrusive investigation/trial pit and monitoring where necessary)
demonstrating that the basement development will not increase the potential for
groundwater flooding to itself or to the surrounding area has been submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval. Details of appropriate controls including flood resilience
and/or resistance measures against surface water and groundwater (if identified) shall be
submitted to the LPA for approval and the approved measures incorporated before the
basement is occupied. The basement shall be constructed and completed in accordance
with the approved plans in line with BS 8102:2009 code of practice for "protection of below
ground structures against water from the ground" and current best practice.

REASON: To ensure the suitability of the development with regard to ground and surface
water flood risk.

8.1.20 Urban Drainage, Maintenance and Ownership

Prior to the commencement of work, detailed specification and a drainage layout of at least
one suitable sustainable drainage system (i.e. water butt, raingarden, bioretention planter
box, living roof (substrate depth of 80-150mm excluding the vegetative mat), permeable
paving etc.) shall be submitted to, and approved by the LPA, in consultation with the SuDS
officer. If soakaways i.e. plastic modules and soakaway rings are used, an infiltration test
must be carried out to ensure that the capacity of the soil is suitable for infiltration. The
SuDS shall aim to achieve the greenfield runoff rates (if infiltration is not feasible) and
should reduce both the volume and rate of existing runoff from the site by at least 50%. It
must be demonstrated that there will be no increase in surface water flow being discharged

Page 59

https://nrmm.london/


Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

offsite and an overall reduction in peak flow rate and volume for all return periods up to the
1 in 100 year storm events plus an allowance for climate change.

REASON: To ensure that the development will provide a sustainable drainage system.

8.1.21  Biodiverse living roof

Detailed drawings/full particulars of the proposed development showing the matters set out
below must be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing, prior
to occupation. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with
the details thus approved, which shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of
the office accommodation hereby approved.

a) a biodiverse, substrate-based extensive living roof (with a minimum substrate depth of
80mm, not including the proposed vegetative mat), including a detailed maintenance plan;

REASON: To enhance the character and ecology of the development, to provide
undisturbed refuges for wildlife and to promote sustainable urban drainage.

8.1.22  NOx Emissions
The NOx emissions standards set out in the GLA’s ‘Sustainable Design and Construction
SPG’ will be maintained on-site.

REASON: To ensure the acceptability of the scheme with respect to NOx pollution.

8.1.23  Delivery and Service Management Plan
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, a Delivery and Service
Management Plan (DSMP) specifying delivery and servicing and refuse/recycling
arrangements shall be submitted and agreed by the Local Planning Authority. Details will
include, but not be limited to, the following:

a) Utilisation of the servicing entrance on Laburnum Street (and not the main office
entrance on Swimmers Lane);

b) The number of spaces available for servicing vehicles and their delivery times
should, demonstrating that the proposed system would work within the available
space.

c) Arrangements for deliveries by lorries over 7.5 tonnes;
d) Management of delivery times away from the peak morning and afternoon hours of

0800-1000 and 1600 to 1800 on weekdays;
e) Refuse/recycling collection arrangements on an up to daily basis.

Delivery and service arrangements shall thereafter take place in accordance with the
measures identified within the DSP.

REASON: In order to ensure that the development does not prejudice the amenity of
adjoining occupiers.

8.1.24  Hours of Deliveries and Services

No deliveries to or collections from the site shall be made other than between the following
times: 07:00 hours to 21:00 hours Monday to Saturday and 11:00 hours to 13:00 hours on

Page 60



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

REASON: To protect the amenities of nearby residential properties from noise.

8.1.25 Thames Water: Foul Water Capacity

No development shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that either:
1. Foul water Capacity exists off site to serve the development, or
2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local Authority
in consultation with Thames Water. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is
agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed
development and infrastructure phasing plan, or
3. All Foul water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from the
development have been completed.

REASON: Network reinforcement works may be required to accommodate the proposed
development.

8.1.26 Thames Water: Surface Water Capacity

No development shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that either:-
1. Surface water capacity exists off site to serve the development, or;
2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local Authority
in consultation with Thames Water. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is
agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed
development and infrastructure phasing plan, or;
3. All Surface water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from
the development have been completed.

REASON: Network reinforcement works may be required to accommodate the proposed
development.

8.1.27 Contaminated land (pre-development)

Development except demolition to ground level will not commence until preliminary risk
assessment work has been undertaken and fully reported on. If required additional physical
site investigation work has been undertaken and fully reported on and a remedial action
plan has been produced to the satisfaction of and approved in writing by the Planning
Authority. Where physical site investigation work has not been agreed at a pre-application
stage further physical investigation work must be agreed with the contaminated land officer
before being undertaken. Development will not commence until all pre-development
remedial actions, set out within the remedial action plan, are complete and a corresponding
pre-development verification report has been produced to the satisfaction of and approved
in writing by the Planning Authority. Work shall be completed and reported by a competent
person/company in line with current best practice guidance, including the Council’s
contaminated land planning guidance. The Planning Authority and Contaminated Land

Page 61



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Officer must receive verbal and written notification at least five days before investigation
and remediation works commence. Subject to written approval by the Planning Authority,
this condition may be varied, or discharged in agreed phases.

REASON: To protect human health, water resources, property and the wider environment
from harm and pollution resulting from land contamination.

8.1.28 Contaminated land (pre-occupation)

Before first occupation/use of the development a post-development verification report will
be produced to the satisfaction of and approval in writing by the Planning Authority. The
verification report must fully set out any restrictions on the future use of a development and
demonstrate that arrangements have been made to inform future site users of the
restrictions. Work shall be completed and reporting produced by a competent
person/company in line with current best practice guidance, including the Council’s
contaminated land planning guidance. The Contaminated Land Officer must receive verbal
and written notification at least five days before development and remedial works
commence. Subject to written approval by the Planning Authority, this condition may be
varied, or discharged in agreed phases. Any additional, or unforeseen contamination
encountered during the course of development shall be immediately notified to the Planning
Authority and Contaminated Land Officer. All development shall cease in the affected area.
Any additional or unforeseen contamination shall be dealt with as agreed with the
Contaminated Land Officer. Where development has ceased in the affected area, it shall
re-commence upon written notification of the Planning Authority or Contaminated Land
Officer.

REASON: To protect human health, water resources, property and the wider environment
from harm and pollution resulting from land contamination.

8.1.29 Unexpected Contamination

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing within 7 days to
the Local Planning Authority and once the Local Planning Authority has identified the part of
the site affected by the unexpected contamination development must be halted on that part
of the site. An assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the
site investigation, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme, together with
a timetable for its implementation, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority in accordance with the requirements of the approved remediation
scheme. The measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be implemented in
accordance with the approved timetable. Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a validation report must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the implementation of the
remediation scheme.

REASON: To protect the end user(s) of the development, any adjacent land user(s) and the
environment from contamination

8.1.30 - Plant Noise

Page 62



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

The total noise level from fixed plants shall be 10dB(A) or more below the background
noise level at any noise sensitive premises at any time. The fixed plant shall be installed
and constructed in accordance with the approved scheme and be permanently maintained
thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that occupiers of the neighbouring premises do not suffer a loss of
amenity by reason of noise nuisance from fixed plant and machinery.

8.1.31  No Primary Cooking

The use as a cafe/all day eatery hereby permitted under Class E shall include the serving
of hot and cold drinks, sandwiches and other light refreshments for consumption on or off
the premises. No primary cooking of unprepared food shall be carried out at the site. Only
reheated or cold food that has been prepared elsewhere shall be served within the
premises.

REASON: No flue is proposed for the unit, so the restriction would ensure that occupiers of
neighbouring premises would not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of odour.

8.1.32 Noise Breakout- Commercial Premises

All sound emitted from the development, excluding plant noise, associated with this
application, shall be 10dB(A) or more below the background noise level at any noise
sensitive premises at any time.

REASON: To ensure that occupiers of neighbouring residential premises do not suffer a
loss of amenity by reason of noise nuisance.

8.1.33  Acoustic Enclosures: Extractor Fans

Prior to commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council of acoustic enclosures around the proposed extractor fans. Approved
details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be
permanently retained.

REASON: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding
premises is not adversely affected by noise from machinery and equipment

8.1.34  Anti- vibration mounts and silencing of machinery etc.

Prior to the installation on the relevant part of the development hereby approved, details of
anti-vibration measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  The
measures shall ensure that [machinery, plant/ equipment] [extract/ ventilation system and
ducting] are mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors are vibration
isolated from the casing and adequately silenced.  Approved details shall be implemented
prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.

REASON: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding

Page 63



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with Policies DM H9 and H11
of the Development Management Local Plan.

8.1.35 External doors and windows to remain shut

The use shall not commence until all external doors to the premises have been fitted with
self-closing devices, which shall be maintained in an operational condition and at no time
shall any external door nor windows be fixed in an open position.

REASON: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site/ surrounding
premises is not adversely affected by noise.

8.1.36 Floodlights and Security lights

Prior to commencement of the development, details of external artificial lighting shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Lighting contours shall be submitted to
demonstrate that the vertical illumination of neighbouring premises is in accordance with
the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Professionals in the ‘Guidance Notes For
The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011’.  Details should also be submitted for approval of
measures to minimise use of lighting and prevent glare and sky glow by correctly using,
locating, aiming and shielding luminaires. Approved details shall be implemented prior to
occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.

REASON: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by lighting.

8.1.37  Hours of use: Restaurants,  Drinking Establishments & Event Space

The restaurant, drinking establishment and event space uses within the sui generis pool
hall use hereby permitted shall only be open to the public between 08:00 and 23:00 hours,
Monday to Sunday including Bank Holidays. All patrons must leave the premises by 23:30
hours.

REASON: To ensure the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally.

8.1.38  Hours of use: Retail Premises/Cafe

The Cafe use (Class E) in the south eastern corner of the building (shown as CA on the
ground floor plan) hereby permitted shall only be open to the public between 08:00 and
22:00 hours Monday to Saturday and between 08:00 to 21:00 hours on Sundays.

REASON: To ensure the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally

8.1.39  Hours of Use: Ancillary Use Spaces

The ancillary spaces will be subject to a booking system with each space supervised along
with secure access. Access will be available on weekdays between 09:00 and 17:00 hours,

Page 64



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Monday to Fridays only.

REASON: To ensure the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally.

8.1.40  Gymnasium

The basement gym (Use Class E(d)) will be accessed by employees only during core office
hours of 09:00 and 18:00 hours. The use of the gym outside these hours by members of
the public shall be limited to the hours between 07:00 to 22:00 hours Monday to Friday and
between 09:00 to 21:00 hours on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays,

REASON: To ensure the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally.

8.1.41  Hours of Use: Terraces
The external terraces at third and fifth floor of the western building shall not be used outside
the following hours:
08:00-18:00 on Monday to Friday

REASON: To ensure that the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally.

8.1.42  Operational Management Plan
An Operational Management Plan must be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority, prior to the first use of the development. The management plan
will include but not be limited to:

- Arrangements for each of the proposed uses within the building;

- Public access to the pool hall will be enabled between at least the hours of 09:00 to 18:00
on at least five days of each week.

- Details of maximum amplified volume, to be controlled by sound limiter, at all events in the
pool hall;

- Details of the type and maximum number (by week/month/year) of proposed events in the
pool hall;

- Arrangements for queuing and smoking areas when events are taking place;

- Arrangements for dispersal of patrons after events;

- A telephone number for the on-site manager;

- A system for responding to contact from residents and managing complaints;

The use of the premises hereby approved will be strictly carried out in accordance with the
approved management plan.

Page 65



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

REASON: To ensure that occupiers of residential premises do not suffer a loss of amenity
by reason of noise nuisance and to ensure that the Customer Management Plan is
responsive to the concerns of residents.

8.1.43 Cycle Spaces

Prior to occupation of the development, details of secure and waterproof cycle storage for
86 bicycles and a further 17 Sheffield stands on Swimmers Lane, lockers and staff shower
facilities shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
cycle parking spaces and associated facilities thereby approved shall be installed before
the first occupation of the development.

REASON: To ensure that a reasonable provision is made within the site for the parking of
bicycles in the interest of relieving congestion in surrounding streets and improving highway
conditions in general.

8.1.44  Bird and Invertebrate Boxes

Prior to occupation, a minimum of five (5) bird or bat boxes or bricks will be installed, with a
variety of box/brick types suitable for use by different species. These will be maintained for
the lifespan of the development.

REASON: To ensure that suitable replacement habitats are provided for existing wildlife.

8.1.45  Secure by Design
Prior to occupation of the development, details of measures to minimise the risk of crime to
meet the specific security needs of the application site/development (as informed by the
principles of Secured by Design), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, in consultation with a Metropolitan Police Secure by Design Officer.
Once approved the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details and thereafter maintained as such.

REASON: To ensure satisfactory living and working standards and safeguard against
potential crime and anti-social behaviour.

8.1.46  Archaeology (Written Scheme of Investigation)
No demolition or development shall take place until a stage 1 written scheme of
investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in
writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no demolition or development shall take
place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI, and the programme and methodology
of site evaluation and the nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake
the agreed works.

If heritage assets of archaeological interest are identified by stage 1 then for those parts of
the site which have archaeological interest a stage 2 WSI shall be submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority in writing. For land that is included within the stage
2 WSI, no demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance with the
agreed stage 2 WSI which shall include:

Page 66



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

A. The statement of significance and research objectives, the programme and methodology
of site investigation and recording and the nomination of a competent person(s) or
organisation to undertake the agreed works
B. Where appropriate, details of a programme for delivering related positive public benefits.
C.The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, publication
& dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be
discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set
out in the stage 2 WSI.

REASON: The site is within an Archaeological Priority Area and the proposed basement
excavation may unearth significant remains.

8.1.46 Prior to the occupation of the office floorspace (shown as ‘WS’ or ‘MR’) on the drawings
hereby approved, a detailed ‘Discounted Workspace Statement’ shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The use shall not be carried out
otherwise than in accordance with the details thereby approved.

REASON: To ensure that the office use provides entry level provision for workers and
businesses, in line with the employment policies of the local plan.

Recommendation B (Listed Building Consent  2020/2684)

8.2 That Listed Building Consent be GRANTED, subject to the following conditions:

8.2.1 SCB0 – Development in accordance with plans
The Development hereby permitted shall only be carried out and completed strictly in
accordance with the submitted plans hereby approved and any subsequent approval of
details.

REASON: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is carried out in full
accordance with the plans hereby approved.

8.2.2 Commencement within 3 years
The Development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of three
years beginning with the date of this consent.

REASON: In order to comply with the provisions of Section 18(a) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended.

8.2.3 Conditions meeting

Before any works to the listed building begin, a site meeting shall be held between the
Local Planning Authority and the persons responsible for undertaking the works to ensure
that the conditions attached to the Listed Building Consent are understood and can be
complied with in full.  Notification of the date and time of a meeting shall be made in writing

Page 67



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

to the Local Planning Authority.  Minutes of the meeting shall be submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in conformity with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.4 Preliminary works plan

Before any works to the listed building begin, a Preliminary Works Plan shall be submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, and the works carried out in
complete accordance with the approved Preliminary Works Plan and not otherwise.  The
Preliminary Works Plan shall state the proposed sequence of the following works and
provide brief details of the activities under each heading:

A. Asbestos removal (full details to be provided in the Asbestos Removal Method
Statement as part of another condition);

B. Historic features protection (full details to to be provided in the Historic Features
Protection Method Statement as part of another condition);

C. Sorting and clearance of items not attached to the building including a proposed
salvage and reuse strategy for any significant items;

D. Scaffolding of the building internally and externally (including details of how the
scaffolding will be attached to the building);

E. Urgent works which are marked as “Immediate Action, Further Investigations and
Required action within 12 months” at Paragraph 1.2 Summary of Recommendations
on page 2 of the Condition Survey (Donald Insall Associates, February 2019);

F. Preliminary structural survey (including details of the necessary intrusive
investigations, opening up works and trial pits including their locations and scale);

G. Timber survey (full details to be provided in the timber survey as part of another
condition);

H. Revised condition survey of previously inaccessible areas (full details to be provided
in the condition survey as part of another condition);

I. Historic recording of the basement area and the significant plant within it (full details
to be provided in the Basement, Plant and Columns Method Statement as part of
another condition);

J. Revised schedule of works (including details of the removal of insignificant items
attached to the building (strip out) and a proposed salvage and reuse strategy for
significant items attached to the building, full details to be provided in the revised
schedule of works as part of another condition);

K. Any other preliminary works.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and

Page 68



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.5 Asbestos Removal Method Statement

Before any works to the listed building begin, an Asbestos Removal Method Statement
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Method
Statement shall identify the items and elements to be removed, detail the methods to be
used and detail any consequential works affecting the historic fabric of building which result
from removal.  It shall include details of the proposed methods for asbestos removal in
relation to the retained plant (including one Lancashire boiler (which one to be approved),
one Green’s economiser, one water heater (which one to be approved), a sample of roof
tank panels (which ones and how many to be approved) and the nine cast iron basement
columns).  The works shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the
approved Method Statement.

REASON: To understand and control the potential impact on the historic fabric of the
building during the asbestos removal process and to ensure that special regard is paid to
protecting the special architectural and historic interest and integrity of the building in
accordance with Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The
London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan
2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets
and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.6 Historic features protection method statement

Before the start of works (other than asbestos removal works) a Historic Features
Protection Method Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  This shall include detailed drawings or specifications showing the
method by which the existing significant internal historic features (other than  are to be
protected during building works so as to ensure their retention.  The development and
works shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus approved.

REASON: To ensure that those features that contribute to the special architectural and
historic interest of the building are retained and in accordance with Sections 16 and 17 (1)
(a) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National
Planning Policy Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021
Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1
Design Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non
Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.7 Revised structural survey report

Notwithstanding the approved plans and documents, before the start of the relevant part of
the works a detailed Revised Structural Survey Report shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This shall detail how the retained parts of the
listed building stand and what issues there are known to be as a result of the intrusive
investigations, opening up works and trial pits carried out as part of the Preliminary Works.

Page 69



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

The works shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved Revised
Structural Survey Report.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.8 Timber decay report and method statement

Before the start of the relevant part of the works a detailed Timber Decay Report and
Method Statement with full particulars of the proposals for the treatment of dry rot, other
timber decay and timber infestation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  The works shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance
with the approved Method Statement.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.9 Revised condition survey

Before the start of the relevant part of the works a detailed Revised Condition Survey of the
retained parts of the listed building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  The Revised Condition Survey shall assess the condition of those
elements of the building which were previously inaccessible (including high level walls and
roof areas) at the time of the planning applications.  The works shall not be carried out
otherwise than in accordance with the approved Revised Condition Survey.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.10 Revised schedule of works

Notwithstanding the approved plans and documents, before the start of the relevant part of
the works a Revised Schedule of Works of the retained parts of the listed building shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Revised

Page 70



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Schedule of Works shall include floor plans with rooms identified by letter and number and
a set of tables showing the significance, condition and nature of what exists together with
proposals for each room detailing all the proposed works to floors, walls, ceilings and other
room contents including works of stripping out, repair and replacement with details of
proposed materials and methods.  The works shall not be carried out otherwise than in
accordance with the approved Revised Schedule of Works.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.11 Basement, plant and columns method statements

Before any works (including Preliminary Works) to or affecting the basement area of the
listed building and the significant plant within it begin, the following shall be submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, and the works carried out in
complete accordance with the approved details and not otherwise:

A. A Basement, Plant and Columns Historic Building Recording Method Statement
detailing the physical scope of the recording, the contractor and personnel to be
used, the further archival or other research to be conducted, the methodology
(whether sketching, plan or other drawings, photographs, visual inspection, 3D laser
scanning, the use of point cloud etc.), the format for presentation (including the
layout of text and photos and the technical format and means of transmission of any
digital data), details of how the report will address the required standard and the
proposed method of submission to the Greater London Historic Environment Record
and Hackney Archives;

B. The basement area of the listed building which is to be demolished and the
significant plant within it shall be subject to a full historic building recording in
accordance with the approved Basement, Plant and Columns Historic Building
Recording Method Statement and to the standard indicated in the Historic England
guidance document Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good Recording
Practice (Historic England, May 2016). The recording should be at Level 3 as
described in Paragraph 5.3 and the record disseminated and published as
described in Paragraphs 6.2 and 6.3 of that document.  The completed record shall
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing, and shall
then be submitted to the Greater London Historic Environment Record and Hackney
Archives and evidence of this submission be provided to the Local Planning
Authority in writing;

C. A Basement, Plant and Columns Works Method Statement which shall include
details of the proposed sequence of tasks and method for works to the other plant
and columns (including one Lancashire boiler (which one to be approved), one
Green’s economiser, one water heater (which one to be approved), a sample of roof
tank panels (which ones and how many to be approved) and the nine cast iron
basement columns, hereafter “the retained plant”) including a Condition Survey,

Page 71



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

dismantling, cleaning, storing (with details of the location and person responsible if
off site) and reassembling;

D. A Basement, Plant and Columns Display and Interpretation Method Statement
which shall include details of the proposed location, display and historical
interpretation of the retained plant.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to recording the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building, particularly including those areas and items
which are proposed to be demolished or relocated, under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.12 Structural engineer’s report: demolition and excavation

Before the start of the relevant part of the works, proposals for any structural works shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried
out accordingly.  The required detail is the submission of a detailed report and method
statement by a suitably qualified and experienced chartered structural engineer, addressing
the following areas:

A. Detailing the engineer’s qualifications, relevant experience and supervisory role;
B. Detailing the method by which the retained historic building is to be supported and

protected during the works so as to ensure the structural stability and integrity of all
the elements which are to be retained (the temporary works).  To include details of
how the chimney will be safeguarded during the adjacent demolition;

C. Detailing the methods to be used for any demolition and confirming how damage to
the retained historic structure will be avoided and how the safety and stability of the
retained historic building will be ensured in the context of adjacent underpinning and
pile driving;

D. Detailing the structural interventions to ensure that the retained historic building will
stand in the future, including details (for example and not limited to) of any new
foundation design, underpinning, steelwork and other strengthening and their
locations and methods of fixing and installation, adaptations to the retained parts of
the listed building including removed internal walls and new openings in walls and
the pool hall ceiling, the new opening in the Women;s Second Class Slipper Baths
area, steelwork repairs and cathodic protection, with sketches as necessary (the
permanent works).

All excavation and structural works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
details so approved.  No other excavation or structural works are authorised by this consent
without prior approval of the details.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

Page 72



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

8.2.13 Design details to be approved (external)

Before the start of the relevant part of the works, detailed drawings and full particulars of
the following details to be used on the retained parts of the listed building shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall not
be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus approved:

A. Details of the proposed new Pool Hall lantern;
B. Details of the proposed south elevation front skylight replacing the existing coal

doors;
C. A rooflights schedule, clarifying which rooflights are historic and which modern,

which are to be replaced and which repaired or upgraded, together with details of
any replacements, repair or thermal or other upgrading;

D. A window schedule, clarifying which windows are historic and which modern, which
are to be replaced and which repaired or upgraded together with details of any
replacements, repair or thermal or other upgrading;

E. Details of window replacing the existing door on the front elevation;
F. Details of all new or replacement external doors including to the front cafe, the two

front entrances and the main north rear doors and other doors on north elevation;
G. Details of new, repaired and replacement roof coverings, with materials and

dimensions shown on typical section drawings, especially where thermal upgrading
is proposed;

H. Details of the replaced dormer to the existing caretaker’s flat
I. Details of new roof plant including access equipment, including gantries;
J. Details of all vents, flues and extracts;
K. Details of the junction between the new and old buildings on the west and north

elevations;
L. Details of the junction between the existing chimney and new building;
M. Details of all rainwater goods;
N. Details of pigeon deterrence measures;
O. Details of any lightning conductor;
P. Details of external lighting scheme.

REASON: To ensure good design and to ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the
special architectural and historic interest and integrity of the building in conformity with
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and
National Planning Policy Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan
2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies
LP1 Design Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non
Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.14 Design details to be approved (internal)

Before the start of the relevant part of the works, detailed drawings and full particulars of
the following details of proposed works to the retained parts of the listed building shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall not
be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus approved:

A. Structural details of the proposed pool pavilion especially the junction with the
existing pool fabric together with details of the proposed void former and membrane;

B. Details of any proposed flooring to the pool and tiling to the pool walls;

Page 73



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

C. Details of the proposed mirror surface material to the pool pavilion;
D. Details of the new pool steps, the railings around the pool and the railing to the

balcony;
E. Details of works to restore the existing first floor slipper baths area;
F. Details of all new and replacement fireplaces;
G. Details of all internal joinery, especially any new doors, skirting boards, dado rails,

picture rails, cornices etc;
H. Details of the proposed services in the form of a set of services drawings showing

the nature and location of services and how they will be threaded through the
building;

I. Details of any proposed damp proofing works;

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in conformity with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, July 2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and
Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage
Assets.

8.2.15 Method Statements

Before the start of the relevant part of the work, the following Method Statements shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, and the works
carried out in complete accordance with the approved Method Statements and not
otherwise:

A. A Pool Hall Plasterwork Method Statement providing details of all proposed works to
the Pool Hall plasterwork including any removal, replacement, thermal and acoustic
upgrading;

B. A Cupola Method Statement detailing the repairs to the roof tower, the cupola and
the ship weathervane, with details of the materials and methods to be used;

C. A Brick and Stonework Method Statement for the repair of external brickwork and
stonework including brick and stone repair and replacement, rebedding, re-pointing
etc.;

D. A Cleaning Method Statement for the cleaning of external brickwork and stonework
(if any);

E. A Chimney Method Statement for structural and repair works to the chimney;
F. An Architectural Metalwork Method Statement for repair of historic external railings

to front, rear and upper levels;
G. A Boardroom Method Statement providing details of all the proposed works to this

room including the proposed fireplace and panelling;
H. An Entrance Hall Method Statement providing details of all the proposed works to

this room including works to the floor;
I. A Flooring Schedule and Method Statement identifying where historic parquet and

granolithic floors survive in a reusable state and all works to floors;
J. A Door Schedule, clarifying which internal doors are historic and which modern,

which are to be replaced and which repaired or fire rated and the works proposed;

Page 74



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

K. A Glazed Brick Method Statement for the removal of paint from glazed brick areas
internally, staircases and wherever there is glazed brick including the pool hall lower
level wall;

L. An Internal Brick Cleaning Method Statement for the cleaning of other brickwork e.g.
in basement;

M. A Ceiling Schedule and Method Statement clarifying which ceilings are lath and
plaster and which are to be replaced and which repaired or fire rated and the works
proposed.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.16 Structural variation

In the event that a variation is proposed from the structural interventions hereby approved,
full details of the varied structural interventions shall be submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority, in writing, before the relevant part of the work commences on site.
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus
approved.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.17 Building Control variation

In the event that a variation is proposed from the works hereby approved, as a result of
discussions with Building Control and the requirement to meet Building Regulations, full
details of the variations to the works shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority, in writing, before the relevant part of the work commences on site. The
development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus
approved.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.18 Minor design variation

Page 75



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

In the event that a variation is proposed from the works hereby approved, in relation to
minor works of internal alteration to the retained parts of the listed building (but not any
works of demolition or extension), full details of the proposed variations to the works shall
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing, before the
relevant part of the work commences on site. The development shall not be carried out
otherwise than in accordance with the details thus approved.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.19 Basement, Plant and Columns retention

The retained plant (including the approved parts of one Lancashire boiler, the approved
parts of one Green’s economiser, the approved parts of one water heater, the approved
sample of roof tank panels and the nine cast iron basement columns) together with any
approved display and historical interpretation, shall remain and be retained in situ within the
approved location in perpetuity.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.20 New discoveries

During the works, if hidden historic features are revealed they shall be retained in-situ.
Works shall be halted in the relevant area of the building and the Local Planning Authority
shall be notified immediately.  Failure to do so may result in unauthorised works being
carried out and an offence being committed.

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2.21 Bedding, pointing and rendering to be in lime

All rebuilt and reinstated brickwork shall be bedded, pointed and rendered using a lime
based mortar consisting of 1 part lime to 3 parts sand.  Cementitious mortars shall not be
used.  Pointing shall be in a slightly (2/3mm) recessed style and not flush, bucket handle,
ribbon, weatherstruck or raised pointing.

Page 76



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

REASON: To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and
historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy
Framework, June 2019, Paragraphs 184 to 202; The London Plan, Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth Part C; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design
Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated
Heritage Assets.

8.2.22 Works to match existing

All new works, and works of making good to the retained fabric, whether internal or
external, shall be finished to match the original work with regard to the methods used and
to material, dimensions, composition, form, colour, finish and profile, and in the case of
brickwork, facebond and pointing.

REASON: In accordance with Section 17 (1) (b) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and to ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the
special architectural and historic interest and integrity of the building in accordance with
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and
National Planning Policy Framework, June 2019, Paragraphs 184 to 202; The London Plan,
Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth Part C; and Hackney Local Plan 2033,
Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4
Non Designated Heritage Assets.

8.2 Recommendation C

8.2 That the above recommendation is subject to completion of a Legal Agreement which
secures the following matters to the satisfaction of the Head of Planning and the Director of
Legal and Governance Services.

Highways and Transportation

● Car Free Agreement – to restrict new business uses of the development from obtaining
parking permits to park in the surrounding CPZ bays.

● Travel Plan and Travel Plan monitoring fee of £5,000.
● A contribution towards Highways Works of £46,681.59
● Removal of two parking bays (one on Laburnum Street, one on Whiston Road) to

provide on-street cycle parking for 30 cycles. The estimated cost is £13,500.
● A contribution of £8750 towards Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLOCS)

and Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) monitoring

Page 77



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

● Provision of a Parking Design Statement within the Travel Plan, identifying 2 on-street
disabled parking bays, located as close as possible to the entrance areas (under 50
metres) and to be provided prior to occupation of the development.

Hackney Works Contribution

● A Ways into Work contribution of £35,138.25  towards Construction and Demolition and
£251,086.44 towards End Use.

Employment, Skills and Construction

● Employment and Skills Plan to be submitted and approved prior to implementation;
● Active programme for recruiting and retaining apprentices and as a minimum take on at

least one apprentice per £2 million of construction contract value and provide the
Council with written information documenting that programme within seven days of a
written request from the Council; Commitment to the Council’s local labour and
construction initiatives (30% on site employment and 30% local labour for first five years
of operational phase) in compliance with an Employment and Skills Plan.

● Quarterly Labour returns through 5 year period
● A support fee of £1,500 per apprentice placement in order to cover; pre-employment,

recruitment process, post-employment mentoring and support; and
● If the length of the build/project does not allow for an apprenticeship placement, and it

can be demonstrated that all reasonable endeavours have been undertaken to deliver
the apprenticeship, a £7,000 fee per apprentice will be payable to allow for the creation
of alternative training opportunities elsewhere in the borough.

● Considerate Constructor Scheme – the applicant to carry out all works in keeping with
the National Considerate Constructor Scheme.

Discounted Workspace

● The agreed Discounted Workspace to be provided in perpetuity

Carbon Offset Payment

● A Carbon Offset Payment of £350,550

Payment in Lieu for Open Space

● £194,633. To reflect the underprovision of on-site open space by 1696m2.

Retention of heritage supervision

● Donald Insall Associates shall be retained as the heritage consultants with oversight of
the works up to the time of practical completion.

Retention of design team

Page 78



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

● Squire and Partners shall be retained as the architects with supervision of the works up
to the time of practical completion.

Securing heritage benefits

● Areas of the development to be identified as Phase 1 and areas as Phase 2. The works
to restore the retained parts of the listed building will be Phase 1 and the new office
building should be Phase 2. Phase 1 should be completed to the satisfaction of the
Council prior to the occupation of Phase 2.

Costs

● Payment by the landowner/developer of all the Council’s legal and other relevant fees,
disbursements and Value Added Tax in respect of the proposed negotiations and
completion of the proposed Legal Agreement, payable prior to completion of the deed.

● Monitoring costs payable on completion of the agreement.

8.3.1 Recommendation D

That the Sub-Committee grants delegated authority to the Director of Public Realm and
Head of Planning  (or in their absence either the Growth Team Manager or DM and
Enforcement Manager)  to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the
recommended heads of terms and/or recommended conditions as set out in this report
provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the Chair (or in their
absence the Vice-Chair) of the Sub-Committee (who may request that such alterations,
additions or deletions be first approved by the Sub-Committee).

9.0 INFORMATIVES

A reason for approval is required quoting all the Local Plan and London Plan policies listed
at sections 5 of this report. In addition the following informatives should be added:

SI.2   Work Affecting Public Highway
SI.3   Sanitary, Ventilation and Drainage Arrangements
SI.6   Control of Pollution (Clean Air, Noise, etc.)
SI.25 Disabled Person’s Provisions
SI.27 Fire Precautions Act
SI.28 Refuse Storage and Disposal Arrangements
SI.34 Landscaping
SI.45 The Construction (Design & Management) Regulations 1994
SI.48 Soundproofing

The applicant must seek the continual advice of the Metropolitan Police Service Designing
out Crime Officers (DOCOs) to achieve accreditation. The services of MPS DOCOs are
available free of charge and can be contacted via docomailbox.ne@met.police.uk.

Page 79



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

Written schemes of investigation will need to be prepared and implemented by a suitably
qualified professionally accredited archaeological practice in accordance with Historic
England’s Guidelines for Archaeological Projects in Greater London. This condition is
exempt from deemed discharge under schedule 6 of The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

NSI Thames Water Informatives
The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Water's underground
assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures
are not taken. Please read our guide ‘working near our assets’ to ensure your workings are
in line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you’re considering working above
or near our pipes or other
structures.https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-your-dev
elopment/Working-nearor-diverting-our-pipes. Should you require further information please
contact Thames Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009
3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to 5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services,
Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB

Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx
1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Water's pipes.
The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed
development.

NSI  The best practical means available in accordance with British Standard Code of
Practice BS5228 shall be employed at all times to minimise the emission of noise from the
site.

NSI  Construction activities audible at the facade of the nearest noise sensitive premises
shall only be carried out between the specified hours: Monday to Friday 08:00-18:00 hours;
Saturdays 08:00-13:00 hours; at no time on Sundays and Public Holidays unless otherwise
agreed in prior consent to the Local Authority under the provisions of Section 61 of the
Control of Pollution Act 1974.

Signed………………………………. Date………………………………….

ALED RICHARDS
Director, Public Realm

Page 80



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

NO
.

BACKGROUND PAPERS NAME/DESIGNATION
AND TELEPHONE
EXTENSION OF
ORIGINAL COPY

LOCATION CONTACT
OFFICER

1. Application documents and
LBH policies/guidance referred
to in this report are available for
inspection on the Council's
website.

Policy/guidance from other
authorities/bodies referred to in
this report are available for
inspection on the website of the
relevant authorities/bodies

Other background papers
referred to in this report are
available for inspection upon
request to the officer named in
this section.

All documents that are material
to the preparation of this report
are referenced in the report

Nick Bovaird x8291 2 Hillman Street, London E8
1FB

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be 
checked on site. All omissions and discrepancies to be 
reported to the Architect immediately

This work is copyright and shall not be reproduced or used 
for any other purpose without the written permission of 
Squire and Partners.

Title

Project

The Department Store
248 Ferndale Road, London SW9 8FR
T: 020 7278 5555

Drawing Number

Status

Description

Key Plan

Scale @ ISO A1 Job Number

Revision

info@squireandpartners.com
www.squireandpartners.com

Date Drn/Chk Rev

Date

N

1 : 1250

Haggerston Baths

Site Location Plan

18099-SQP-XX-00-DR-A-PL001

1809917/01/2020

1 : 1250

Site Location Plan
1

Boundary Line

0 25 50 75 100 125 m

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE
02/02/2022

ADDENDUM SHEET

ITEM 5: Haggerston Baths, Whiston Road. Application numbers 2021/2491 and 2021/2495

16 further objections have been received, of which 8 were from objectors who had not
before contacted us. The objections were on the following grounds:

● The height of the western extension will also harm neighbours' enjoyment of the listed
building.

● Impact of deliveries on school children, particularly those of Bridge Academy across
Laburnum Street and Haggerston Road.

● Rooms assessed as bedrooms in the daylight/sunlight report are now in use as offices by
residents.

● Hackney Council has an interest in the decision and will be biased in its consideration of
the application.

● The proposal will create a wind tunnel effect down Swimmers Lane.

As such, paragraph 6.11 (Consultee responses) should include the following additional
information:

● The height of the western extension will also harm neighbours' enjoyment of the listed
building.
Officer’s Response: Loss of a view from a residential building is not grounds to refuse this
application).

● Impact of deliveries on school children, particularly those of Bridge Academy across
Laburnum Street and Haggerston Road.
Officer’s Response: A delivery and servicing plan is required by condition, which will ensure
that impacts are minimised in an acceptable way.

● Rooms assessed as bedrooms in the daylight/sunlight report are now in use as offices by
residents
Officer’s Response: The common use of residential spaces as de facto offices/workspaces
during the day is understood, however offices are considered less important than residential
spaces in terms of the amount of daylight and sunlight they receive, so this would not alter
the findings of the report.

● Hackney Council has an interest in the decision and will be biased in its consideration of
the application.
Officer’s Response: The proposal is assessed against relevant planning policies, guidelines
and material planning considerations.  LB. Hackney and the members of the planning
sub-committee are commonly called upon to make decisions on Council owned schemes,

1Page 85



of which this is not one in the usual sense, and do so in a manner befitting their
professional responsibilities and the public interest.

● The proposal will create a wind tunnel effect down Swimmers Lane.
Officer’s Response: A building of the height proposed does not require a wind report to be
submitted and assessed. It is considered that the relationship between the proposed and
existing buildings is relatively typical and would not have a significant impact in terms of
wind.

Paragraph 6.2.13 should be amended to reflect a higher level of Discounted Workspace,
changing from 233sqm to 531sqm, and greater clarity from the applicants in relation to the
use of the employment floorspace:
6.2.13 The applicant has entered into discussions over scheme viability with the Borough and it is

accepted that the costs of restoring the listed building are high. The proposal under the
application lost to the cyber attack (2020/0357) is replicated in this application, being the
provision of 10% discounted workspace (531sqm), which would be leased at 80% market
rate and captured within the s106 legal agreement.  This would have met the relevant
Affordable Workspace policy target prior to the adoption of the recent Local Plan 2033
policies and it is also accepted that the site is located in an area that is not likely to see
such high rental rates as in other areas of the Borough, such as Town Centres or the
designated Priority Office Areas. 190sqm of Maker Spaces provided within the basement
would also be provided at a discounted rate but this would be supplementary to the above
offer and additional to it. A condition has been recommended requiring a detailed
Discounted Workspace Statement prior to occupation, as is envisaged by the draft
statement the applicants have provided.

Paragraphs 6.4.41 and 6.4.42 are erroneous, referring to a different scheme, and are
therefore removed:
6.4.41 Landscaping

6.4.42 The general layout of the landscaping is considered acceptable, functioning as shared
space for the commercial and residential elements of the scheme within a central courtyard.
It would also provide planting and defensible space in front of the proposed residential
windows. The details of the design, including the proposed lighting scheme, have not been
submitted and so conditions have been recommended in this regard.

Paragraph 6.4.3 should be amended to refer to the following sections of legislation and
paragraphs of the NPPF:
6.4.3 Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires

that the Local Planning Authority, when considering applications for works to a listed
building requiring Listed Building Consent, to “have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses”.  Section 66 of the same Act requires that the Local Planning
Authority, when considering applications for planning permission which “affects a listed
building or its setting” to “have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.
Paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that “when
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any

2Page 86



potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its
significance.’  NPPF Paragraph 202 states that, “where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal”.

Paragraph 6.4.46 should be amended to refer to the following sections of legislation and
paragraphs of the NPPF:
6.4.46 Subject to the recommended details, it is considered that the proposal would achieve an

acceptable standard of design that would enhance the townscape and the setting of
neighbouring conservation areas and thereby achieve the design aspirations of local and
regional policy. The Local Planning Authority considers that overall the proposed
development and works cause less than substantial harm (in terms of the NPPF Para 202
test) to the significance of the listed building.  This harm is considered to be outweighed by
the public benefits of the scheme, discussed elsewhere in this report, including the reuse
and restoration of the building.  In reaching this conclusion the Local Planning Authority has
had regard to its duties under Sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Paragraph 6.6.17 is additional and erroneous and should be deleted:
6.6.17 The current cycle parking proposal provides 114 cycle parking spaces. These consist of 86

long-stay spaces and 28 short-stay spaces. The long-stay cycle parking includes: 8 x
Sheffield stands (16 spaces) 1 x accessible stand (2 spaces) 22 x two-tier stands (44
spaces) and 24 x foldable bike lockers. For the visitor cycle parking, 14 x Sheffield stands
are proposed to provide 28 spaces.

Paragraph 6.6.18 refers to 36 visitor cycle spaces on Swimmers Lane, rather than the 34
proposed and should be amended to read:
6.6.18 The cycle parking proposal provides 114 cycle parking spaces. These consist of 86

long-stay spaces and 28 short-stay spaces. The long-stay cycle parking includes: 8 x
Sheffield stands (16 spaces) 1 x accessible stand (2 spaces) 22 x two-tier stands (44
spaces) and 24 x foldable bike lockers. For the visitor cycle parking, 17 x Sheffield stands
are proposed to provide 34 spaces.

Following comments from independent advisors (RPS) in respect of the energy and
sustainability of the scheme, the following additional condition is recommended:
8.2.23: Overheating

Prior to first occupation of the office floorspace (shown as WS on the plans) hereby
approved, a Dynamic Overheating Analysis to assess the overheating risk shall be
undertaken by a qualified assessor and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This assessment should include but not be limited to the following:

1) It will follow the CIBSE TM52 methodology for the London Design Summer Year 1
(DSY1) weather file: 2020s, High emission, 50% percentile scenario;

2) It will also investigate the risk of overheating using the DSY 2 & 3 weather files.
The measures thereby agreed shall be retained and the development maintained in that
condition thereafter.

REASON: In order for the development to demonstrate an adequate response to climate
change and climate change adaptation

3Page 87



Following comments from independent advisors (RPS) in respect of the energy and
sustainability of the scheme, condition 8.1.13 is amended to read:
8.1.13  Air Source Heat Pumps

Full details of location and design of the condenser units from the Air Source Heat Pumps
(ASHP) (or any other related fixed plant adopted), shall be submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority, in writing, before any above ground development commences.
The details submitted shall also include:

1) Design of a Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) strategy to extend the
ASHP systems to provide heating and cooling to all areas, or;

2) A clear demonstration of why such a design would not be feasible in this instance.
The ASHP thereby approved shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development.

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and reducing greenhouse gases.

Following review of further Fire Strategy information by the Borough’s Building Control
Officer, the following additional condition is recommended:
8.2.24 Fire Strategy

A full Fire Strategy shall be submitted prior to commencement of the development
(excluding asbestos removal) demonstrating in detail how the measures in the Fire
Statement Policy D12 dated 9th December 2021 by Squire and Partners will be
implemented into the design of the building and to provide further details in respect of fire
safety. The measures thereby approved shall be carried out in full and maintained
throughout the lifespan of the development.

REASON: To ensure that the development incorporates the necessary fire safety measures
in accordance with London Plan Policy D12.

Paragraph 8.13 is amended to read as follows:
8.1.3 Phasing: contract for the whole scheme

No works of alteration by way of substantial partial demolition shall begin before evidence,
including proof of funds and evidence of the requests for tender for the full implementation
of the comprehensive scheme of development (and the associated planning permission for
which the contract(s) provides), have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local authority. Thereafter, additional evidence of appointing a contractor must be submitted
until such time that binding contracts for works have been entered into and no occupation
of the office units hereby approved shall be permitted until evidence of these binding
contracts have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON:  To ensure that premature demolition does not take place and that an unsightly
gap or derelict site does not detract from the character and appearance of the retained
parts of the listed building and in accordance with Section 17 (3) (a) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

Following further discussions with the Borough’s Drainage Team, condition 8.1.20 is
amended to read:
8.1.20 Urban Drainage, Maintenance and Ownership

Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans and documents hereby approved, prior to
commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit full details of a sustainable
drainage system supported by appropriate drawings, hydraulic modelling, calculations,

4Page 88



construction details and a maintenance and management plan for the drainage system, for
approval by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The sustainable drainage system shall
aim to achieve the greenfield runoff rates with the use of above ground green SuDS as
prescribed in the London Plan for all return periods up to the 1 in 100 year storm events
plus an allowance for climate change. The development shall not commence until written
confirmation has been received from the LPA, confirming approval of the surface water
drainage measures.

REASON: To ensure that the development will provide a sustainable drainage system.

Following clarification from the Environmental Protection Team, condition 8.1.39 is deleted,
since it refers to measures that are already covered within the submitted draft Operational
Management Plan in respect of the basement maker spaces and is considered unnecessary:
8.1.39  Hours of Use: Ancillary Use Spaces

The ancillary spaces will be subject to a booking system with each space supervised along
with secure access. Access will be available on weekdays between 09:00 and 17:00 hours,
Monday to Fridays only.

REASON: To ensure the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally.

Signed………………………………. Date………………………………….

ALED RICHARDS
Director, Public Realm

5Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

ADDRESS: 1-10 Purcell Street, London, N1 6RD

WARD: Hoxton East and Shoreditch REPORT AUTHOR: James Clark

APPLICATION NUMBER: 2021/3009 VALID DATE: 07-10-2021

DRAWING NUMBERS:
AD/H432-1-10 Purcell Street-01; AD/H432-1-10 Purcell Street-02; AD/H432-1-10 Purcell
Street-03 REV A; AD/H432-1-10 Purcell Street-04 REV B; Veka M70 colour chart; Veka Matrix
70 Specification Sheet
APPLICANT:
London Borough of Hackney
Property & Asset Management
Jacqueline Thompson

AGENT:
Mrs Ann Fan
Mulalley & Company Ltd

PROPOSAL: Replacement of existing windows, doors and panelling.

POST SUBMISSION REVISIONS: None

RECOMMENDATION SUMMARY: Grant planning permission, subject to conditions.

NOTE TO MEMBERS: None.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE:

Major application

Substantial level of objections received

Other (in accordance with the Planning Sub-Committee Terms of Reference) Yes

ANALYSIS INFORMATION

ZONING DESIGNATION
Yes No

CPZ F
Conservation Area X
Listed Building (Statutory) X
Listed Building (Local) X
Priority Employment Area X

LAND USE Use Class Use Description Floorspace Sqm
Existing C3 A block of flats N/A
Proposed No Change No Change N/A

1Page 91

Agenda Item 6



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022
CASE OFFICER’S REPORT

1.0 SITE CONTEXT

1.1 The application site is located to the northeast of the junction between Purcell
Street and Pitfield Street.

1.2 The site consists of a four-storey block of flats with balconies on the western
elevation and walkways on the eastern elevation. Both the eastern and western
elevations have a variety of brown bottom hung casement windows.

1.3 There are no locally or statutory listed buildings in the surrounding area and the
closest conservation area is Hoxton Street located some distance to the east of the
site. The surrounding area is characterised by residential blocks with two other
buildings of a matching architectural style to the east of the site. Notably, four of
these already have permission for the replacement of the timber window with
UPVC equivalents.

2.0 RELEVANT HISTORY

2.1 1-10 Purcell Street:
2021/1385 - Replacement of existing windows. Granted at committee - 13/10/2021

11-20 Purcell Street:
2021/1381 - Replace uPVC windows with uPVC double glazed windows. Colour
rosewood. Granted under delegated powers - 29/06/2021

2021/2853 - Replace existing timber windows and doors with uPVC double glazed
windows and doors, colour Rosewood. Granted under delegated powers -
10/11/2021

1.1 21-30 Purcell Street:
2021/1391 - Replacement of windows to front and rear elevations. Granted under
delegated powers - 30/06/2021.

2021/2864 - Replace existing timber windows and doors with uPVC double glazed
windows and doors, colour Rosewood. Granted at committee - 12/01/2022

1.2 31-40 Purcell Street:
2021/1394 - Replacement of the existing windows on the front and rear elevations.
Granted at delegated level - 28/06/2021

2021/2852 - Replace existing timber windows and doors with uPVC double glazed
windows and doors. Granted at delegated level - 17/09/2021

3.0 CONSULTATIONS

3.1 Date Statutory Consultation Period Started: 19/10/2021

3.2 Date Statutory Consultation Period Ended: 04/01/2022

2Page 92



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022
Officer note: Consultation letters were originally sent on 19th October, however
occupants of the 1-10 Purcell Street stated these letters were not received. A
second round of consultation letters were sent on 10th December.

3.3 Site Notice: Yes.

3.4 Press Advert: Not required.

3.5 Neighbours

3.5.1 Letters of consultation were sent to 10 adjoining owners/occupiers.

3.5.2 At the time of writing the report, objections in the form of 2 written letters of
objection had been received. This representation is summarised below:

● Concerns relating to the previous approval as it did not seem viable to
replace the windows without replacing the wider structure including
panelling and doors (Officer note: This is not a material planning
consideration).

● The proposal would replace the stairwell windows however as the stairwell
is not heated these works are not necessary. (Officer note: This is not a
material planning consideration).

● Opposition to the use of plastic windows as the existing timber are
considered to be of sufficient quality

● Lack of consultation or attempts to reach people prior to submission (Officer
note: This is not a material planning consideration).

● Claims that the leaseholders are against the proposal due to costs (Officer
note: This is not a material planning consideration).

● Concerns relating to maintenance (Officer note: This is not a material
planning consideration).

● Fire concerns raised relating to the plastic windows. (Officer note: Fire
mitigation and safety is covered by Building Regulations).

● Objections to having to use the computer system to register a objection as
they do not consider the councils ICT systems to be secure after the cyber
attack (Officer note: In line with the Development Management Procedure
Order and as advised on the consultation letters publicising the proposed
development, other means of making representations pursuant to an
application are available.)

● Roof should not be replaced (Officer note: This is not proposed as part of
the submission).

● Do not want scaffolding outside the building, claims the windows can easily
be replaced from the inside. (Officer note: This is not a material planning
consideration).

● Concern about workmen visiting the flats increasing the risk of coronavirus
(Officer note: This is not a material planning consideration).

3.5.3 Officer Response: Many of the concerns raised are not material considerations and
relate to disputes between the leaseholders and Housing department, concerns at
the construction stage and other non-material considerations. While concerns
about fire risk are noted, the proposed windows would be required to meet relevant
U values and safety requirements under Building Regulations. The other issues
raised will be addressed in the report below.

3Page 93



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022

3.6 Statutory / Local Group Consultees

3.6.1 Shoreditch CAAC: No objection.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

4.1 Hackney Local Plan 2033 2020 (LP33)

LP1 Design Quality and Local Character
LP2 Development and Amenity
LP17 Housing Design
LP54 Overheating and Adapting to Climate Change
LP55 Mitigating Climate Change

4.2 London Plan 2021

D1 London’s Form, Character and Capacity for Growth
D3 Optimising Site Capacity through the Design-led Approach
D6 Housing Quality and Standards
G5 Urban Greening
G6 Biodiversity and Access to Nature
SI 4 Managing Heat Risk

4.3 SPD / SPF / Other

Mayor of London
Social Infrastructure (2015)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (2014)

London Borough of Hackney

Residential Extensions and Alterations SPD (2009)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2016)

4.4 National Planning Policies/Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.5 Legislation

Town and Country Planning Act 1990

5.0 Comment

5.1 This proposal is a Council’s own planning application submitted as part of its
Improvement Programme to its residential properties.  Similar planning applications
have been submitted for other blocks within Purcell Street (see ‘Relevant History’,
above).  Planning permission was previously granted for the installation of new

4Page 94



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022
UPVC windows to this block; however, the current application includes some minor
additions to that previously granted, including proposed window replacements to
the communal windows.  The main considerations relevant to this application are:

● Principle of Development
● Conservation and Design
● Neighbouring amenity
● Standard of accommodation
● Sustainability

5.2 Each of these considerations is discussed in turn below.

5.3 Principle of Development

5.3.1 The principle of undertaking residential alterations is in accordance with planning
policy at local, regional and national levels, subject to assessments of other
relevant material considerations. In light of this, the proposed development is
considered to be acceptable in principle.

5.4 Conservation and Design

5.4.1 Numbers 1 to 10 are a block of flats which appear to date from circa 1980. They
are fairly traditional construction: brown brick with some red brick banding under a
tiled pitched roof, with some brown timber balcony detailing. The building is not
nationally listed, locally listed or in a Conservation Area. It would not be
considered to be a Non-Designated Heritage Asset. They are not in the setting of
any heritage assets.  Any issues here are of design rather than conservation.

5.4.2 LP33 policy LP1 states that development should respond to local character and
context and be compatible with existing townscape. Of relevance is that Numbers
1-10 Purcell Street are identical in design to three other blocks (forming Numbers
11-10, 21-30 and 31-40). It is noted that the Council has previously consented to
the very same replacement windows (twice in each case) for each of these blocks.
It is also noted that the principle of UPVC windows has been established at this
building (Numbers 1-10 Purcell Street) through application 2021/1385, approved at
October 2021 Planning Sub-committee. In addition, Members resolved to grant
planning permission at adjoining 21-30 Purcell Street, at January Planning
Sub-committee.

5.4.3 Although the permissions at the three other identical blocks do not appear to have
yet been implemented, this could lawfully take place at any point within the three
year life of the permissions. Given these facts, it is considered that it would be
better contextual design in this case for the windows in Numbers 1-10 Purcell
Street to match those of the other buildings in the original single planned
development of four blocks.

5.4.4 The proposed replacement windows on the front and rear elevations would match
the existing in terms of style but would vary in material and slightly in colour.
Despite this slight variation officers consider the design of the proposal to suitably
match the existing and is therefore considered acceptable especially given the
precedent and established context for similar proposals being approved both
on-site and in the surrounding area. Officers note that the proposal will also replace

5Page 95



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022
the panelling below some of the windows as well as some of the doors. No
information has been provided for this so a condition in the event of approval
requiring additional information, prior to commencement.

5.4.5 Officers consider the proposed material to be acceptable as the block is not
considered to be of a traditional style that would benefit significantly from the
retention of its original timber windows. Furthermore, despite this slight variation in
colour, officers consider the proposed rosewood to suitably match the existing.

5.4.6 Given that the proposed replacements are UPVC, some increase in proportions
can be expected. The applicant has provided a manufacturers brochure for VEKA
Matrix windows as well as cross-sections for the UPVC windows. These do show a
slight increase in proportions although not so significant as to be detrimental to the
character and appearance of the application site.

5.5 Neighbouring Amenity

5.5.1 The proposal would have no impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties in
terms of light, outlook or loss of privacy due to the nature of the proposal.

5.6 Standard of Accommodation

5.6.1 In terms of the amenity impacts of the works on the subject site, the proposal is
considered to enhance the standard of accommodation provided to the occupants
of the flats by improving the thermal efficiency and the security of all the flats within
the property.

5.7 Sustainability

5.7.1 All new developments need to consider statutory requirements to reduce pollution,
energy and carbon emissions, and should incorporate best practice design
principles and guidance where appropriate.

5.7.2 Policy SI 4 of the London Plan and LP54 of LP33 requires all development to
regulate internal and external temperatures through orientation, design, materials
and technologies which avoid overheating, in response to the Urban Heat Island
Effect and addressing climate change. Policy LP55 of LP33 applies to all new
developments and states that these must actively seek to mitigate the impact of
climate change through design which minimises exposure to the effects, and
technologies which maximise sustainability.

5.7.3 The proposed windows will be constructed from modern materials and will include
windows that will improve the thermal performance and natural ventilation of the
application site. Given the scale of the development, this is an acceptable
response to the policies.

5.7.4 Overall, the proposal is considered to result in a sustainable form of development.

6Page 96



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022
6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 The proposed replacement windows, doors and panelling to the front and rear
elevations are deemed acceptable. The replacements will improve the standard of
accommodation for the flats by providing increased thermal efficiency and will not
have a demonstrably adverse impact upon the character and appearance of both
the application site and wider surrounding context. A condition will be attached in
the event of approval requiring further design details of the proposed panelling and
doors.

7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation A

7.1 That planning permission be GRANTED, subject to the following conditions:

7.1.1 Commencement within three years
The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning with the date of this permission.

REASON: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).

7.1.2 Development in accordance with plans
The Development hereby permitted shall only be carried out and completed strictly
in accordance with the submitted plans hereby approved and any subsequent
approval of details.

REASON: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is carried out in full
accordance with the plans hereby approved.

7.1.3 Design Details
Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of the works hereby approved,
detailed drawings/full particulars of the proposed panelling and doors, including
sections at 1:5 scale, along with external facing materials shall be submitted to,
and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall
not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details thus approved and
shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: In order to preserve the character and uniformity of the block of flats.

Recommendation B

7.2 That the Sub-Committee grants delegated authority to the Director of Public Realm
and Head of Planning (or in their absence either the Growth Team Manager or DM
& Enforcement Manager) to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to
the recommended conditions set out in this report provided this authority shall be
exercised after consultation with the Chair (or in their absence the Vice-Chair) of
the Sub-Committee (who may request that such alterations, additions or deletions
be first approved by the Sub-Committee).

7Page 97



Planning Sub-Committee – 02/02/2022
8.0 INFORMATIVES

The following informatives should be added:

SI.1 Building Control
SI.7 Hours of Building Works
NPPF Applicant/Agent Engagement

Signed………………………………. Date………………………………….

Aled Richards - Director, Public Realm

No. Background Papers Name,Designation &
Telephone Extension
of Original Copy

Location Contact
Officer

1. Application documents and LBH
policies/guidance referred to in this
report are available for inspection on the
Council's website

Policy/guidance from other
authorities/bodies referred to in this
report are available for inspection on the
website of the relevant authorities/bodies

Other background papers referred to in
this report are available for inspection
upon request to the officer named in this
section.

All documents that are material to the
preparation of this report are referenced
in the report

James Clark
Planning Officer
x1453

2 Hillman Street
London
E8 1FB

8Page 98



 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 1 

 

 
 

Mulalley Ltd 
Teresa Gavin House, Woodford Avenue 

Essex IG8 8FA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Design and Access Statement 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1-10 Purcell Street 
N1 6RD 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Job Ref No: AD/H432 
Date: April 2021 
Revision: A  

Page 99



 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 2 

Introduction 
 
This property is one of a number of properties within in the London Area, which is part of London 
Borough of Hackney Improvement Programme being carried out by Mulalley and Company Ltd.  
 
The scope of works involves replacing the existing timber windows and doors as detailed on the 
drawings, which accompany the planning application. 
 
A planning application was submitted with the reference 2021/1385 and granted. However, there 
has been some minor changes and additional communal windows added to this application.  
 
 
 
 
The Site and Proposed Works 
Name of Block  1-10 Purcell Street  N1 6RD 
Local Authority London Borough of Hackney    
Conservation Area No  
Listed No  
Article 4 No  

 
 
 
 
 
 
General Description of the Works   
 
External Works 
 
On completion of a detailed external survey of this property block, all windows and doors are to be 
replaced both to improve the insulation levels of the building and overall comfort of the residents.  
 
The existing timber windows and doors do not provide adequate thermal performance to the 
residents.  
 
The proposed VEKA Matrix 70 product range accompany this application.  

 
All works of making good shall retain the external fabric. All localised repairs shall be on a like for 
like basis. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Summary 
 
The proposed windows and doors replacement is intended to improve the overall appearance of the 
building, to provide much needed maintenance, repair and provide a better thermal performance.  
 
This work is intended to improve the comfort of the inhabitants whilst preserving the character of 
the property and the surrounding area.  
 
 
 

 

Page 100



Application for Planning Permission.
Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Publication of applications on planning authority websites.

Please note that the information provided on this application form and in supporting documents may be published on the Authority’s website. If
you require any further clarification, please contact the Authority’s planning department.

1. Site Address

Number

Suffix

Property name 1-10

Address line 1 Purcell Street

Address line 2 Hackney

Address line 3

Town/city London

Postcode N1 6RD

Description of site location must be completed if postcode is not known:

Easting (x) 533080

Northing (y) 183294

Description

2. Applicant Details

Title

First name

Surname N/A

Company name London Borough of Hackney

Address line 1 Hackney Service Centre

Address line 2 1 Hillman Street

Address line 3

Town/city

Country

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 101



2. Applicant Details

Postcode E8 1DY

Are you an agent acting on behalf of the applicant? Yes  No

Primary number

Secondary number

Fax number

Email address

3. Agent Details

Title Mrs

First name Ann

Surname Fan

Company name Mulalley & Company Ltd

Address line 1 Teresa Gavin House

Address line 2 Woodford Avenue

Address line 3

Town/city South Woodford

Country

Postcode IG8 8FA

Primary number

Secondary number

Fax number

Email

4. Site Area

What is the measurement of the site area?
(numeric characters only).

568.00

Unit Sq. metres

5. Site Information

Title number(s)

Please add the title number(s) for the existing building(s) on the site. If the site has no title numbers, please enter "Unregistered"

Title Number EGL483345

Energy Performance Certificate

Do any of the buildings on the application site have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC)? Yes  No

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 102



5. Site Information

Please enter the reference number from the
most recent Energy Performance Certificate
(e.g. 1234-1234-1234-1234-1234)

8834-6823-6950-8961-5902

Public/Private Ownership

What is the current ownership status of the site? Public  Private  Mixed

6. Description of the Proposal

Please note in regard to:
• Fire Statements - From 1 August 2021, planning applications for buildings of over 18 metres (or 7 stories) tall containing more than one dwelling will require a
'Fire Statement' for the application to be considered valid. There are some exemptions. View government planning guidance on fire statements or access the fire
statement template and guidance.
• Permission In Principle - If you are applying for Technical Details Consent on a site that has been granted Permission In Principle, please include the relevant
details in the description below.
• Public Service Infrastructure - From 1 August 2021, applications for certain public service infrastructure developments will be eligible for faster determination
timeframes. See help for further details or view government planning guidance on determination periods.

Description

Please describe details of the proposed development or works including any change of use.

Replace existing timber windows and doors with uPVC double glazed windows and doors, colour Rosewood.

Has the work or change of use already started? Yes  No

7. Further information about the Proposed Development

Are the proposals eligible for the 'Fast Track Route' based on the affordable housing threshold and other criteria? Yes  No

Do the proposals cover the whole existing building(s)? Yes  No

Current lead Registered Social Landlord (RSL)

If the proposal includes affordable housing, has a Registered Social Landlord been confirmed?
If the proposal does not include affordable housing, select 'No'.

Yes  No

Details of building(s)

Please add details for each new separate building(s) being proposed (all fields must be completed). Please only include existing building(s) if they are increasing
in height as part of the proposal.

Building reference 1-10 Purcell Street

Maximum height (Metres) 13

Number of storeys 3

Loss of garden land

Will the proposal result in the loss of any residential garden land? Yes  No

Projected cost of works

Please provide the estimated total cost of the
proposal

Up to £2m

8. Vacant Building Credit

Does the proposed development qualify for the vacant building credit? Yes  No

9. Superseded consents

Does this proposal supersede any existing consent(s)? Yes  No

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 103



10. Development Dates

Please add the expected commencement and completion dates for all phases of the proposed development.
If the entire development is to be completed in a single phase, state in the 'Phase Detail' that it covers the 'Entire Development'.

Phase Detail Commencement Month Commencement Year Completion Month Completion Year

Entire Development October 2021 January 2022

11. Scheme and Developer Information

Scheme Name

Does the scheme have a name? Yes  No

Developer Information

Has a lead developer been assigned? Yes  No

12. Existing Use

Please describe the current use of the site

C3 Residential.

Is the site currently vacant? Yes  No

Does the proposal involve any of the following? If Yes, you will need to submit an appropriate contamination assessment with your application.

Land which is known to be contaminated Yes  No

Land where contamination is suspected for all or part of the site Yes  No

A proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the presence of contamination Yes  No

13. Existing and Proposed Uses

Please add details of the Gross Internal Area (GIA) for all current uses and how this will change based on the proposed development. Details of the floor area for
any proposed new uses should also be added.

Following changes to Use Classes on 1 September 2020: The list includes the now revoked Use Classes A1-5, B1, and D1-2 that should not be used in most
cases. Also, the list does not include the newly introduced Use Classes E and F1-2. To provide details in relation to these, select 'Other' and specify the use where
prompted. View further information on Use Classes. Multiple 'Other' options can be added to cover each individual use. If the 'Other' option is not displayed, please
contact our service desk to resolve this.

Use Class Existing gross

internal floor area

(square metres)

Gross internal floor

area lost (including

by change of use)

(square metres)

Gross internal floor

area gained

(including change of

use) (square metres)

C3 - Dwellinghouses 219 0 0

Total 219 0 0

14. Materials

Does the proposed development require any materials to be used externally? Yes  No

Please provide a description of existing and proposed materials and finishes to be used externally (including type, colour and name for each material):

Windows

Description of existing materials and finishes (optional): Timber windows and doors.

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 104



14. Materials

Description of proposed materials and finishes: uPVC double glazed windows and doors, colour Rosewood.

Are you supplying additional information on submitted plans, drawings or a design and access statement? Yes  No

If Yes, please state references for the plans, drawings and/or design and access statement

ADH432-1-10 Purcell Street-01-Site Location Plan
ADH432-1-10 Purcell Street-02-Block Plan
ADH432-1-10 Purcell Street-03A-Existing Elevations
ADH432-1-10 Purcell Street-04B-Proposed Elevations and Window Schedule.
VEKA matrix 70 brochure
Design and Access Statement revision A

15. Pedestrian and Vehicle Access, Roads and Rights of Way

Is a new or altered vehicular access proposed to or from the public highway? Yes  No

Is a new or altered pedestrian access proposed to or from the public highway? Yes  No

Are there any new public roads to be provided within the site? Yes  No

Are there any new public rights of way to be provided within or adjacent to the site? Yes  No

Do the proposals require any diversions/extinguishments and/or creation of rights of way? Yes  No

16. Vehicle Parking

Does the site have any existing vehicle/cycle parking spaces or will the proposed development add/remove any parking
spaces?

Yes  No

17. Electric vehicle charging points

Do the proposals include electric vehicle charging points and/or hydrogen refuelling facilities? Yes  No

18. Trees and Hedges

Are there trees or hedges on the proposed development site? Yes  No

And/or: Are there trees or hedges on land adjacent to the proposed development site that could influence the
development or might be important as part of the local landscape character?

Yes  No

If Yes to either or both of the above, you may need to provide a full tree survey, at the discretion of your local planning authority. If a tree survey is
required, this and the accompanying plan should be submitted alongside your application. Your local planning authority should make clear on its
website what the survey should contain, in accordance with the current 'BS5837: Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction -
Recommendations'.

19. Assessment of Flood Risk

Is the site within an area at risk of flooding? (Check the location on the Government's Flood map for planning. You
should also refer to national standing advice and your local planning authority requirements for information as
necessary.)

Yes  No

If Yes, you will need to submit a Flood Risk Assessment to consider the risk to the proposed site.

Is your proposal within 20 metres of a watercourse (e.g. river, stream or beck)? Yes  No

Will the proposal increase the flood risk elsewhere? Yes  No

How will surface water be disposed of?

Sustainable drainage system

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 105



19. Assessment of Flood Risk

Existing water course

Soakaway

Main sewer

Pond/lake

20. Biodiversity and Geological Conservation

Is there a reasonable likelihood of the following being affected adversely or conserved and enhanced within the application site, or on land adjacent to
or near the application site?

To assist in answering this question correctly, please refer to the help text which provides guidance on determining if any important biodiversity or
geological conservation features may be present or nearby; and whether they are likely to be affected by the proposals.

a) Protected and priority species:

Yes, on the development site

Yes, on land adjacent to or near the proposed development

No

b) Designated sites, important habitats or other biodiversity features:

Yes, on the development site

Yes, on land adjacent to or near the proposed development

No

c) Features of geological conservation importance:

Yes, on the development site

Yes, on land adjacent to or near the proposed development

No

21. Open and Protected Space

Will the proposed development result in the loss, gain or change of use of any open space? Yes  No

Will the proposed development result in the loss, gain or change of use of a site protected with a nature designation? Yes  No

22. Foul Sewage

Please state how foul sewage is to be disposed of:

Mains Sewer

Septic Tank

Package Treatment plant

Cess Pit

Other

Unknown

Are you proposing to connect to the existing drainage system? Yes  No  Unknown

23. Water Management

Please state the expected percentage
reduction of surface water discharge (for a 1 in
100-year rainfall event) from the proposal

0

Are Green Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) incorporated into the drainage design for the proposal? Yes  No

Please state the expected internal residential
water usage of the proposal (litres per person
per day)

0.00

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 106



23. Water Management

Does the proposal include the harvesting of rainfall? Yes  No

Does the proposal include re-use of grey water? Yes  No

24. Trade Effluent

Does the proposal involve the need to dispose of trade effluents or trade waste? Yes  No

25. Residential Units

Does this proposal involve the loss or replacement of any self-contained residential units or student accommodation
(including those being rebuilt)?

Yes  No

Does this proposal involve the addition of any self-contained residential units or student accommodation (including those
being rebuilt)?

Yes  No

26. Non-Permanent Dwellings

Please add details of any non-permanent dwellings (if used as main residence e.g. caravans, mobile homes, converted railway carriages, etc...), traveller
pitches/plots or houseboat moorings that this proposal seeks to add or remove

27. Other Residential Accommodation

Please add details of any non self-contained accommodation, based on the categories in the drop down menu, that this proposal seeks to add, remove or rebuild.

Provision for older people
Please specify the number of proposed rooms, of the types listed below, to be specifically provided for older people

Older persons care home accommodation -
Residential care homes (Use Class C2)

0

Older persons supported and specialised
accommodation - Hostel (Sui Generis Use)

0

28. Waste and recycling provision

Does every unit in this proposal (residential and non-residential) have dedicated internal and external storage space for
dry recycling, food waste and residual waste?

Yes  No

29. Utilities

Water and gas connections

Number of new water connections required 0

Number of new gas connections required 0

Fire safety

Is a fire suppression system proposed? Yes  No

Internet connections

Number of residential units to be served by full
fibre internet connections

0

Number of non-residential units to be served by
full fibre internet connections

0

Mobile networks

Has consultation with mobile network operators been carried out? Yes  No

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 107



30. Environmental Impacts

Community energy

Will the proposal provide any on-site community-owned energy generation? Yes  No

Heat pumps

Will the proposal provide any heat pumps? Yes  No

Solar energy

Does the proposal include solar energy of any kind? Yes  No

Passive cooling units

Number of proposed residential units with
passive cooling

0

Emissions

NOx total annual emissions (Kilograms) 0.00

Particulate matter (PM) total annual emissions
(Kilograms)

0.00

Greenhouse gas emission reductions

Are the on-site Greenhouse gas emission reductions at least 35% above those set out in Part L of Building Regulations
2013?

Yes  No

Green Roof

Proposed area of 'Green Roof' to be added
(Square metres)

0.00

Urban Greening Factor

Please enter the Urban Greening Factor score 0.00

Residential units with electrical heating

Number of proposed residential units with
electrical heating

0

Reused/Recycled materials

Percentage of demolition/construction material
to be reused/recycled

0

31. Employment

Are there any existing employees on the site or will the proposed development increase or decrease the number of
employees?

Yes  No

32. Hours of Opening

Are Hours of Opening relevant to this proposal? Yes  No

33. Industrial or Commercial Processes and Machinery

Does this proposal involve the carrying out of industrial or commercial activities and processes? Yes  No

Is the proposal for a waste management development? Yes  No

If this is a landfill application you will need to provide further information before your application can be determined.  Your waste planning authority
should make it clear what information it requires on its website

34. Hazardous Substances

Does the proposal involve the use or storage of any hazardous substances? Yes  No

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 108



35. Site Visit

Can the site be seen from a public road, public footpath, bridleway or other public land? Yes  No

If the planning authority needs to make an appointment to carry out a site visit, whom should they contact?

The agent

The applicant

Other person

36. Pre-application Advice

Has assistance or prior advice been sought from the local authority about this application? Yes  No

37. Authority Employee/Member

With respect to the Authority, is the applicant and/or agent one of the following:
(a) a member of staff
(b) an elected member
(c) related to a member of staff
(d) related to an elected member

It is an important principle of decision-making that the process is open and transparent.

For the purposes of this question, "related to" means related, by birth or otherwise, closely enough that a fair-minded and
informed observer, having considered the facts, would conclude that there was bias on the part of the decision-maker in
the Local Planning Authority.

Do any of the above statements apply?

Yes  No

38. Ownership Certificates and Agricultural Land Declaration

CERTIFICATE OF OWNERSHIP - CERTIFICATE B - Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 Certificate
under Article 14

I certify/The applicant certifies that:

I have/The applicant has given the requisite notice to everyone else (as listed below) who, on the day 21 days before the date of this application, was the
owner* and/or agricultural tenant** of any part of the land or building to which this application relates; or

The applicant is the sole owner of all the land or buildings to which this application relates and there are no other owners* and/or agricultural tenants**.

* 'owner' is a person with a freehold interest or leasehold interest with at least 7 years to run. ** 'agricultural tenant' has the meaning given in section
65(8) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Owner/Agricultural Tenant

Name of Owner/Agricultural

Tenant

Number 4

Suffix

House Name

Address line 1 Purcell Street

Address line 2

Town/city

Postcode N1 6RD

Date notice served

(DD/MM/YYYY)

26/04/2021

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 109



38. Ownership Certificates and Agricultural Land Declaration

Name of Owner/Agricultural

Tenant

Number 9

Suffix

House Name

Address line 1 Purcell Street

Address line 2

Town/city

Postcode N1 6rd

Date notice served

(DD/MM/YYYY)

25/04/2021

Name of Owner/Agricultural

Tenant

Number 7

Suffix

House Name

Address line 1 Purcell Street

Address line 2

Town/city

Postcode N1 6RD

Date notice served

(DD/MM/YYYY)

26/04/2021

Person role

The applicant

The agent

Title Mrs

First name Ann

Surname Fan

Declaration date
(DD/MM/YYYY)

07/10/2021

Declaration made

39. Declaration

I/we hereby apply for planning permission/consent as described in this form and the accompanying plans/drawings and additional information. I/we confirm
that, to the best of my/our knowledge, any facts stated are true and accurate and any opinions given are the genuine opinions of the person(s) giving them. 

Date (cannot be pre-
application)

07/10/2021

Planning Portal Reference: PP-10284198

Page 110



21
3 

to
 2

23

40

30

Oberon House

5

1 to 35

10

1 to 24

to

180

31

C
R

20

Caliban

PURCELL STREET
C

om
m

un
ity

Celia House

to

20
7

21
1

Macbeth House

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Play Area

20
9

to

Hitchcock
House

19
5

1 to 39

156

to

1

11

194

H
al

l

21

PITFIELD
 STR

EET

1 to 40

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2021. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

H
O

XT
O

N
 S

TR
E

E
T

PLANNING

1:1250@A4

OR
April 2021

AF Site Location Plan
AD/H432-1-10Purcell Street-01

1-10 Purcell Street N1 6RD
London Borough of Hackney 

/

Scale  1:1250
0 100  (metres)10 20 30 40 50 75

All dimensions to be checked on site. This drawings is copyright of Mulalley and Company Ltd Revision                                                                                                                      Date            Drawn By   Checked

Date:
Drawn:

Scale:

Client:
Project:
Title:Check:

Revision:
Mulalley Ltd

Teresa Gavin House, Woodford Avenue, Essex, IG8 8FA
Tel: 020 8551 9999 Dwg No.

North

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE
02/02/2022

ADDENDUM SHEET

ITEM 5: Haggerston Baths, Whiston Road. Application numbers 2021/2491 and 2021/2495

16 further objections have been received, of which 8 were from objectors who had not
before contacted us. The objections were on the following grounds:

● The height of the western extension will also harm neighbours' enjoyment of the listed
building.

● Impact of deliveries on school children, particularly those of Bridge Academy across
Laburnum Street and Haggerston Road.

● Rooms assessed as bedrooms in the daylight/sunlight report are now in use as offices by
residents.

● Hackney Council has an interest in the decision and will be biased in its consideration of
the application.

● The proposal will create a wind tunnel effect down Swimmers Lane.

As such, paragraph 6.11 (Consultee responses) should include the following additional
information:

● The height of the western extension will also harm neighbours' enjoyment of the listed
building.
Officer’s Response: Loss of a view from a residential building is not grounds to refuse this
application).

● Impact of deliveries on school children, particularly those of Bridge Academy across
Laburnum Street and Haggerston Road.
Officer’s Response: A delivery and servicing plan is required by condition, which will ensure
that impacts are minimised in an acceptable way.

● Rooms assessed as bedrooms in the daylight/sunlight report are now in use as offices by
residents
Officer’s Response: The common use of residential spaces as de facto offices/workspaces
during the day is understood, however offices are considered less important than residential
spaces in terms of the amount of daylight and sunlight they receive, so this would not alter
the findings of the report.

● Hackney Council has an interest in the decision and will be biased in its consideration of
the application.
Officer’s Response: The proposal is assessed against relevant planning policies, guidelines
and material planning considerations.  LB. Hackney and the members of the planning
sub-committee are commonly called upon to make decisions on Council owned schemes,

1Page 113



of which this is not one in the usual sense, and do so in a manner befitting their
professional responsibilities and the public interest.

● The proposal will create a wind tunnel effect down Swimmers Lane.
Officer’s Response: A building of the height proposed does not require a wind report to be
submitted and assessed. It is considered that the relationship between the proposed and
existing buildings is relatively typical and would not have a significant impact in terms of
wind.

Paragraph 6.2.13 should be amended to reflect a higher level of Discounted Workspace,
changing from 233sqm to 531sqm, and greater clarity from the applicants in relation to the
use of the employment floorspace:
6.2.13 The applicant has entered into discussions over scheme viability with the Borough and it is

accepted that the costs of restoring the listed building are high. The proposal under the
application lost to the cyber attack (2020/0357) is replicated in this application, being the
provision of 10% discounted workspace (531sqm), which would be leased at 80% market
rate and captured within the s106 legal agreement.  This would have met the relevant
Affordable Workspace policy target prior to the adoption of the recent Local Plan 2033
policies and it is also accepted that the site is located in an area that is not likely to see
such high rental rates as in other areas of the Borough, such as Town Centres or the
designated Priority Office Areas. 190sqm of Maker Spaces provided within the basement
would also be provided at a discounted rate but this would be supplementary to the above
offer and additional to it. A condition has been recommended requiring a detailed
Discounted Workspace Statement prior to occupation, as is envisaged by the draft
statement the applicants have provided.

Paragraphs 6.4.41 and 6.4.42 are erroneous, referring to a different scheme, and are
therefore removed:
6.4.41 Landscaping

6.4.42 The general layout of the landscaping is considered acceptable, functioning as shared
space for the commercial and residential elements of the scheme within a central courtyard.
It would also provide planting and defensible space in front of the proposed residential
windows. The details of the design, including the proposed lighting scheme, have not been
submitted and so conditions have been recommended in this regard.

Paragraph 6.4.3 should be amended to refer to the following sections of legislation and
paragraphs of the NPPF:
6.4.3 Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires

that the Local Planning Authority, when considering applications for works to a listed
building requiring Listed Building Consent, to “have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses”.  Section 66 of the same Act requires that the Local Planning
Authority, when considering applications for planning permission which “affects a listed
building or its setting” to “have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.
Paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that “when
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any

2Page 114



potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its
significance.’  NPPF Paragraph 202 states that, “where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal”.

Paragraph 6.4.46 should be amended to refer to the following sections of legislation and
paragraphs of the NPPF:
6.4.46 Subject to the recommended details, it is considered that the proposal would achieve an

acceptable standard of design that would enhance the townscape and the setting of
neighbouring conservation areas and thereby achieve the design aspirations of local and
regional policy. The Local Planning Authority considers that overall the proposed
development and works cause less than substantial harm (in terms of the NPPF Para 202
test) to the significance of the listed building.  This harm is considered to be outweighed by
the public benefits of the scheme, discussed elsewhere in this report, including the reuse
and restoration of the building.  In reaching this conclusion the Local Planning Authority has
had regard to its duties under Sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Paragraph 6.6.17 is additional and erroneous and should be deleted:
6.6.17 The current cycle parking proposal provides 114 cycle parking spaces. These consist of 86

long-stay spaces and 28 short-stay spaces. The long-stay cycle parking includes: 8 x
Sheffield stands (16 spaces) 1 x accessible stand (2 spaces) 22 x two-tier stands (44
spaces) and 24 x foldable bike lockers. For the visitor cycle parking, 14 x Sheffield stands
are proposed to provide 28 spaces.

Paragraph 6.6.18 refers to 36 visitor cycle spaces on Swimmers Lane, rather than the 34
proposed and should be amended to read:
6.6.18 The cycle parking proposal provides 114 cycle parking spaces. These consist of 86

long-stay spaces and 28 short-stay spaces. The long-stay cycle parking includes: 8 x
Sheffield stands (16 spaces) 1 x accessible stand (2 spaces) 22 x two-tier stands (44
spaces) and 24 x foldable bike lockers. For the visitor cycle parking, 17 x Sheffield stands
are proposed to provide 34 spaces.

Following comments from independent advisors (RPS) in respect of the energy and
sustainability of the scheme, the following additional condition is recommended:
8.2.23: Overheating

Prior to first occupation of the office floorspace (shown as WS on the plans) hereby
approved, a Dynamic Overheating Analysis to assess the overheating risk shall be
undertaken by a qualified assessor and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This assessment should include but not be limited to the following:

1) It will follow the CIBSE TM52 methodology for the London Design Summer Year 1
(DSY1) weather file: 2020s, High emission, 50% percentile scenario;

2) It will also investigate the risk of overheating using the DSY 2 & 3 weather files.
The measures thereby agreed shall be retained and the development maintained in that
condition thereafter.

REASON: In order for the development to demonstrate an adequate response to climate
change and climate change adaptation

3Page 115



Following comments from independent advisors (RPS) in respect of the energy and
sustainability of the scheme, condition 8.1.13 is amended to read:
8.1.13  Air Source Heat Pumps

Full details of location and design of the condenser units from the Air Source Heat Pumps
(ASHP) (or any other related fixed plant adopted), shall be submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority, in writing, before any above ground development commences.
The details submitted shall also include:

1) Design of a Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) strategy to extend the
ASHP systems to provide heating and cooling to all areas, or;

2) A clear demonstration of why such a design would not be feasible in this instance.
The ASHP thereby approved shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development.

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and reducing greenhouse gases.

Following review of further Fire Strategy information by the Borough’s Building Control
Officer, the following additional condition is recommended:
8.2.24 Fire Strategy

A full Fire Strategy shall be submitted prior to commencement of the development
(excluding asbestos removal) demonstrating in detail how the measures in the Fire
Statement Policy D12 dated 9th December 2021 by Squire and Partners will be
implemented into the design of the building and to provide further details in respect of fire
safety. The measures thereby approved shall be carried out in full and maintained
throughout the lifespan of the development.

REASON: To ensure that the development incorporates the necessary fire safety measures
in accordance with London Plan Policy D12.

Paragraph 8.13 is amended to read as follows:
8.1.3 Phasing: contract for the whole scheme

No works of alteration by way of substantial partial demolition shall begin before evidence,
including proof of funds and evidence of the requests for tender for the full implementation
of the comprehensive scheme of development (and the associated planning permission for
which the contract(s) provides), have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local authority. Thereafter, additional evidence of appointing a contractor must be submitted
until such time that binding contracts for works have been entered into and no occupation
of the office units hereby approved shall be permitted until evidence of these binding
contracts have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON:  To ensure that premature demolition does not take place and that an unsightly
gap or derelict site does not detract from the character and appearance of the retained
parts of the listed building and in accordance with Section 17 (3) (a) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and National Planning Policy Framework, July
2021, Paragraphs 189 to 208; The London Plan 2021 Policy HC1 Heritage conservation
and growth; and Hackney Local Plan 2033, Policies LP1 Design Quality and Local
Character, LP3 Designated Heritage Assets and LP4 Non Designated Heritage Assets.

Following further discussions with the Borough’s Drainage Team, condition 8.1.20 is
amended to read:
8.1.20 Urban Drainage, Maintenance and Ownership

Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans and documents hereby approved, prior to
commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit full details of a sustainable
drainage system supported by appropriate drawings, hydraulic modelling, calculations,

4Page 116



construction details and a maintenance and management plan for the drainage system, for
approval by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The sustainable drainage system shall
aim to achieve the greenfield runoff rates with the use of above ground green SuDS as
prescribed in the London Plan for all return periods up to the 1 in 100 year storm events
plus an allowance for climate change. The development shall not commence until written
confirmation has been received from the LPA, confirming approval of the surface water
drainage measures.

REASON: To ensure that the development will provide a sustainable drainage system.

Following clarification from the Environmental Protection Team, condition 8.1.39 is deleted,
since it refers to measures that are already covered within the submitted draft Operational
Management Plan in respect of the basement maker spaces and is considered unnecessary:
8.1.39  Hours of Use: Ancillary Use Spaces

The ancillary spaces will be subject to a booking system with each space supervised along
with secure access. Access will be available on weekdays between 09:00 and 17:00 hours,
Monday to Fridays only.

REASON: To ensure the use is operated in a satisfactory manner and does not unduly
disturb adjoining occupiers or prejudice local amenity generally.

Signed………………………………. Date………………………………….

ALED RICHARDS
Director, Public Realm

5Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/2401
r/o 1 Wilberforce Road, Hackney, 
London, N4 2SN Discharge of Condition

Discharge of condition 3 ( bike storage ) 5 ( bird and bat boxes ), 6 
( Construction Logistics Plan ) of permission 2020/4188 for the 
'Erection of a third floor extension to existing block of flats to 
provide a 1 bedroom unit with terrace.' James Clark Brownswood Ward Grant 07/01/2022

2021/3425
43 Wilberforce Road, Hackney, 
London, N4 2SP Householder Planning Erection of single storey ground floor rear extension Micheal Garvey Brownswood Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/3459
73 Clapton Common, London, E5 
9AA

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Confirmation that planning permission 2016/1963 granted 
07/12/2018 has commenced in accordance with condition 1 (time 
limit for commencement) and that the completion of the 
approved development remains lawful.. Alix Hauser Cazenove Ward Grant 20/01/2022

2021/3263
Flat C, 26 Oldhill Street, Hackney, 
London, N16 6LB

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Certificate of Lawful Development (Existing) for the use of the 
basement as a separate flat. Erin Glancy Cazenove Ward Grant 10/01/2022

2021/3194
39 Darenth Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 6ES Householder Planning

Erection of a ground, first, and rear dormer extension together 
with erection of a basement extension to the existing basement 
with rear lightwells at 39 Darenth Road. Erin Glancy Cazenove Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 19/01/2022

2021/2373
111 and 113 Upper Clapton 
Road, London, E5 9BU

Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of first floor rear extensions at nos 111 and 113; erection 
of a mansard-style roof extension and a side extension at first 
floor level at no 113; elevational alterations comprising 
replacement and insertion of windows and doors to front and rear 
and raising of parapet wall to front and rear; partial demolition to 
rear of no 111; internal reconfiguration to provide three dwellings 
(Use Class C3) in the place of four existing dwellings (Use Class 
C3). Danny Huber Cazenove Ward Refuse 21/01/2022

2021/1948
77 Durlston Road, London, E5 
8RP

Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of full-width rear roof dormer extension, elevational 
alterations comprising replacement of front windows, alteration 
of rear windows, insertion of two roof lights; conversion of 
property from a single 5 bed dwelling into 1 x 2 bed and 1 x 3 bed 
flats Danny Huber Cazenove Ward Refuse 21/01/2022

2021/1415
34 - 36 (Garages) Filey Avenue, 
Hackney, London, N16 6JJ

Full Planning 
Permission

Demolition of existing three garages and erection of a three-
storey four-bedroom house Micheal Garvey Cazenove Ward Refuse 14/01/2022

2021/3280
11 Clonbrock Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 8RS Householder Planning

Loft conversion with mansard roof to the rear and the front roof 
slope. Erin Glancy Clissold Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 19/01/2022

2021/3100
52 Aden Grove, Hackney, 
London, N16 9NJ Householder Planning Single storey rear extension and a mansard roof extension Erin Glancy Clissold Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/2482
127 Clissold Crescent, Hackney, 
London, N16 9AS Householder Planning

Erection of ground floor single storey front extension; erection of 
roof extension to create a new storey (following removal of 
existing roof and dormers); alterations to fenestration and rear 
ground floor conservatory Louise Prew Clissold Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 10/01/2022

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 7



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/3083
Kibris Studio, 82 Green Lanes, 
Hackney, London, N16 9EJ

Removal/Variation of 
Condition(s)

Variation of condition 2 (Development not in accordance with the 
approved plans) of planning permission 2020/0260 dated 
31/03/2020; in relation to external terrace at second floor rear 
level with screening and replacement of second floor window 
with a door Micheal Garvey Clissold Ward Refuse 19/01/2022

2021/2842
3 Bradbury Street, Hackney, 
London, N16 8JN Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to conditions 4 (enlarged bin 
store/public w.c. facility) and 9 (Bird and Bat Boxes) of planning 
permission 2018/0792 dated 07/08/2018 Nick Bovaird Dalston Ward Grant 18/01/2022

2021/0407
6 Wilton Way, Hackney, London, 
E8 3EE Householder Planning

Erection of rear dormer to rear roof, and extension to existing 
ground floor extension and alterations Micheal Garvey Dalston Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 19/01/2022

2021/3401
35 Northchurch Terrace, London, 
N1 4EB Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to conditions 6 (SUDS) and 8 
(Replacement Planting) attached to planning permission 
2020/3790 dated 08/02/2021. Alix Hauser De Beauvoir Ward Grant 21/01/2022

2021/3270
160 Hertford Road, Hackney, 
London, N1 4LP Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to condition 3 (SUDs) attached to 
planning permission 2021/2734 dated 29-10-2021. James Clark De Beauvoir Ward Grant 20/01/2022

2021/2783
17 Stamford Road, Hackney, 
London, N1 4JP Householder Planning

To erect a new garden room to the rear of no. 17 Stamford Road 
to replace the existing garden room located in the rear of the 
garden. Erin Glancy De Beauvoir Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/1925
135 Culford Road, Hackney, 
London, N1 4HX Householder Planning

Replacement of first and second floor front windows with timber 
framed double-glazed windows Erin Glancy De Beauvoir Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 20/01/2022

2021/3129
Flat 2, 147 Hertford Road, 
London, N1 4LR

Full Planning 
Permission Replacement of windows to the front elevation at first floor level Danny Huber De Beauvoir Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 18/01/2022

2021/2737
134 Tottenham Road, London, 
N1 4DY Householder Planning

Replacement of the front and rear windows with double glazing 
timber windows, replacement of front and side doors Danny Huber De Beauvoir Ward Refuse 17/01/2022

2021/3481
25 Wayland Avenue, London, E8 
2HP

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Proposed erection of a hip-to-gable roof extension and a rear roof 
dormer extension; insertion of new rooflight to front roof slope Danny Huber Hackney Central Ward Grant 21/01/2022

2021/3199
6 Carrara Mews, Hackney, 
London, E8 1PH Householder Planning Installation of new window to first floor front elevation Micheal Garvey Hackney Central Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 05/01/2022

2021/2806
Siding House, 10 Andre Street, 
Hackney, Discharge of Condition

Variation of condition 3 (Hours of opening) attached to planning 
permission 2019/4059 decision dated 20/01/2020 to extend the 
hours from 08:00 am - 21:00 pm Monday to Saturday and 09:00 
am - 18:00 pm on Sundays/Bank Holidays to: 08:00 am - 23:00 pm 
Monday to Saturday and 09:00 am - 22:00 pm on Sundays/Bank 
Holidays Micheal Garvey Hackney Central Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 11/01/2022

2021/1936
368 Mare Street, Hackney, 
London, E8 1HR

Full Planning 
Permission

The refurbishment of the existing roof and existing parapets and 
installation of an access hatch and folding handrails. 
[Retrospective] Gerard Livett Hackney Central Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 11/01/2022

P
age 120



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/3374

Railway Walls Under Bridge (East 
and West), Hackney Central 
Station, Mare Street, London, E8 
1JB Advertisement Consent

Erection of wall-mounted timber poster display boards on the 
east and west station underpass walls (4 on each side, 8 in total) 
each measuring 1.7m high x 1.2 m wide Danny Huber Hackney Central Ward Refuse 12/01/2022

2021/3067
81 Eleanor Road (north), 
Hackney, London, E8 1DN

Full Planning 
Permission

Replacement of existing timber windows and doors with UPVC 
windows Raymond Okot Hackney Central Ward Refuse 17/01/2022

2020/1207
19 Alconbury Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 8RG Householder Planning Proposed erection of a rear dormer and front rooflight. Erin Glancy Hackney Downs Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/3137
Flat C, 56 Ickburgh Road, London, 
E5 8AD

Full Planning 
Permission Erection of a single storey ground floor rear and side extension Danny Huber Hackney Downs Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 21/01/2022

2021/1298
99 Benthal Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 7AP Householder Planning

Construction of rear dormer to main roof and installation of PV 
panels to roof of outrigger, with associated renewal of adjacent 
slating and lead flashings. Raymond Okot Hackney Downs Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 07/01/2022

2021/0903
Seaton Point Nolan Way, 
London, E5 8PY

Full Planning 
Permission

Elevational alterations comprising installation of new A1 rated fire 
resistant external wall insulation, new upper floor windows, new 
upper floor curtain walling/glazing systems. Danny Huber Hackney Downs Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 18/01/2022

2021/2418
24 Cassland Road, Hackney, 
London, E9 7AN Listed Building Consent

Erection of a bike store to rear; elevational alterations comprising 
insertion of window to rear; replacement of rear door; insertion 
of roof light and access hatch at roof level; various internal 
alterations. Danny Huber Hackney Wick Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 14/01/2022

2021/3477
Flat A, 29 Mabley Street, 
Hackney, London, E9 5RH

Full Planning 
Permission Erection of single storey outbuilding Micheal Garvey Hackney Wick Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 21/01/2022

2021/2317
24 Cassland Road, London, E9 
7AN Householder Planning

Erection of a bike store to rear; elevational alterations comprising 
insertion of window to rear; replacement of rear door; insertion 
of roof light and access hatch at roof level Danny Huber Hackney Wick Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 14/01/2022

2021/2670

Unit 12-13, 3c Rosewood 
Building Cremer Street, Hackney, 
London, E2 8GX Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to condition 35 (Noise details) of 
planning permission 2015/3455 dated 27/04/2017 Louise Prew Haggerston Ward Grant 18/01/2022

2021/2349
5-7 Stean Street, Hackney, 
London, E8 4ED

Prior approval - new 
dwellings

Prior approval for the erection of a single storey extension above 
the fourth floor to provide 4 residential units ( to a maximum 
height of 3.2m) Micheal Garvey Haggerston Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 05/01/2022

2021/3386
245 Hackney Road, London, E2 
8NA

Full Planning 
Permission

Insertion of 5 x wall tie plates to the flank wall on Queensbridge 
Road Timothy Walder Haggerston Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 19/01/2022

2021/3186
245 Hackney Road, London, E2 
8NA Listed Building Consent

Insertion of 5 x wall tie plates to the flank wall on Queensbridge 
Road Timothy Walder Haggerston Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 19/01/2022

2021/3104
1-11B Brownlow Road, London, 
E8 4NS

Full Planning 
Permission Replacement of windows and doors Danny Huber Haggerston Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 21/01/2022

P
age 121



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/2918
Unit 3a, Rosewood Building, 
Hackney Road, London, E2 8GY Advertisement Consent

Installation of 1 internally illuminated fascia sign and 1 internally 
illuminated projecting sign. Raymond Okot Haggerston Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 20/01/2022

2021/3272
1-3 Chatsworth Road London E5 
0LH Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to condition 6 (Phase 2 Intrusive 
Site Investigations and Remedial Action Plan) attached to planning 
permission 2018/3247 dated 31/10/2018. Raymond Okot Homerton Ward Grant 14/01/2022

2021/2778
19 Urswick Road, Hackney, E9 
6EG Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to condition 3 (materials) attached 
to appeal decision Ref: APP/U5360/W/20/3251373 decided on 
04/11/2020 Raymond Okot Homerton Ward Grant 20/01/2022

2021/3407

Ground Floor, 74 Great Eastern 
Street, Hackney, London, EC2A 
3JL Advertisement Consent Installation of one non-illuminated projecting sign at fascia level. Danny Huber

Hoxton East and 
Shoreditch Ward Grant 14/01/2022

2021/2220
180 - 182 Shoreditch High Street, 
Hackney, London, E1 6HY Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to conditions 3 (Details and 
Samples of Anning Street Elevation), 4 (External Details) and 7 
(Samples) of planning permission 2019/0786 dated 27/11/2019 Nick Bovaird

Hoxton East and 
Shoreditch Ward Grant 12/01/2022

2021/3406

Ground Floor, 74 Great Eastern 
Street, Hackney, London, EC2A 
3JL

Full Planning 
Permission Installation of a new glazed entrance door at ground floor level. Danny Huber

Hoxton East and 
Shoreditch Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/3224
Morrell House, 98 Curtain Road, 
London, EC2A 3AF

Full Planning 
Permission

Formation of a roof terrace with balustrade at the rear third floor 
level of the property for a temporary period of three years; 
associated alterations. Danny Huber

Hoxton East and 
Shoreditch Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 21/01/2022

2021/0174 225 City Road, London EC1V 1JT Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to condition 25(ii) (Construction 
Environmental Management Plan) attached to planning 
permission 2016/1814. Barry Coughlan Hoxton West Ward Grant 18/01/2022

2020/3929
75-83 East Road, Hackney, 
London, N1 6AH

Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of a two storey roof extension to create 6x residential 
units (C3), partial change of 3x office units (class E(g)(i)) at 
basement and ground floor level for ancillary residential use 
including bin and bike stores and the installation of a new lift. 
Alterations to existing residential access. Creation of a roof 
terrace. Claire Moore Hoxton West Ward Grant 20/01/2022

2021/3303
21, Hoffman Square Chart Street, 
Hackney, London, N1 6DH Listed Building Consent

Listed Building Consent for internal demolitions and alterations at 
Flat 21. Timothy Walder Hoxton West Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/3420
62 Adley Street, Hackney, 
London, E5 0DZ

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Lawful development certificate (proposed) for rear roof and 
outrigger rear extensions together with the installation of 
rooflights in the front roofslope. James Clark Kings Park Ward Grant 06/01/2022

2021/3248
124 Glyn Road, Hackney, London, 
E5 0JE

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Proposed erection of rear dormer roof extension and extension to 
rear outrigger, including installation of roof lights to front roof 
slope. Raymond Okot Kings Park Ward Grant 18/01/2022

2021/3470
74 Glyn Road, Hackney, London, 
E5 0JD Householder Planning Erection of single storey side infill extension Micheal Garvey Kings Park Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 20/01/2022

P
age 122



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/3265
Flat 4, Millfields Court, 204 
Millfields Road, London, E5 0AR

Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of a roof extension; insertion of rooflights to existing roof 
slope. Danny Huber Kings Park Ward Refuse 17/01/2022

2021/3535
114 Chatsworth Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0LS

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Lawful development certificate to ascertain that the works 
commenced at 114 Chatsworth Road are lawful as approved 
under application 2018/3701. James Clark Lea Bridge Ward Grant 13/01/2022

2021/3510
44A Newick Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0RR

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Lawful development certificate for the change of use from a C3 
dwellinghouse to a C4 dwellinghouse. James Clark Lea Bridge Ward Grant 10/01/2022

2021/3378
145 Powerscroft Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0PR

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Existing use of the lower ground and part ground floors as a self 
contained residential unit. Danny Huber Lea Bridge Ward Grant 12/01/2022

2021/3334
74 Powerscroft Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0PP

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed Certificate of Lawful Development (Proposed) for an outbuilding. Erin Glancy Lea Bridge Ward Grant 07/01/2022

2021/3238
35 Newick Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0RP Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to condition 3 (drainage) and 
condition 4 (SUDS) of planning permission 2021/2247 granted 
15/09/2021 for the construction of a flat roofed kitchen extension 
with parapet wall detail. Floor level lowered by 0.2m from existing 
Kitchen level along with new window opening. Erin Glancy Lea Bridge Ward Grant 11/01/2022

2021/3395
169 Powerscroft Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0PR

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed Proposed roof extension on the roof of the existing outrigger Raymond Okot Lea Bridge Ward Refuse 17/01/2022

2021/2882
7 Saratoga Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 0SJ

Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of single storey ground floor rear extension to enlarge 
existing studio flat Micheal Garvey Lea Bridge Ward Refuse 19/01/2022

2021/3641
2 Westgate Street, London, E8 
3RN

Non-Material 
Amendment

Non-material amendment to planning permission ref 2021/2144 
dated 24/09/2021 comprising relocation of door Danny Huber London Fields Ward Grant 12/01/2022

2021/3388 195 Mare Street, London, E8 3QE Discharge of Condition

Submission of partial details pursuant to conditions 21 ( services 
installations) and 24o (external flues, vents, extracts and grilles) 
attached to planning permission 2016/4727 dated 07/02/2020. Timothy Walder London Fields Ward Grant 17/01/2022

2021/3387 195 Mare Street, London, E8 3QE Discharge of Condition

Submission of partial details pursuant to conditions 19 (timber 
panelling repair method statement) and 24h, j, l, m (external 
steps, roof covering, rear doorcase, front fanlight) attached to 
planning permission 2016/4727 dated 07/02/2020. Timothy Walder London Fields Ward Grant 17/01/2022

2021/3320
42 Lavender Grove, Hackney, 
London, E8 3LS Householder Planning

Erection of ground floor rear and side extension; excavation of 
basement including creation of front and side light wells and 
installation of roof light on rear roof slope. Alix Hauser London Fields Ward Grant 04/01/2022

2021/3290
63 Shrubland Road, Hackney, 
London, E8 4NL Householder Planning

Construction of a single-storey rear extension and alterations to 
the rear fenestration. James Clark London Fields Ward Grant 13/01/2022

2021/3189
Flat C, 90 Middleton Road, 
Hackney, London, E8 4LN Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to conditions 3 (rooflights) and 4 
(windows) attached to planning permission 2021/2090 dated 
11/10/2021 Erin Glancy London Fields Ward Grant 17/01/2022

P
age 123



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/1281
2-16 Bayford Street London E8 
3SE Discharge of Condition

Submission of details pursuant to conditions 3 (materials including 
samples), 5 (sample panels) and 6 (detailed drawings) of planning 
permission 2018/2948 dated 08/06/2020. Nick Bovaird London Fields Ward Grant 18/01/2022

2021/1204
2 - 16 Bayford Street, Hackney, 
London, E8 3SE

Non-Material 
Amendment

Non-material amendment to planning permission 2018/2948 
dated 08/06/2020. The changes include. Additional plant at roof 
level Increased footprint at 3rd floor, facing Helmsley Street; 
Enlarged basement; Internal rearrangements including 
repositioned cycle parking; Increased footprint at 5th and 6th 
floor, facing Bayford Street; Increased footprint at 6th floor, facing 
Helmsley Street; Increased rooflights in ground floor level; 
Introduction of glazing and south facing balconies at 1st and 2nd 
floors; Amended elevations including reduced glazing, changes to 
Helmsley Street ground floor, repositioned windows/doors on 
north elevation to allow for amended balcony arrangement; 
Correction of approved elevation E-E to show additional 4th floor 
balcony; Inclusion of boiler flues. Nick Bovaird London Fields Ward Grant 18/01/2022

2021/2901
128 Richmond Road, Hackney, 
London, E8 3HW

Full Planning 
Permission Erection of single storey outbuilding to rear garden Micheal Garvey London Fields Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/3472

Middleton Court, 303 
Queensbridge Road, Hackney, 
London, E8 3LX

Prior approval - new 
dwellings

Prior Approval for erection of two-storey upward extension over 
existing residential block comprising 2No. one-bedroom, two-
person flats and 2No. one-bedroom, one-person studios. Erin Glancy London Fields Ward Refuse 18/01/2022

2021/1030
1A London Fields West Side, 
Hackney, London, E8 3EU

Removal/Variation of 
Condition(s)

Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) attached to planning 
permission 2018/0139 dated 12/06/2018 for 'Demolition of the 
existing garages and erection of a three-storey building to create 
two flats. Proposal includes terraces, roof level conservatory with 
associated access and green roofs.' The effect of the variation 
would be to change the cladding at first at second floor levels 
from timber to metal. Alix Hauser London Fields Ward Refuse 20/01/2022

2021/0563

Off Broadway, 63 - 65 Broadway 
Market, Hackney, London, E8 
4PH

Removal/Variation of 
Condition(s)

Variation of condition 6 (Restricted use of garden) attached to 
planning permission ref 2007/3178 dated 27/08/2008, to allow 
use of garden 12:00-18:00 pm and and installation of screening to 
beer garden. Micheal Garvey London Fields Ward Refuse 22/01/2022

2021/3461
3 Watermint Quay, Hackney, 
London, N16 6DN

Prior Notification - 
Larger Home Extension

Prior approval application for the erection of a single storey, 
ground floor, rear extension with a depth of 6 metres, an eaves 
height of 3 metres and a maximum height of 3.684 metres. James Clark Springfield Ward Grant 04/01/2022

2021/3449
15a Amhurst Park, Hackney, 
London, N16 5DH

Prior Notification - 
Larger Home Extension

Prior notification application for a larger home extension 
measuring 5.8m in depth and a maximum height of 4m. Micheal Garvey Springfield Ward Grant 05/01/2022

2021/3274
103 Ravensdale Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 6TH Householder Planning

Construction of a rear roof extension together with the 
reconfiguration of the rooflights. James Clark Springfield Ward Grant 13/01/2022

2021/3305
2-4 Ashtead Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 9BH

Full Planning 
Permission The erection of a joint first floor rear extension Erin Glancy Springfield Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 21/01/2022

P
age 124



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/2872

Beis Ruchol Of Satmar School, 
117 Stamford Hill, Hackney, 
London, N16 5RS Listed Building Consent

Installation of 7 (air-conditioning) condenser units within a new 
1.4m high compound with connecting pipework and cabling 
ducted below ground level and run internally; Alterations to 
existing south and east boundaries and forecourts with the 
provision of 2 new gated pedestrian entrances with brick piers; 
New internal security fencing and gates; Basement area kitchen 
hoist; 5 raised teaching beds and 10 new trees. [Note for 
consultation: application for planning permission 2021/2870 also 
received] Timothy Walder Springfield Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/2870

Beis Ruchol Of Satmar School, 
117 Stamford Hill, Hackney, 
London, N16 5RS

Full Planning 
Permission

Installation of 7 (air-conditioning) condenser units within a new 
1.4m high compound with connecting pipework and cabling 
ducted below ground level and run internally; Alterations to 
existing south and east boundaries and forecourts with the 
provision of 2 new gated pedestrian entrances with brick piers; 
New internal security fencing and gates; Basement area kitchen 
hoist; 5 raised teaching beds and 10 new trees. [Note for 
consultation: application for Listed Building Consent 2021/2872 
also received] Timothy Walder Springfield Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 17/01/2022

2021/2674
36-38 Warwick Grove, Hackney, 
London, E5 9HU

Full Planning 
Permission

The erection of joint single storey rear and side extensions and 
the erection a rear dormer and a Sukkah roof at first floor level at 
No.36. Erin Glancy Springfield Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 07/01/2022

2021/1214
32 -34 Portland Avenue, 
Hackney, London, N16 6ET

Full Planning 
Permission

Ground floor rear extension measuring 6m deep at 32-34 Portland 
Avenue. Erin Glancy Springfield Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 22/01/2022

2021/3430
9 Ashtead Road, Hackney, 
London, E5 9BJ Householder Planning Erection of front and rear dormer roof extensions Gerard Livett Springfield Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 21/01/2022

2021/3539
35 Heathland Road, London, N16 
5PG

Prior Notification - 
Larger Home Extension

Prior approval for a larger homes extension for the construction 
of a ground floor rear extension with a depth of 6m, eaves height 
of 3m and maximum height of 3m Danny Huber

Stamford Hill West 
Ward Grant 17/01/2022

2021/3352
47 Allerton Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 5UF Discharge of Condition

Submission of details of condition 3 (roof cladding) of planning 
permission 2021/0964 Raymond Okot

Stamford Hill West 
Ward Grant 11/01/2022

2021/3309
10 Wilderton Road, London, N16 
5QZ

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Installation of windows within the northern elevation at ground 
floor level. Alix Hauser

Stamford Hill West 
Ward Grant 19/01/2022

2021/3284
21a Lordship Park, Hackney, 
London, N16 5UN

Full Planning 
Permission Erection of single storey outbuilding to rear garden Micheal Garvey

Stamford Hill West 
Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 04/01/2022

2021/3418
21 Colberg Place, London, N16 
5RA

Prior Notification - 
Larger Home Extension

Prior approval for a larger homes extension for the construction 
of a ground floor rear extension with a depth of 6m, eaves height 
of 3m and maximum height of 3m and a ground floor side 
extension with a depth of 5m, eaves height of 3m and maximum 
height of 3m Danny Huber

Stamford Hill West 
Ward Refuse 03/01/2022

P
age 125



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/2942
22 Linthorpe Road, London, N16 
5RF Householder Planning

Erection of a rear dormer roof extension and roof extension 
above the rear outrigger. Danny Huber

Stamford Hill West 
Ward Refuse 20/01/2022

2021/3478
155 Nevill Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 0SU

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Lawful development certificate (proposed) for the construction of 
an outrigger roof extension. James Clark

Stoke Newington 
Ward Grant 10/01/2022

2021/3450
28 Dumont Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 0NS

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Lawful development certificate (proposed) for the enlargement of 
the existing rear roof extension. James Clark

Stoke Newington 
Ward Grant 06/01/2022

2021/3311
58 Lordship Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 0QT

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed Replace existing shed with a single storey outbuilding Micheal Garvey

Stoke Newington 
Ward Grant 05/01/2022

2021/3298
20 Harcombe Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 0SA Householder Planning

Construction of a ground floor, single storey, rear extension 
together with alterations to the mansard roof involving the 
increase in the highest point of the existing mansard and the 
chimneys, installation of rooflights to the main roof, the creation 
of a new dormer and alterations to existing dormers. The proposal 
will also create new windows in the rear elevation and the side 
elevation of the outrigger. James Clark

Stoke Newington 
Ward Grant 19/01/2022

2021/3295
5 Dynevor Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 0DL

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed

Certificate of Lawful Development (Proposed) for the construction 
of a rear roof extension and front rooflights. Erin Glancy

Stoke Newington 
Ward Grant 20/01/2022

2021/1711
16 Kynaston Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 0EX Householder Planning

Removal of the existing bay window and front entrance door and 
replacement with a new tradition bay window and front entrance 
door; excavation of a front lightwell, removal of the existing rear 
ground floor extension and construction of a new extension of the 
same footprint; installation of a juliet balcony and replacement of 
the rear window at first floor level; removal of side window to the 
rear outrigger at first floor level Lasma Putrina

Stoke Newington 
Ward Grant 05/01/2022

2021/3364
32 Darville Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 7PS Householder Planning Erection of a single-storey rear extension. Erin Glancy

Stoke Newington 
Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 11/01/2022

2021/3215
305 Amhurst Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 7UX

Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of single-storey rear extension at lower ground floor 
level; external alterations including provision of rear balcony at 
upper ground floor level; conversion of lower and upper ground 
floors from two flats to a single residential unit. Gerard Livett

Stoke Newington 
Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 12/01/2022

2021/3025
Flat B, Imperial House, 3 Beatty 
Road, Hackney, London, N16 8EA

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed Replacement of three front windows at ground and first floor Micheal Garvey

Stoke Newington 
Ward Refuse 10/01/2022

2021/3296
43 Groombridge Road, Hackney, 
London, E9 7DP Householder Planning

Replacement of existing ground floor glazed rear extension, 
removal of existing chamfered glazing to first-floor outrigger, 
replacement roof and brickwork on the outrigger, alterations to 
the fenestration, a new balustrade to the existing second-floor 
terrace and removal of drainage pipes. James Clark Victoria Ward Grant 04/01/2022

P
age 126



Application 
Reference Location Description Application Type Proposal Officer Name Ward Decision

Decision Issued 
Date

2021/2692
14 King Edward's Road, London, 
E9 7SF Householder Planning

Demolition of existing extension and construction of single storey 
lower ground floor rear extension Micheal Garvey Victoria Ward

Granted - Extra 
Conditions 13/01/2022

2021/2925 58 Well Street, London, E9 7PX
Full Planning 
Permission

Erection of a rear roof dormer extension, insertion of 2 x roof 
lights to front and 2 x to side of roof, elevational alterations Danny Huber Victoria Ward

Granted - 
Standard 
Conditions 20/01/2022

2021/1478
132 Bethune Road, Hackney, 
London, N16 5DS

Certificate of Lawful 
Development 
Existing/Proposed Existing use of the property as 4 self-contained flats Raymond Okot

Woodberry Down 
Ward Grant 20/01/2022

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 2021/2491 and 2021/2495: Haggerston Baths, Whiston Road E2 8BN
	Site plan - Haggerston Baths
	02_02_22 Addendum

	6 2021/3009: 1-10 Purcell Street, Hackney, London, N1 6RD
	1-10  Purcell Street Design and Access Statement Rev A
	ApplicationFormRedacted.pdf1633693556 1-10 Purcell Street
	Site plan - 1-10 Purcell Street
	Sheets and Views
	ADH432 1-10 PS Site Location Plan


	02_02_22 Addendum

	7 Delegated decisions

